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COMPANY PROFILE
NRIBES

Easou Technology Holdings Limited is an exempted company
incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on February
9, 2022, and was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
June 7, 2024.

The Group was founded in 2005 and operates four business lines
covering online reading platform services, digital marketing services,
online games publishing services and other digital content services.
We generated over 90.0% of our revenue from our advertising
services provided under the online reading platform services and

digital marketing services.

Our Al-based recommendation technology is the foundation that
empowers all of our businesses. We are committed to continuously
improving the Al-based recommendation technology. We have
successfully applied our Easou Recommendation Engine, which
consists of six layers, to four application scenarios, including online
reading, digital marketing, online games and other digital content,
and plan to explore business opportunities to apply our Easou

Recommendation Engine in additional scenarios.

We have built an online platform around our Easou Recommendation
Engine, our user base and diversified digital content. Our Easou
Recommendation Engine drives our platform through which our
users and customers can enjoy a wealth of digital content covering
online literature, advertising content, online games and music,
among others. Our platform connects cross-scenario digital
content, involves various participants, such as digital content
providers, media channels, users, advertising customers and
telecommunications operators, and enables them to interact with
each other. This allows us to achieve synergy across our various

business lines and helps us achieve diversified monetization.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
ASCYE

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Xi (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer]
Mr. Chen Jun (Chief Financial Officer)
Mr. Zhao Lei (Chief Operating Officer)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Luan Ling (resigned on December 2, 2024)

Mr. Zhuge Qingchen (resigned on December 2, 2024)

Mr. Gan Minggao (resigned on December 2, 2024)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Jianfeng
Mr. An Yingchuan
Ms. Meng Xue

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Chen Jun

Ms. Au Wing Sze (ACG, HKACG)
lappointed on August 30, 2024)

Ms. Fung Po Ting (ACG, HKACG)
[resigned on August 30, 2024]

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Chen Jun

Ms. Au Wing Sze [ACG, HKACG]
lappointed on August 30, 2024)

Ms. Fung Po Ting [ACG, HKACG]
[resigned on August 30, 2024]

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. An Yingchuan (Chairman)

Ms. Meng Xue (appointed on December 2, 2024)
Mr. Zhu Jianfeng

Mr. Gan Minggao (resigned on December 2, 2024)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

ATER
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FMEES
Mr. Zhu Jianfeng (Chairman) KRk (F/E)
Ms. Meng Xue HELZ T
Mr. Chen Jun (appointed on December 2, 2024) RREGSC A (R2024F 1252 HEZ(F)
Mr. Luan Ling [resigned on December 2, 2024] % SLHE (20244 12 H2 A BE(F)
NOMINATION COMMITTEE REZEEE
Mr. Wang Xi (Chairman) TEREE(F/E)
Mr. An Yingchuan 228 )1 A
Ms. Meng Xue hEX L
AUDITOR BB ED
Ernst & Young LK BT RN ST
Certified Public Accountants and HFEATEIR
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor AL R T o B RS AT
27/F, One Taikoo Place BB
979 King's Road Bt
Quarry Bay HEEEIT9H
Hong Kong RN — 2718
LEGAL ADVISOR AS TO HONG KONG LAWS EREBEENEEER
Morgan, Lewis & Bockius FEAREE 5 HT R B E H5 P
19th Floor, Edinburgh Tower BB
The Landmark ERAEBR155%
15 Queen’s Road Central BEMES
Hong Kong RNEAE19E
COMPLIANCE ADVISOR B
China Sunrise Capital Limited ERNEARGRAT
Unit 4513, 45/F The Center BB
99 Queen’s Road Central ERREPIHR
Hong Kong IR ABIEL513E
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
ASCYE

REGISTERED OFFICE

Suite 102, Cannon Place
P.0. Box 712

North Sound Rd

George Town Grand Cayman
KY1-9006

Cayman Islands

HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN THE PRC

Room 403, Building 5C
Software Industry Base
Keyuan Road

Nanshan District
Shenzhen, China

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Office No. 6, 13th Floor
Strand 50, No. 50 Bonham Strand
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Appleby Global Services (Cayman) Limited
71 Fort Street,

PO Box 500, George Town

Grand Cayman, KY1-1106

Cayman Islands

AfREE

Suite 102, Cannon Place
P.0. Box 712
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George Town Grand Cayman
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NRJER

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wan Chai

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

China Merchants Bank

First Floor, Block A, Building 1
Software Industry Base

No.85 Xuefu Road

Nanshan District

Shenzhen, China

STOCK CODE

2550

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

WWWw.easou.cn

LISTING DATE

June 7, 2024
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MR E

For the year end
December 31,

BE12A3MBLLFE
2024 2023
20245 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR¥T T
Revenue Wz 604,164 559,045
Gross profit ESVA] 255,805 259,728
(Loss)/profit before tax BREAT (B5HR), @ Fl (1,016) 26,085
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(ER),#F (2,049) 25,011
(Loss)/earnings per share attributable to NAFEBERTTA ARG
ordinary equity holders of the Company BRR(E1R),&F
(RMB cents) (AR®5) (0.65) 8.72
Adjusted profit for the year!" F AL TR 14,916 36,709

Note:

il Adjusted profit for the year excludes the IPO intermediaries fees.

Kt

0 FREEREETI T AR ERAFEEFNE
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EREWE

Dear Shareholders,

2024 is a year full of challenges and opportunities for the Company.
Against the backdrop of a complex and changing global economic
environment and accelerated technological innovation, we have
always insisted on taking Al-based recommendation technology as
the core, deeply cultivating business areas such as online reading,
digital marketing, and online games publishing, and have made
important breakthroughs in Al applications. On behalf of the board
of directors of the Company, | would like to express my sincere
gratitude to the shareholders, partners and all employees who have

supported Easou Technology for a long time!

Looking back at the past year, Easou has been marching forward in
the wave of artificial intelligence with the philosophy of innovation-
led and technology-driven. We understood that in this rapidly
changing digital era, only by constantly making progress can we
remain invincible. Therefore, we continued to invest in the R&D of
Al-based recommendation technology. By continuously optimizing
the algorithm, our Al recommendation engine can understand users’
needs more accurately and provide users with a more personalized

experience!

At the business level, we also achieved remarkable results. Digital
marketing services are one of our core businesses. With the
application of advanced Al technology, we have greatly improved the
advertising recommendation algorithm and successfully attracted
the favor of many advertisers. In 2024, revenue from our digital
marketing services achieved a year-on-year growth of 16.7%, which
was inseparable from the hard work and unremitting efforts of all
Easou employees. At the same time, we have also actively expanded
recommendation services in other digital content service areas. The
growth of these business segments has added new impetus to the

Company’s overall performance.

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED E#ERHEIZRR A R A A
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EREWE

However, we were also clearly aware that while we made
achievements, we were also facing many challenges. Online games
publishing services encountered some twists and turns in 2024,
and the testing and trial operation results of some new games did
not meet expectations, but this did not discourage us. Instead, it
inspired us to be more determined and motivated. We will continue
to increase our investment in the gaming field, actively seek high-
quality overseas games publishing opportunities, and strive to create

new growth points for the Company.

Looking ahead, we are full of confidence and expectation. In 2025,
we will continue to increase our scientific research efforts and
rely on big model technology to further improve the accuracy and
efficiency of our Easou Al Recommendation Engine. On this basis,
we will continue to optimize the technical architecture and service
processes of our digital marketing platform to improve the accuracy
and efficiency of marketing conversions. In terms of overseas market
expansion, we will use the recommendation of short drama content
as a breakthrough point, actively enter the global market, and strive
to build an excellent Al application company with international

competitiveness.

Finally, thank you all for your continued trust and support! We will
continue to embrace changes with an open mind, move towards
long-term growth at a steady pace, and create sustainable value for

shareholders.

Yours faithfully,

Easou Technology Holdings Limited
Mr. Wang Xi

Chairman, CEO and Executive Director

March 28, 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE W RO

BUSINESS REVIEW

Founded in 2005, the Company has been deeply involved in the R&D
of Al-based recommendation technology. We have successfully
applied our proprietary intelligent recommendation engine, Easou
Al Recommendation Engine, in various application scenarios,
including online literature recommendation, digital marketing and
online games publishing. Our Al-based recommendation technology
is the foundation that empowers all of our businesses. We are
committed to continuously improving the Al-based recommendation
technology and exploring business opportunities to apply our Easou

Recommendation Engine in additional scenarios.

In 2024, we continued to invest in the R&D of intelligent
recommendation technology and recorded R&D expenses of
RMB36.1 million, observing positive development. The Company
enhanced the analysis of content by Al technology and dug deep
into users’ historical behaviors so as to understand the change in
interests and preferences of users more accurately and further
improve the capacity of our recommendation engine. On the other
hand, the Company focused on increasing R&D investments in
AIGC (Al Generated Content) technologies and actively explored
the application scenarios of Al technology in fields such as literary
creation, advertising, speech generation and film and television

creation.

For digital marketing services, we collect, analyze and predict
users’ appetite for advertising contents and match the needs of our
advertising customers for advertisement placements with third-
party advertising channels. In 2024, the Company strengthened
the technological upgrade of the Win Ads advertising platform by
combining it with Al technology to further optimize the advertising
recommendation algorithm and improve marketing conversion
efficiency. At the same time, coupled with the gradual recovery of
advertisers’ demands, the Company enhanced its expansion efforts
in the digital marketing business segment and achieved revenue of
RMB337.0 million with a year-on-year increase of 16.7%. In 2024, the
number of clicks, displays and click-through rate was 449.9 million,
46,743.3 million and 1.0%, respectively.

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED E#ERHEIZRR A R A A
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE RO

For online reading platform services, in 2024, we continued to
optimize the engine recommendation technology, enhance users’
experiences and expand user scale. The number of cumulative
registered users of our Easou products was 46 million as of
December 31, 2024, and the average MAU [monthly active users) of
our Easou products reached 26 million. In 2024, the Company began
to explore the recommendation services of short drama content,
actively introducing high-quality short drama content from home
and abroad, and further expanding the application scenarios of
our recommendation engine. At the same time, we promoted the
development of our other business segments by heavily leveraging
the recommendations and algorithm tests of gaming and other
digital content scenarios through the user traffic of the online

reading platform.

For online games publishing services, revenue in 2024 amounted
to RMB6.1 million with a year-on-year decrease of 41.8%. In 2024,
the Company tested and trial-operated a number of games, but
the performance was not as good as expected, resulting in a lower
revenue. Currently, the Company focuses on overseas markets for
games publishing. We will continue to identify online games with
commercial value and market performance that meet the screening
criteria and, based on our analysis of users” behaviors and their
preferred game categories or content, publish and recommend such
games to suitable users on our proprietary platform and external

channels.

In 2024, revenue from other digital content services achieved
RMB19.2 million with a year-on-year increase of 79.0%. In 2024, the
Company explored the recommendation scenarios of music, videos
and e-commerce digital content products proactively and performed
a large number of testing and promotion on our proprietary platform,

which achieved a rapid increase in revenue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENwm LD

Outlook

Continue to increase R&D investments to maintain long-term

technological advantages

In 2025, we will continue to increase efforts in scientific research,
so as to further enhance the service recommendation capability
of our Easou Al Recommendation Engine. Specifically, we will
fully leverage the large model technology and adopt a time-aware
attention mechanism to process the sequence data of users’
behaviors, and will introduce the multimodal feature fusion strategy
to enable cross-modal semantic alignment of text and image data,
thereby introducing image information into algorithm calculations
and improving the accuracy of the recommendation algorithm. At
the same time, we will focus on increasing investments in AIGC
technologies and actively explore the application scenarios of AIGC
in fields such as advertising platforms, literary creation, speech
generation and film and television creation. Specifically, we will
develop a multimodal generation framework based on the diffusion
model to enhance the advertising creative generation system.
In terms of literary creation, we will further optimize long text
generation. In terms of speech generation, a diffusion model will
be introduced on the basis of speech recognition —> large language
model processing — speech synthesis, so as to optimize the delicate
emotional expression of speech generation in the process of film and

television dubbing.

Upgrade the technology of mobile advertising platforms to

foster continuous business growth

In 2025, we will continue to optimize the application of Al technology
in our digital marketing business, enhance the advertising creative
generation system, and improve the comprehensive capabilities of
advertising platforms. We will improve the accuracy and efficiency
of marketing in aspects such as data analysis and prediction,
advertising optimization, advertising content creation and intelligent
customer services. On the other hand, we will increase our efforts in
market expansion with the new development directions of leveraging
e-commerce customers and assisting domestic customers to go

overseas, thereby further expanding the revenue scale.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE RO

Expand overseas markets comprehensively to seek new profit

growth points

The overseas digital content recommendation market witnesses
huge market opportunities. In particular, the rapid maturity of
Al technology has also provided new development momentum
for the Company to expand overseas markets. As such, for our
principal business segments, on the basis of maintaining the stable
development of our existing domestic business, the Company will

make overseas markets the focus of the next breakthrough.

For online reading platform services, we will use short drama
content recommendation as a point of breakthrough to overseas.
We will focus on the recommendation of high-quality translated
dramas and original dramas with European and American users as
the key target market, and use Al technology extensively to optimize
content production costs and improve conversion efficiency, with the
goal of establishing a high-quality overseas short drama distribution

platform.

For online games publishing services, in 2025, we will continue to
proactively cooperate with multiple content providers, focusing on
identifying high-quality overseas games publishing opportunities.
For game categories, in addition to SLGs (Simulated Life Games)
and card games that have mature numerical models, we also focus
on the promotion and publishing of light games with IAA (In-App
Advertising) as a monetization method. Currently, we have two
games in the testing and trial operation stage, and no less than four

games are expected to be launched in overseas markets in 2025.

Continue to explore recommendation scenarios of other digital

contents

The Company will continue to explore recommendation scenarios
of other digital contents and attempt to achieve new business
growth points in multiple scenarios like digital music, videos and

e-commerce.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE W RO

Financial Review
Results of operation
Revenue

Our revenue increased by 8.1% from RMB559.0 million for the year
ended December 31, 2023 to RMB604.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024. The increase was mainly due to the increase in
revenue generated from digital marketing services and other digital

content services.

Specifically in regard to online reading platform services, revenue
generated from reading with advertising decreased by 1.5% from
RMB229.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB226.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to our
strategy to proactively reduce advertisement placements in 2024
and utilize our own traffic for the testing and recommendation of our
own games and digital content. Revenue generated from reading
with paid services decreased by 19.2% from RMB19.5 million for
the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB15.8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to our strategy to focus
on promoting free reading, which resulted in a decline in revenue
generated from reading with paid services. Therefore, the overall
revenue of online reading platform services decreased by 2.9% from
RMB248.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB241.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Revenue of digital marketing services increased by 16.7% from
RMB288.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB337.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to our
increased efforts to expand digital marketing services, to improve
the efficiency of advertising platforms and to attract new advertising

customers.

Revenue of online games publishing services decreased by 41.8%
from RMB10.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to
RMB6.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The decrease
was mainly because new online games launched overseas received
unsatisfactory results with lower conversion rates and we are

looking for new market opportunities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE RO

Revenue of other digital content services significantly increased by
79.0% from RMB10.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to
RMB19.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2024. The increase
was mainly because of our increased expansion of music and video

digital content services.
Cost of Sales

Our cost of sales increased by 16.4% from RMB299.3 million for
the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB348.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to the increase in cost of

sales of digital marketing services.

In terms of cost of sales by services, the cost of sales of online
reading platform services decreased by 6.9% from RMB24.2 million
for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB22.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2024, which was in line with the decrease in

revenue of online reading platform services.

The cost of sales of digital marketing services increased by 17.1%
from RMB266.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to
RMB311.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, which was

in line with the increase in revenue of this business line.

The cost of sales of online games publishing services increased by
28.5% from RMBA4.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to
RMBS5.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due
to the launch of new online games overseas, resulting in an increase

in amortization expenses for the copyrights of such new games.

The cost of sales of other digital content services increased by
83.9% from RMB4.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to
RMBS8.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2024, which was in

line with the increase in revenue of this business line.
Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Based on the foregoing, our gross profit decreased by 1.5% from
RMB259.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB255.8
million for the year ended December 31, 2024. Our gross profit
margin decreased from 46.5% for the year ended December 31, 2023
to 42.3% for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily because
the revenue contribution from digital marketing services increased,
the gross profit margin of which was significantly lower than that of

our other business lines.

HthEFTANA RS = m & =2023F 128318
LEFEMNARKI07TESEITARIENTIONEHZE
202412 A3 B IEFERMAREE19.28 & T © 180
DEZERBPIMANERRSELRRIEEHTA
BARIEFTER

$HE R

HEKARBEHZE2023F12A31HIEEEM AR
299 3B E T M6.4% EEZE2024F 12 A31 8 1E
FEMARKEIBLBEET  FZHRBFT2HER
T B S 65 PR AR I INFTER o

HRBRBE S HHERKAMS - BFHET ARG
RHERARBZE2023F12831HIEFEMAR
¥4 2E B TR A6 9% EEE2024F 12831 H IEF
EMARE22588T - BHETFRET 8 RISHIK
EKIBARTE o

H TR HE KA B E E2023F128318
IEFENARK 26638 ST INT1%EEZE 2024
F1I2ANBILEFEMARBINIBEE - Bt
TEARR U S IR IR AR ST o

MR B ITRBHE S A BREZE 20235124
JNHIEFEMARKIOEE LM% EEE
202412 A3TBILFEMARKESIBEETL £ 2
AT EIMNE LRGN - BB R
HOBE SERA AL INFTER ©

Hitn B F A RBHIHE K ARBEZE 2023512 A
JIALEFEMARKLSHEE LM INEEHE
202412 A31BILFEMARKESSHE ST Mt
B E R EIZIBARTT ©

ENRENZR

EP LTt - EFREE2023F12A31 8 1EF
EHARK259. 7B & TR A1 5% EEZE 2024512
A3BIEFEMNAREE258EETT - EFIEHEE
2023512 A31 A IEFEH46.5% & EEZE 2024
F12A31BIEFERL23%  EZEHRBFEHER
7% (BN R ARRBRERN Bt E RN EN )R T
BAIEINFTER ©

2024 ANNUAL REPORT F#g

15



16

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE W RO

The gross profit margin for online reading platform services
remained stable at 90.3% and 90.7% for the years ended December
31, 2023 and 2024, respectively.

The gross profit margin for digital marketing services remained
stable at 7.8% and 7.4% for the years ended December 31, 2023 and
2024, respectively.

The gross profit margin for online games publishing services
decreased from 62.3% for the year ended December 31, 2023 to
16.7% for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily because new
online games launched overseas received unsatisfactory results and

the cost of copyrights for the new games amortized as usual.

The gross profit margin for other digital content services remained
stable at 55.2% for the year ended December 31, 2023 and 54.0% for
the year ended December 31, 2024.

HZE2023FER2024FE12ANBILEE - HFEH
ETERENEFNERRERETE © 25158903% K&
90.7% ©

HE2023F N 2024F 12 A3 HIEFE @ BiF &6
IRFEHEFIRFRIFIET - DHIAT7.8%KT7.4% °

MBI BT IR R EF B8 £ 2023512 431
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EM16.7% + £ ERREIMNE I 3T R84S B8R
ME - T TR A AR R AN PR SE PR

HZE2023F12A31H IEFE KB E2024F12 A31
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The table below sets forth the revenue, the cost of sales, the gross  REREIINLFI/REEIREFREI D EUZE - $HERK
profit and gross profit margin by our business lines for the years 72N ~ EH|RFEF|ZE :
indicated:
For the year ended December 31,
BE1ANALEE
2024 2023
W2F 02F
Gross Gross
Cost of Gross profit Cost of Gross profit
Revenue sales profit margin  Revenue sales profit margin
hE  HERA 7 EH= g HENE E=| il
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARMTT ARETT AREBTR ARBTT ARMTT ARETR
Online reading platform services ~ HZHEFLARE 241,821 22,521 219,300 90.7% 248,929 24,190 224,739 90.3%
Digital marketing services T EHRE 336,991 311,889 25,102 7.6% 288,836 266,342 22,494 7.8%
Online games publishing services &R TR 6,147 5,118 1,029 16.7% 10,553 3,983 6,570 62.3%
Other digital content services HttBFRARE 19,205 8,831 10,374 54.0% 10,727 4,802 5925 55.2%
Total by 604,164 348,359 255,805 42.3% 559,045 299,317 259,728 46.5%
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE RO

Other Income and Gains

Our other income and gains increased by 30.9% from RMB3.2 million
for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB4.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2024, mainly attributable to the increase in

government subsidies and interest income.
Selling and Distribution Expenses

Our selling and distribution expenses increased by 20.4% from
RMB153.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB185.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to the
increase in promotion of overseas short dramas. Our selling and
distribution expenses accounted for approximately 27.5% and 30.6%
of our total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024,

respectively.
Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses increased by 69.5% from RMB25.6
million for the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB43.3 million
for the year ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to an increase
in listing expenses. Our administrative expenses accounted for
approximately 4.6% and 7.2% of our total revenue for the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2024, respectively.

Research and Development Expenses

Our R&D expenses decreased by 4.0% from RMB37.6 million for
the year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB36.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2024, primarily due to the optimization of R&D
expenditures and the improvement of efficiency. Our R&D expenses
accounted for approximately 6.7% and 6.0% of our total revenue for

the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024, respectively.

Fair Value Gains/(Losses) on Financial Assets at FVTPL

We recorded a fair value gain on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss ("FVTPL") of RMB9.4 million for the year
ended December 31, 2024, compared to a fair value loss of RMB10.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2023, primarily due to the

fluctuations in market values of the invested financial assets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE W RO

Finance Costs

Our finance costs decreased by 39.0% from RMB8.4 million for the
year ended December 31, 2023 to RMB5.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024, primarily attributable to the decrease in interest

rates of bank borrowings.
(Loss)/Profit Before Tax

As a result of the foregoing, we recorded a loss before tax of RMB1.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to a profit
before tax of RMB26.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Income Tax Expense

We recorded income tax expense of RMB1.1 million and RMB1.0
million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2024,

respectively.
(Loss)/Profit for the Year

Based on the foregoing, we recorded a loss of RMB2.0 million for
the year ended December 31, 2024, compared to a profit of RMB25.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2023. Our net margin was
4.5% (profit) and 0.3% (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2023
and 2024, respectively.

Financial position
Overview

Our total assets increased by 34.7% from RMB505.4 million as of
December 31, 2023 to RMB680.8 million as of December 31, 2024,
primarily due to the increase in cash and cash equivalents, trade
receivables and prepayments, while our total liabilities increased by
86.4% from RMB126.1 million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB235.1
million as of December 31, 2024, primarily due to an increase in bank
borrowings. Our total equity increased by 17.5% from RMB379.3
million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB445.7 million as of December
31, 2024, primarily due to the receipt of proceeds raised from the

Company’s initial public offering.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE RO

Net current assets

Our net current assets increased by 23.5% from RMB278.2 million as
of December 31, 2023 to RMB343.5 million as of December 31, 2024,
primarily because the increase in our current assets outpaced the
increase in our current liabilities. Our current assets increased by
43.7% from RMB399.9 million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB574.7
million as of December 31, 2024. Our current liabilities increased by
89.9% from RMB121.7 million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB231.2
million as of December 31, 2024.

Certain items of current assets and current liabilities
Trade Receivables

Our trade receivables increased by 39.0% from RMB161.5 million as
of December 31, 2023 to RMB224.6 million as of December 31, 2024,
mainly due to an increase in revenue of digital marketing services

and the extension of credit periods granted to customers.
Financial Assets at FVTPL

Our financial assets at FVTPL decreased by 1.3% from RMB73.3
million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB72.3 million as of December
31, 2024, mainly due to changes in the fair values of financial assets

and receipt of proceeds upon disposal of financial assets.
Trade Payables

Our trade payables decreased by 29.5% from RMB11.8 million as
of December 31, 2023 to RMB8.3 million as of December 31, 2024,
primarily because some suppliers changed to use prepayment
settlement method.

Other Payables and Accruals

Our other payables and accruals (current portion) increased by 19.4%
from RMB11.1 million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB13.2 million
as of December 31, 2024, primarily due to the accrual of the auditor’s
audit fees for 2024.

Contract Liabilities

Our contract liabilities (current portion) increased by 16.2% from
RMB13.8 million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB16.0 million as of
December 31, 2024, mainly due to the slight increase in unconsumed
service fees collected in advance for online reading platform

services.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE W RO

Lease Liabilities

Our lease liabilities (current portion) increased by 228.7% from
RMB101,000 as of December 31, 2023 to RMB332,000 as of
December 31, 2024, primarily due to the renewal of long-term lease

contracts for office premises.

Certain items of non-current assets and non-current
liabilities

Property, Plant and Equipment

Our property, plant and equipment decreased by 1.3% from RMB19.1
million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB18.8 million as of December
31, 2024, mainly due to the depreciation of original fixed assets, offset

by the additions during the year.
Goodwill

Our goodwill remained stable at RMB32.3 million as of December 31,
2023 and December 31, 2024, respectively.

Other Intangible Assets

Our other intangible assets primarily include copyright and software.
Our other intangible assets decreased by 29.4% from RMB50.8
million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB35.9 million as of December

31, 2024, primarily due to the amortization of copyrights as usual.
Contract Liabilities

Our contract liabilities (non-current portion) primarily consist
of advertising fee collected in advance under the CPT (cost per
time] pricing method. Our contract liabilities (non-current portion)
decreased by 12.4% from RMB3.9 million as of December 31, 2023 to
RMB3.4 million as of December 31, 2024, primarily because some of

the non-current portion became current portion.
Lease Liabilities

Our lease liabilities (non-current portion) increased by 90.8%
from RMB142,000 as of December 31, 2023 to RMB271,000 as of
December 31, 2024, mainly attributable to the renewal of long-term

lease contracts.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE RO

Liquidity and financial resources

Our Group funds our working capital mainly from cash from
operating activities, borrowings and proceeds raised from the Global
Offering. As of December 31, 2024, our cash and cash equivalents
amounted to RMB160.8 million, representing an increase of 80.6%
from RMB89.1 million as of December 31, 2023, primarily because of
the proceeds raised from the Global Offering and an increase in bank
borrowings. Our bank balances and financial assets at FVTPL are
primarily denominated in RMB, United States dollars and Hong Kong

dollars.

As of December 31, 2024, our interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings amounted to RMB193.1 million, representing an increase
of 127.4% from RMB84.9 million as of December 31, 2023, primarily
due to the working capital needs for business expansion. Our
borrowings are denominated in RMB. Our interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings are all at fixed interest rates. Our Group’'s

borrowings as of December 31, 2024 were repayable within one year.

Our gearing ratio, which is calculated as total debt divided by total
equity, was 43.3% as of December 31, 2024 (as of December 31, 2023:
22.4%).

For the year ended December 31, 2024, our Group did not use any

financial instruments for hedging purposes.
Capital expenditures

Our capital expenditures were primarily expenditures for property,
plant and equipment, as well as intangible assets. Our capital
expenditures amounted to RMB13.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2024, representing a decrease of 71.6% from RMB48.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2023. We expect to fund our
planned capital expenditures primarily with the cash generated from

operations and the net proceeds from the Global Offering.
Contingent liabilities

As of December 31, 2024, we did not have any unrecorded significant

contingent liabilities (as of December 31, 2023: none).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE W RO

Mortgage and pledge of assets

As of December 31, 2024, our subsidiary in the PRC, Shenzhen
Easou Technology Co., Ltd. URYIEE X TERIERMHER R A
pledged a bank deposit of RMB8.5 million for a bank borrowing of
RMB8.0 million for Easou Technology (HK) Limited, our Hong Kong

subsidiary, which was used as its general working capital.
Share option scheme

Pursuant to a written resolution of all the then shareholders of
the Company passed on May 17, 2024, the Company adopted the
Share Option Scheme for a period of 10 years commencing from
the Listing Date. The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is (i) to
attract and retain the best quality personnel for the development
of our Group’'s businesses; (ii) to provide additional incentives or
rewards to selected eligible participants for their contribution to
the creation of our Company’s value; and (iii] to promote the long-
term financial success of our Group by aligning the interest of any
eligible participant who accepts an offer of the grant of an option in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme to those of

our shareholders.

Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up to December
31, 2024, no share options had been granted by the Company under
the Share Option Scheme.

Please refer to the Company’'s announcement on April 3, 2025 that
the Company granted options under the Share Option Scheme on
April 3, 2025. The Company granted options under the Share Option
Scheme to three executive Directors and 126 employees on April 3,
2025. Subject to the relevant performance targets, 50% of the options
granted shall vest and become exercisable from April 3, 2026 and
ending on April 2, 2035 (both days inclusive) and the remaining 50%
of the options granted shall vest and become exercisable from April
3, 2027 and ending on April 2, 2035 (both days inclusive). Each option
shall entitle the holder to subscribe for one Share upon exercise
of such option at an exercise price of HK$3.924 per Share. Further

Details of the options granted are as follows.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B E s am Mo

Number of the
Name Position options granted
o] B ERENBRERE
Mr. Wang Executive Director, chairman of the Board 324,800
and chief executive officer
EhE WITES EFSLFEREFWTE 324,800
Mr. Chen Jun Executive Director, chief financial officer and joint 280,000
company secretary
BR#ELE WITES  BERVBERBELRWE 280,000
Mr. Zhao Lei Executive Director and chief operating officer 280,000
ickpinad HITEEREFELR 280,000
126 grantees Employees 3,145,600
12635 A EE 3,145,600

As at the publication date of this annual report (i.e. April 30, 2025),
following the grant of the options on April 3, 2025 as set out above,
there are 28,863,324 Shares available for future grant under the

scheme mandate of the Share Option Scheme.
Foreign exchange risk management

The businesses of the Group are mainly managed and operated in
the PRC, where most of its income and expenses are denominated in
RMB.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group has foreign
investments denominated in United States dollars but no borrowing

in foreign currencies.

The Group will continue to monitor exchange rates so as to cope
with changes in the foreign exchange market and enhance the risk

management on exchange rates by various management measures.
Material acquisitions and disposals

The Group had no material acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates and/or joint ventures for the year ended December 31,
2024.

AARER T B EI(EN2025€4 308 ) + Fat i
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEE W RO

Future Plans for Significant Investment and Capital Assets

Save as disclosed in this annual report and the Prospectus, the
Group did not have any future plans for material investment and

capital assets as of the date of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There has been no event subsequent to the Reporting Period and up
to the date of this annual report which may have a material impact on

the Group.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
SEEMEREEE

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Xi 3E3&), aged 49, is an executive Director, the chairman
of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company. Mr.
Wang joined the Group in June 2007. He was appointed as a Director
on February 9, 2022 and re-designated as an executive Director on
December 2, 2022.

He is responsible for the provision of guidance for the overall
development of the Group. Mr. Wang has approximately 25 years
of experience in management. From March 2000 to May 2007,
Mr. Wang worked as a vice president of the president’s office at
Shenzhen Xuntian Communication Technology Co.* ( & I 1 &l &<
BEHMAR AT ). He then joined the Group in June 2007 as the
chief executive officer and was primarily responsible for the daily
operation and management of Easou Shenzhen. In January 2009 and
December 2015, Mr. Wang was appointed as the general manager
and chairman of the board of Easou Shenzhen, respectively. He has
also been the executive director of Easou Beijing since January 2016
and the director of Yiyikang Technology (Beijing) Co. Ltd.* ( 2 %
EEHR AL R)BRAE), a company which was primarily engaged
in development and sales of self-developed products, mainly
including an app aimed at connecting patients and doctors for online
consultations prior to its cessation of operations, since August 2016.
As confirmed by Mr. Wang, Yiyikang Technology (Beijing) Co. Ltd.*
did not have any business operations. Given the above and that Mr.
Wang's primary focus is on the development of the Group, where he
devotes most of his time and effort, the Directors are of the view that
Mr. Wang will be able to devote sufficient time to discharge his duties

as an executive Director of the Company.

Mr. Wang graduated from Southwestern University of Finance and
Economics in the PRC with a bachelor’s degree in accounting in July
1998.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
SEMEREEE

Mr. Chen Jun (FR#), aged 45, is an executive Director, chief financial

officer and joint company secretary of the Company.

Mr. Chen joined the Group in September 2009. He was appointed
as an executive Director on December 2, 2022 and is primarily
responsible for the overall strategic decision, daily management and

operation of the finance department of the Group.

Mr. Chen has approximately 18 years of working experience in
the accounting and finance industry. He worked in Ernst & Young
Hua Ming LLP Shenzhen Branch as an auditor and then a senior
auditor from September 2006 to September 2009, where he was
primarily responsible for auditing. In September 2009, Mr. Chen
joined the Group as the director of finance and was promoted as the
vice general manager and appointed as a director in July 2013 and
December 2015, respectively. Since August 2013, he has also been
the supervisor of Shenzhen Chuangtu, and the director and general

manager of Shenzhen Taite since November 2015.

Mr. Chen graduated from Beijing Technology and Business
University in the PRC with a bachelor's degree in financial
management in July 2002. He also obtained a master’'s degree in
international financial analysis from the University of Newcastle
Upon Tyne in the United Kingdom in December 2004. Since July
2009, Mr. Chen has been a member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants ("ACCA"], and has been a fellow member of
ACCA since July 2014.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
SEEMEREEE

Mr. Zhao Lei (#%), aged 48, is an executive Director and the
chief operating officer of the Company. Mr. Zhao joined the Group
in September 2006. He was appointed as an executive Director
on December 2, 2022 and is responsible for the overall strategic
decision, business planning, and the daily management and

operation of the Group.

Mr. Zhao has approximately 23 years of working experience
in management. From March 2002 to September 2006, Mr.
Zhao worked as a commercial director of Shenzhen Xuntian
Communication Technology Co.* CRYITIRKBERMBERAR) .
From September 2006 to November 2008, Mr. Zhao worked as a
vice president of Easou Shenzhen. He then worked as a senior vice
president of Easou Shenzhen from November 2008 to February 2013.
From February 2013 to August 2016, Mr. Zhao worked as a chief
operating officer of Easou Shenzhen. He also worked as a director of
Easou Shenzhen from December 2015 to August 2016. Since August
2016, Mr. Zhao has been a director and chief operating officer of
Easou Shenzhen. Mr. Zhao has also been the vice general manager
of Easou Shenzhen since February 2019. In February 2007, Mr. Zhao
joined Shenzhen Dahuatong as a chairman of the board of directors,
and since November 2011, he has been a director and general
manager of the company and has been primarily responsible for the
company’s operation. He has also been the supervisor of Shanghai

Yinggao since March 2014.

Mr. Zhao graduated from the South Central Minzu University in the
PRC with a bachelor’s degree in accounting in July 1997.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
SEMEREEE

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Jianfeng (R ®li#), aged 53, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on May 17, 2024. Mr. Zhu is

responsible for the provision of independent advice to the Board.

Mr. Zhu has approximately 19 years of experience in management.
From June 2004 to July 2005, Mr. Zhu worked as a quality manager of
Jabil Circuit (Shenzhen) Limited. He then worked as a representative
office manager of Case Logic Asia Pacific Ltd. from July 2005
to December 2007, where he was primarily responsible for the
operations of the company. From July 2010 to January 2012, Mr.
Zhu worked as a vice president of the project of Wukuang Dornier
Caravans Limited (RAIEEBEZERMEEBRAF]) . He then worked
as a manager in the investment banking department of McKnight
Financial Holdings Group Limited* (E5RFoRIZREERRA
7)) from March 2012 to September 2014. From September 2014 to
August 2015, he worked as a deputy general manager at Zhongzheng
Xinye Investment Holdings Limited* (FRE{EHRIREZEREBRAF) |
a wholly owned subsidiary of Credit Prosperity Fund Management
Co. Ltd. (EEREREETEARAR)

responsible for the operation of the company. From September

, where he was primarily

2015 to January 2017, Mr. Zhu worked as a general manager of
Shenzhen Qianhai Nanshan Financial Development Co. Ltd.* (&3
ATER IS @ERAGRAT]) . He also worked as a general manager
of CITIC Securities Nanshan M&A Investment Fund Management
Co., Ltd* CRYITAIETZFEILHBIREZSEEFERAF) from
September 2015 to October 2018, where he was responsible for
the overall management of the company. Mr. Zhu then worked as a
research associate of the Quantitative Investment Research Centre
of Tsinghua University Shenzhen International Graduate School from
January 2019 to December 2021. From January 2019 to January 2022,
Mr. Zhu worked as a distinguished professor of Wuhan University
Shenzhen Research Institute. From July 2021 to October 2022, Mr.
Zhu worked as a managing director and a license representative in
respect of type 1, type 4 and type 9 regulated activities of Maxcess
Capital Limited. Since November 2022, Mr. Zhu has been working as
an associate director of business development of Huajin Financial

(International) Holdings Limited.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
SEEMEREEE

Mr. Zhu graduated from Tianjin University of Science and Technology
in the PRC with a bachelor’s degree in chemical equipment and
machinery from the department of mechanical engineering in July
1993. He then obtained a master’s degree in business management
from Tsinghua University in the PRC in January 2008. In June
2013, Mr. Zhu obtained his PhD in business management from
Wuhan University. He also obtained a degree of Master of Business
Administration from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in Hong
Kong in November 2016. Mr. Zhu is currently a part-time mentor
in master of finance at Tsinghua University and a part-time tutor in

business management and master of finance at Wuhan University.

Mr. An Yingchuan (&£58)I|), aged 47, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company. He joined the
Group as an independent non-executive director of Easou Shenzhen
in May 2019 and was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on May 17, 2024. Mr. An is responsible for

the provision of independent advice to the Board.

Mr. An has approximately 22 years of experience in the accounting
and finance sector. From October 2002 to February 2015, he worked
at Ernst & Young Hua Ming LLP Shenzhen Branch, with his last
position as a senior manager primarily responsible for auditing.
From February 2015 to July 2024, Mr. An worked as the financial
director, investment and financing director and vice president of
Shenzhen Tomtop Technology Co., Ltd.* CHRIITBHARIFEERA
7)) , a company which primarily engages in domestic cross-border
e-commerce export retail. Since August 2024, Mr. An has been
serving as the general manager of FIRSTYUNHUI LIMITED* (EZ£[#&
BRAT).

Mr. An graduated from Central University of Finance and Economics
in the PRC with a bachelor’s degree in accounting in June 2001. Mr.
An has been a registered accountant in the PRC since October 2008
and has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants since July 2012.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
SEMEREEE

Ms. Meng Xue (ZZ), aged 39, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on May 17, 2024. Ms. Meng is responsible for

the provision of independent advice to the Board.

Ms. Meng is currently working as a partner of Tianchi Juntai Law
Firm. Ms. Meng primarily focuses on compliance, risk control and

risk management in the financial sector.

Ms. Meng graduated from Beijing Forestry University in the PRC with
a bachelor’s degree in Japanese in July 2008. She has also obtained
a master’'s degree in foreign linguistics and applied linguistics
from Beijing Forestry University in June 2011. Ms. Meng has been a

registered lawyer in the PRC since 2016.
Senior Management

Mr. Wang Xi CE3&), aged 49, is an executive Director, the chairman of
the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company. For details
of his biography, please refer to the above “Executive Directors” of

this section.

Mr. Chen Jun (FR#5), aged 45, is an executive Director, chief financial
officer and joint company secretary of the Company. For details of
his biography, please refer to the above “Executive Directors” of this

section.

Mr. Zhao Lei (7). aged 48, is an executive Director and the chief
operating officer of the Company. For details of his biography, please

refer to the above “"Executive Directors” of this section.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS
FHLWE

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability on February 9, 2022. The Shares were listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange on June 7, 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group is online literature
recommendation services, digital marketing services, online games
publishing services and other digital content services in the PRC.
There has been no significant change in the Group's principal

activities during the Reporting Period.

Please refer to note 1 to the consolidated financial statements for
details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of the

Company.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income on page 181 of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended December 31, 2024 (2023: Nil). During the Reporting
Period, none of the Shareholders has waived or agreed to waive any
dividends.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS
FHQWE

AGM AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The forthcoming AGM will be held on Friday, May 30, 2025. For the
purpose of determining the entitlement of the Shareholders to attend
and vote at the AGM, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Tuesday, May 27, 2025 to Friday, May 30, 2025, both days
inclusive, during which period no share transfers will be registered.
To be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, the Shareholders must
deliver all properly completed transfer forms accompanied by the
relevant share certificates to the Company’s branch share registrar
in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited,
at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration of relevant transfers no
later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, May 26, 2025.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group during the Reporting Period
as required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance, including
an analysis of the Group's financial key performance indicators and
an indication of likely future developments in the Group's business
are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.
The Group’s key relationships with its stakeholders who have a
significant impact on the Group and on which the Group's success
depends, is set out in the section headed “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” of this annual report. Events affecting the
Company that have occurred since the end of the financial year is set
out in the section headed “Subsequent Events After the Reporting
Period” of "Management Discussion and Analysis” in this annual

report.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS
FHLWE

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A number of factors may affect the results and business operation of
the Group. The principal risks and uncertainties that the Group faces

are summarized as follows:

o If our continued investment in technology research and
development fails to effectively translate into direct
performance growth in the short term, the Company may face
pressure on performance growth, and our business, results of
operations, financial condition and prospects may be adversely

affected.

o During the Track Record Period, our online reading platform
services accounted for a significant portion of our revenue. If
we fail to retain our users, or if our user engagement levels
cease to grow or decline, this could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations

and prospects.

o If we fail to promote new games with high market acceptance
or fail to operate our existing games efficiently and effectively,
we may not be able to maintain or increase revenues generated
from online games publishing, and our business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects may be

materially and adversely affected.

o We intend to further expand our business into international
markets. The expansion of our business may expose us to
dynamic and complex challenges in conducting business in an
environment involving multiple languages, cultures, customs,
legal systems, alternative dispute resolution systems and
business infrastructure. If we are unable to properly manage
our overseas expansion, our business, results of operations,
financial condition and prospects could be materially and

adversely affected.

However, the above is not an exhaustive list. Investors are advised to
make their own judgment or consult their own investment advisors

before making any investment in the Shares.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

We recognized the importance of corporate social responsibilities,
environmental awareness, long-term sustainable development and
ethical conduct to the society and our sustainable development.
We believe our continued growth depends on our integration of the
values of environmental, social and governance ("ESG") into our
corporate strategies and operations. We have adopted reporting and
management policies covering ESG. For more details, please refer to
the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report”

in this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in all material aspects with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group. During the Reporting Period, there was no material breach
of, or non-compliance with, applicable laws and regulations by the

Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group's results, assets and liabilities for the last
five financial years are set out on page 294 of this annual report. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial

statements.
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USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company was listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
on June 7, 2024 and issued 14,802,500 ordinary Shares at an offer
price of HK$5.80 per Share and the net proceeds from the Global

Offering, after deduction of the underwriting fees and commissions

and estimated expenses in connection with the Global Offering,

amounted to approximately HK$40.70 million. The proceeds from

the Global Offering were and will be utilized in accordance with the

plan as disclosed in the section headed “Future Plans and Use of

Proceeds” of the Prospectus and a summary of the use of the net

proceeds is set out below:

ERBRENMEIEAR

RAFR2024F 6 B7TREBRFTER ET - Wik
FAR5.80/8 T A B B B 3517 14,802,500% AR -
AR B E A RS a2 EREEE AN G
X% 2HRBENMERBEFENLN0EES
T REREEMNMBHEEL KB ERERRER
[ RRETEIRFAEBRIBRARE | —EHFMEBROT S
- MATBFIEFEMNARBEEHTIINT

Utilized Unutilized Expected
Percentage to Available as of asof timetable for
the total amount for December 31, December 31, the unutilized
Purpose net proceeds utilization 2024 2024 balance
1B R20245 20245
FEAE 124318 12318 RBRAGHYH
=L WEAL UBALE CBALE ADALE BIREX
HK$ in million  HKS in million ~ HK$ in million
BEET BEET BEET
Enhancing our R&D capabilities toensure 2SR MNTRLES -

long-term technological advantage: BREDEIES :

- Investing in a series of R&D projects —REN—ZJHEHEE & 15.0% 6.1 0 6.1 Fourth quarter of
with a focus on improving our ARRARMEERRES| 2027
technological capability in Fasou EhmmR e WTFERZE
Recommendation Engine

- Enhancing the versatility of our —ERAMaanE kRS 15.0% 6.1 0 6.1 Fourth quarter of
technology in proprietary intelligent ERfinRmL 2027
recommendation engine 207EENE

- Increasing our investment in equipment ~EMRERE  WREHN 15.0% 6.1 6.1 0 -
to improve our hardware support M
capabilities

Subtotal gt 45.0% 18.3 6.1 12.2
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EEEHs
Utilized Unutilized Expected
Percentage to Available as of asof timetable for
the total amount for December 31, December 31, the unutilized
Purpose net proceeds utilization 2024 2024 balance
TR R20245 R20245
FEAR 12A318 12A3A RBRALHN
=L HEAL TBALE CHALE ADACHE BHRER
HKS in million  HK$ in million ~ HK$ in million
BEBT BEET BEBT
Reinforcing the strength as athird-party ~ EERMEASE= FRFIET
online literature platform: AWEN:
- Expanding our user base by increasing —ENEFHET 2 REHA 10.0% 4 41 0 -
the number of users in our online PAZ - EMBARPAR
reading platform services
- Expanding our collaboration with —BRENAREENAE 10.0% 4 0 4.1 Third quarter of
content providers 2026
NUEF=F
- Continuously optimizing the application —RERIBMNETHET 5.0% 20 0 2.0 Third quarter of
depth of our Easou Recommendation AREHEREE EhE 2026
Engine in online reading platform BRE WUEE=F
services
Subtotal gt 25.0% 102 41 6.1
Expanding our digital marketing services: AR PNETEHRE :
- Establishing cooperative relationshipwith ~ —EATIREERER Y A{ER(E 10.0% 4 41 0 -
new media channels and strengthening Rt EEEERNAER
the depth of cooperation with media EUNUEEE
resources and attract
more traffic
- Deepening our collaboration with ~MREEERFRAE & 5.0% 20 0 2.0 Third quarter of
advertising customers, expanding AEFREEBRNHERE 2026
our sales and marketing team in digital HER - BEHNESER NUEE=F
marketing business, exploring new RERRARERP
advertising customers and retaining
existing ones
Subtotal gt 15.0% 6.1 41 2.0
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Utilized Unutilized Expected

Percentage to Available as of asof timetable for
the total amount for December 31, December 31, the unutilized
Purpose net proceeds utilization 2024 2024 balance
BHRERE 2024 R2024%
FReR 12A31A 128318 ABALHY
=L WEAL  ABALE CEBASE ADASE RIRBER
HKS in million ~ HK$ in million ~ HK$ in million
BEET BEET BEET
Relaunching our online games publishing ~ FAE MR EHBLER 15.0% 8.1 11 5.0 Third quarter of
services in overseas markets BITR% 2026
NUFE=F
Total @t 100.0% 407 15.4 253
Note: Figures shown as total in the table is not an arithmetic aggregation — [IiF - KIEF B — B F AL BE LB FHE

of the figures preceding them. Any discrepancies between the total

shown and the sum of the amounts listed are due to rounding.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
Major Customers

The Company maintains good relationships with its customers and
has established a customer complaint handling mechanism to
receive, analyze and study complaints and to recommend remedial
measures with a view to enhancing the quality of its products and

services.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group's sales to its five
largest customers accounted for 21.3% (2023: 23.2%) of the Group's
total revenue and the Group’s sales to its single largest customer
accounted for 4.8% (2023: 4.9%) of the Group's total revenue.

Major Suppliers

The Company maintains good relationships with its suppliers and
conducts fair and rigorous evaluations of its suppliers on an annual

basis.

HABT - fhif8at B F T35 Y F 2 M A
BIEER - EEGEIE -
IEFEFRHEER
TERF
ARREEEFPERRIFBE  TRIBFRHFE

IBHH - ARRE - ST R FUIR SR L B AT
& MRTERMRBEE -

HE0UFNANBLEFE  AEERAEAR
FEE R SE & 15 A & B 42Uk 25 21.3% (2023 4 -
23.2%) i AEBRGARTPIELREEGAEE
#AUTZ54.8% (202345 : 4.9%) °

FERHED

ARBEEHERAR RIFEAE - BEFHEHE
BT AP BARRORTS -
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For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group's purchases from
its five largest suppliers accounted for 33.9% (2023: 34.9%) of the
Group’s total purchases and the Group’s purchases from its single
largest supplier accounted for 8.9% (2023: 8.2%) of the Group's total

purchases.

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or any of their
respective close associates or any Shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the number of
issued Shares) had any interest in the Group's five largest customers

and suppliers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and the Group during the year ended December 31, 2024

are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended December 31, 2024 and details of the Shares issued
during the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out in note 27 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group made no charitable and other
donations (2023: Nil).

DEBENTURE AND CONVERTIBLE BONDS ISSUED

The Company did not issue any debenture or convertible bonds

during the year ended December 31, 2024.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out on page 293 and
page 185 respectively.

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED HiERHZIZERER A

HZE2024F12A3BILFE - AEERAAHE
P ETHER BB AN & B A B8 33.9% (2023 4F -
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has no reserves available for
distribution (as of December 31, 2023: Nil).

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Company
and the Group as of December 31, 2024 are set out in note 25 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this

annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Xi (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chen Jun [Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. Zhao Lei (Chief Operating Officer)
Non-executive Directors

Mr. Luan Ling (resigned on December 2, 2024]"
Mr. Zhuge Qingchen (resigned on December 2, 2024)?
Mr. Gan Minggao (resigned on December 2, 2024]%
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Jianfeng

Mr. An Yingchuan

Ms. Meng Xue

A 7 B

BE2024F12A318 » AR R WA 5 K
(HZE2023F12A31H : &) ©

RITERRHMER

ARFRARBRITERREAMAE KB E2024F
12331 B REHE SRR & B Bk My £ 25 o

=
RBEHMREEAFRAYL - EEMT

HITES
EREE(EEFREEHTE)
RBOxE(EREHIBER)
HREEE(EFEELE)

FHITES

BO% S (R20245F 12 A2 A BHE)
EBERKE(R2024F 12520 BHT)?
HISRIEAE(R20244F 1272 A BFHE)O
BYFHITES

E Nl

258 || 5

REX T
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Notes:

(1] Mr. Luan Ling resigned as a non-executive Director with effect
from December 2, 2024 in order to devote more time to his family
and his personal business commitments.

(2] Mr. Zhuge Qingchen resigned as a non-executive Director with
effect from December 2, 2024 due to his health condition.

(3] Mr. Gan Minggao resigned as a non-executive Director with effect
from December 2, 2024 due to his desire to devote more attention
and dedication to his family.

Pursuant to Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, at each AGM
one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is
not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not
less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation, provided that
every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. Accordingly,
Mr. Zhao Lei and Mr. Zhu Jianfeng will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming AGM, and they being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election at the AGM.

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the
Company are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior

Management” of this annual report.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors and the Company considers
such Directors to be independent throughout the Reporting Period

and remain so as of the date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LETTERS OF
APPOINTMENT

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company on May 17, 2024. Each service contract is for an
initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date. The
service contracts may be renewed in accordance with the Articles
of Association and the applicable laws, rules and regulations. Either
party may terminate the agreement by giving not less than three

months” written notice.

Each of Mr. Luan Ling, Mr. Zhuge Qingchen and Mr. Gan Minggao,
who resigned as the non-executive Director on December 2, 2024,
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company on May 17,
2024. Each letter of appointment is for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date. The letters of appointment may
be renewed in accordance with the Articles of Association and the
applicable laws, rules and regulations. Either party may terminate

the agreement by giving not less than three months” written notice.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company. Each letter of appointment
is for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date. The letters of appointment may be renewed in accordance
with the Articles of Association and the applicable laws, rules and
regulations. Either party may terminate the agreement by giving not

less than three months” written notice.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has or is proposed to have a service contract or a letter
of appointment with any member of the Group which is not
determinable by the employer within one year without payment of

compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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DEEDS OF NON-COMPETITION BY THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Our Controlling Shareholders (collectively, the “Covenantors”
and each, a "Covenantor”] have entered into the Deed of Non-
competition on May 27, 2024 in favour of our Company pursuant to
which each of the Covenantor has, among other things, irrevocably
and unconditionally undertaken to our Company on a joint and
several basis that they will not, and will procure their respective
close associates (other than members of our Group) not to (i)
directly or indirectly be involved in any business (other than our
business) that directly or indirectly competes, or may compete, with
the business currently engaged by our Group as disclosed in the
Prospectus (collectively referred to as the “Restricted Businesses”);
or (i) hold shares or interest in any companies or businesses that
compete directly or indirectly with the Restricted Businesses, or
conduct any Restricted Businesses, except where our Controlling
Shareholders and their respective close associates hold less than
10% of the total share capital of any company which is engaged in
any business that is or may be in competition with the Restricted
Businesses, and they do not control the composition of the board of

directors of such company.

Furthermore, our Controlling Shareholders have undertaken on a
joint and several basis that if any new business investment/other
business opportunity relating to the Restricted Businesses (the
“Competing Business Opportunity”) is identified by/made available
to him/it or any of his/its close associates, he/it shall, and shall
procure his/its close associates to, refer such Competing Business
Opportunity to our Company on a timely basis by giving written
notice (the "Offer Notice") within 30 business days of identifying the
target company [if relevant], the nature of the Competing Business
Opportunity, the investment or acquisition costs and all other details
reasonably necessary for our Company to consider whether to
pursue such Competing Business Opportunity. Upon receiving the
Offer Notice, our Company shall decide whether to pursue or decline
the Competing Business Opportunity. For details of the Deed of Non-

Competition, please refer to the Company’s Prospectus.
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Each of the Controlling Shareholders has confirmed in writing that
it has complied with the Deed of Non-competition during the period
from the Listing Date to December 31, 2024. The independent non-
executive Directors have reviewed the status of the compliance by the
Controlling Shareholders of the Deed of Non-competition, and were
satisfied that the Controlling Shareholders have duly complied with

the Deed of Non-competition.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” in the Prospectus, none of the Directors nor any entity
connected with the Directors had a material interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to which the Company, its holding company, or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party subsisting during or at

the end of the year ended December 31, 2024.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Continuing Connected
Transactions” in this annual report, during the year ended December
31, 2024, none of the Company or any of its subsidiaries entered into
any contract of significance with the Controlling Shareholders or
any of its subsidiaries, and there was no contract of significance in
relation to provision of services by the Controlling Shareholders or

any of its subsidiaries to the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Reporting Period and up to the date

of this annual report.

EERBRREEMER - N LET B RE20244F
12A31B LM B BF AR FRIE o B FEHRIT
EFCERERBRRETIHRFZBOMMN - WiE
IEIRIR R BB TR F R -

BEEREAXRS - ZHHEHNH 2Tz

BRIBRERFEBER S | —FAMEREIN - RE
E2024F12 A3 BIEFEAZK - BIEFERN
AaE - HERARSEEMAMBARKRERNE A
BRI MES I MHEESFHENTEERESK
MEHREEAFEMNEMNEARS « THHAL -

ERRRERNREREHNH 27

BRAFER [ HERERS | —HEEEN  HE
2024 F 12 AN B IEFE - ARRIKEEMHER
A% 4 B AR AR B sk ELAE (AT BT B A Rl R MR A
B4 MEBBIZERERSEFARBATRAA
Ak M B A AR REHEREL -

BEEEH

REEHRNEEAFREY - BB RTER
FAARB2EHEMERE D EBEEERITHNE
#J

2024 ANNUAL REPORT F#g

43



44

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
FHQWE

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The remuneration of the Directors is reviewed by the Remuneration
Committee and approved by the Board, having regard to the Group's
performance, market level of remuneration and compensation paid
by comparable companies and the respective responsibilities of the

Directors.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid
individuals during the Reporting Period are set out in notes 8 and 9 to

the consolidated financial statements.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, none of the Directors
and the five highest paid individuals of the Group [i] received any
emolument from the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining
the Group; (ii] received any compensation for loss of office as a
Director or management of any member of the Group; or (iii) waived

or has agreed to waive any emoluments.

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had a total of 138 employees
(December 31, 2023: 147). For the year ended December 31, 2024,
the total costs for the Group’s employees amounted to RMB40.74
million (for the year ended December 31, 2023: RMB42.89 million).
We believe that our success depends in part on our ability to
attract, recruit and retain quality employees. We aim to establish a
collaborative work environment that encourages them to develop
their career with us. In addition, we have an effective training
system, including orientation and continuous on-the-job training,
to accelerate the learning progress and improve the knowledge
and skill levels of our workforce. We provide ongoing training for
employees covering various stages of their career development,
primarily including (i) orientation training, which aims to introduce
our new employees to various subjects, such as our corporate
culture and policies, work ethics and occupational safety, and
enables them to adapt to their working environment as soon as
practicable; and (i) periodic on-the-job training, such as technology
training, which aims to enhance our employees’ professional
skills, knowledge and understanding of the latest technological
developments in the industry, and management training, which aims
to improve the abilities in innovation, leadership and communication

of our mid-level and senior managers.
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We adhere to the principles of fairness, justice and reasonable
remuneration and provide our employees with competitive
remuneration and benefits. The remuneration package of employees
mainly includes basic salary, performance-related compensation,
pension scheme, contributions and social welfare bonus. The
performance targets of employees are primarily determined
according to their positions and departments, and regular
performance review will be conducted, and salaries, bonus and

promotion appraisals will be determined based on appraisal results.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in China
are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated by
the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain proportion of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as
they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central

pension scheme.

Details of the retirement and employee benefits schemes of the
Company are set out in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial

statements.

CHANGE TO INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES OF THE
COMPANY

There was no change to information which is required to be disclosed
and has been disclosed by Directors and chief executives pursuant to
paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules up to

the date of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS E#ERIETHABRAAANEMBEE
AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING EWE% - EERORERESNEZRA
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY ORITS #&

ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As of December 31, 2024, the interests and short positions of the  FA2024% 128318  EERAA T EEITHAS
Directors and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares, RAR G SETAEEEZE (TR FH5MBAEK
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or any of its  fJIEEXVEL) HR%D - 1HRARRMD REEEFHEEIEE
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) &% R HAE & HISEXVEE 7 R85 HAH & A A 7
which have been notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange — RE#Z: A9 RS KoKk B (B IEIR IS B 5 K HI &S (&
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including HZEGEIHE(ER R AHEENERFAR) » 3¢
interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed R8N IRIEE S KA E G0 F 302 FE S LM
to have taken under such provisions of the SFOJ, or which were IR NMAR @ SR BIZEST BB R ITHE A AT
recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to section 352  RERZFTHIEZ RARINT ¢

of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Interests in the Shares of the Company: AR RGHER

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the

Number of Company’s issued

Name of Director Nature of interest Shares held " share capital ?
RAAT
ERITRAERPH
BB Mt Fri R R E BRE e
Mr. Wang Founder of a discretionary trust/Interest in a 106,855,884 32.49%
controlled corporation®
ERAE 2REEAIEA A ERERD
Mr. Zhao Lei ("Mr. Zhao") Interest in a controlled corporation® 33,284 0.01%
HEEE(THEEE]D R EE R
Mr. Chen Jun ("Mr. Chen”) Interest in a controlled corporation® 2,059,860 0.63%
BRI A (TRREE D) Ry L E R
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Notes:

(1]
(2]

(3]

(4]

(5]

Allinterests stated are long positions.

The percentage is calculated based on the total number of
328,937,244 ordinary Shares of the Company in issue as at
December 31, 2024.

As at December 31, 2024, Growth Value is an investment holding
company incorporated in the BVI and, upon the establishment of
The Hope Trust, is owned as to [i] 99% by Gather Forever, which is
in turn wholly-owned by CMB Wing Lung (Trustee] Ltd. (the trustee
of The Hope Trust/; and [ii] 1% by Fase Ltd, which in turn is wholly-
owned by Mr. Wang. The Hope Trust is an irrevocable reserved
power trust established by Mr. Wang, as the settlor and protector,
with CMB Wing Lung (Trustee] Ltd., an independent trustee, as
trustee, for the benefit of Mr. Wang and his family members. Mr.
Wang (as the founder of The Hope Trust], CMB Wing Lung (Trustee]
Ltd., Gather Forever and Fase Ltd are deemed to be interested in
all the Shares held by Growth Value under the SFO.

As at December 31, 2024, the 33,284 Shares are held by Full Ocean,
which in turn is directly wholly-owned by Mr. Zhao. As such, Mr.
Zhao is deemed to be interested in the 33,284 Shares held by Full
Ocean under the SFO.

As at December 31, 2024, the 2,059,860 Shares are held by
Skymobi, which in turn is directly wholly-owned by Mr. Chen. As
such, Mr. Chen is deemed to be interested in the 2,059,860 Shares
held by Skymobi under the SFO.

Wt -
(1)
(2]

(3

(4]

(5]

Pt BB B I B4R ©

B TR IRIER 2N mlR 20244 12 A 31 H B 77
H) B IR 48 21328, 937, 244 K51 E o

R2024F 12318 + Growth Value B—FK K&
BHBRHETMH AR EFER DA R
Hopefs 7t AX 7 F A1 () R 99% « T EFAR A
B EKIEEEE B R &l (EAHope =5t B X 7T
A)EEWHH : Klii] Fase Ltd#H 1% * [fiFase
LtdEE K EZBHER © HopelsFiE BT L E
(TERMERTARREA)BE T ZFTALE
KBS ERA I (1EBZTN)LOFHERE
KA BZm AR T A B HIR BT 55T
RIEF 5 RHE RG] - T 55 % ((EABHopeliE
HIEIIEA ) ~ HEKIEFTER A 7~ BRK
Fase Ltd##2 AR Growth ValuetF & BT B AR 17
FHER R ©

HR2024F 128318 » 33,2848 %17 Full Ocean
##4 + MFull Oceanfhis st £ BT EHAE - A
W - RIEE S REFEIRG] - 855 £ AR AR Full
Oceant# 5 /933, 2848 i (7 A 1E 7S °

R 2024 F 12 A 31 H -+ 2,059,860 & % 17 A
SkymobifF /& + if1Skymobi % 5t £ B £ B
B o Bt - IRIBEFHRHEEG - BRI LW
AR SkymobifF & £92,059 86088 I8 17+ # 5 1

o

B
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Interests in the shares of associated corporations of the Company:

Name of
associated

corporation

RAE A TREEEE RS

Number of
shares held in
associated

corporations of

Approximate
percentage of

interest
in associated

corporation of

Name of Director  concerned Nature of interest the Company!” the Company

NN

ARAFEEEE MHEEEESN

EENA BB EIEAE EniE s am BMOBF DL

Mr. Wang Easou Shenzhen?  Beneficial owner 26,713,971 33.39%

ESTE BRI BB A 26,713,971 33.39%

Interest in a controlled corporation® 49,677,580 62.10%

R EEERY 49,677,580 62.10%

Mr. Zhao Easou Shenzhen?  Beneficial owner 2,061,321 2.58%

A E HEZI EnEEA 2,061,321 2.58%

Mr. Chen Easou Shenzhen?  Beneficial owner 514,965 0.64%

R &E BRI BB A 514,965 0.64%
Notes: Hiat -

(1] Allinterests stated are long positions.

(2] The entire equity interest in Easou Shenzhen is pledged by
the Registered Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen (including,
among others, Wang PRC SPV and Mr. Wang) in favour of the
WFOE as part of the Contractual Arrangements. Please refer to
“Contractual Arrangements — Summary of the Material Terms of

the Contractual Arrangements — Equity Pledge Agreement” of the

Prospectus for details.

(3] Mr. Wang is the sole shareholder of Wang PRC SPV, thus, Mr.

Wang is deemed to be interested in all the shares in Easou

Shenzhen held by Wang PRC SPV.

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED E#ERHEIZRR A R A A

(1] Bte)frE et miF g

2] (ERENLHI—E7 » HEEFIELKE (R
h EIET A B 5 B 8923 5] JOF B2 ) A SN
BEFPRBZ e A BIFERRINGZZFRAE
#t o BRFIE - BRMAREE [EHZH &
HILZ B NFH B E — B E g |

(3] CEFELRTRAEIRFK B B A rlayiE— R
U A= e o Vi aveal = ks I =N 0PN
FEE T B RIIR A s e
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Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2024, none of the
Directors or the chief executive of the Company had or was deemed
to have any interest or short position in the Shares, underlying
Shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFQJ, or required to be recorded in the register
required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, as of December
31, 2024 or at any time during the Reporting Period, none of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party to any arrangement
that would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate, and none of the Directors or any of their spouses
or children under the age of 18 were granted any right to subscribe
for the equity or debt securities of the Company or any other body

corporate or had exercised any such right.

Br EXXATIRE AN RA2024F 12 A31H - iES
EHARAEETHRA BRAR A H AR A E
(EERRBHFRAEBERMNEXVE)BIRM - AR
Sk ERERE R B SR AR B IRIEE SRR K
BIZEXVER T R 87 #B/AF & AR 7 KRB 22 P Ay #E
mIOA B (BIEREE S RS KA MR F &
EEIEREENERRAR) - ARHENRE
FHMEEIRAIEINEFENEL M ER=A
B - SWRBIEESTRIE ST S A A 7 KB A AT

A ®
=

=
et SOA R

>t

ESREROERENER

BRAFMAITREEI - BE2024F12 318K
Pl ol S 1 B /N i = N 5
RN AR PR E 5 A A B B AR Rl (A
Hih A REB R RGO K EEZERN - IMEESSHE
R ERAR 1 85R bA T F 2 EB AR RIE A A R
A EM A RNEEMNRASERES - BRETN
BRI T (B (E (] B RARER o
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As of December 31, 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
the following persons (not being a Director or chief executive of
the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares or
underlying Shares of the Company which fall to be disclosed to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the
SFO:

Interest in Shares of the Company:

FERRAAEATRG RAEERDVER
158979}

20245124318 - BESFARM - AT AT (L
FESHARAEZTHAR) RAR B[R G5 48
BN P HEBRIEBE S RBAEGGIEXVEE2RS
D EMERERIZAR A B R R PR R s oA B
BB BRAR AR IR E 5 kB E (555 336 16FT
FEZTMARNERIOAE

RADF RS

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the

Number of Company’s issued

Name of Shareholder Nature of interest Shares held" share capital?
RAERQF]
ERITRAERN
BRREE BB EEHE FrisiRGp AN BB
CMB Wing Lung (Trustee) Ltd Trustee of a trust® 106,855,884 32.49%
BrEKEETAR AR SRR EEAL
Gather Forever Interest of controlled corporation® 106,855,884 32.49%
iR R AR R
Fase Ltd Interest of controlled corporation® 106,855,884 32.49%
Fase Ltd YA B
Growth Value Beneficial owner 106,855,884 32.49%
Growth Value EnEEA
Ms. Zhou Yuan Interest of spouse® 106,855,884 32.49%
A&+ BB e

50 EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED E#ERHEIER AR A A



REPORT OF DIRECTORS
FHLWE

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the

Number of Company’s issued

Name of Shareholder Nature of interest Shares held" share capital?
RARAF]
ERITRAERN
BREEEB ERtE FrERGEED BHE DL
Easou Union Beneficial owner 26,153,412 7.95%
HIZHS BEHEBA
Shenzhen Yijiujiu Interest of controlled corporation®® 26,153,412 7.95%
RINEIRIA XA E R
Suzhou Kunyu Jinduo Beneficial owner 22,799,412 6.93%

Emerging Industry

Investment Enterprise

(Limited Partnership)*

(BRMIR R e EESR

RELE (ARA%) )

("Suzhou Kunyu”)
HMNBEEEMMBEXREDS BEafa Al

X(BERAR) ([HMNEE))

Xuyong Phase One Jinduo Interest of controlled corporation'® 22,799,412 6.93%
Equity Investment Fund
Partnership (Limited
Partnership)*
(RUKE SRR E
EeaBEE (BRA
%) ) [("Xuyong Phase One
Jinduo”)
FKERERBEREES S IAEERY
BEE(BRES)([MKE
HEfel)
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Approximate
percentage of

interest in the

Number of Company’s issued
Name of Shareholder Nature of interest Shares held" share capital?
RAELH
ERITRAERN
BREEEB EEME FrsRGEED BMABED R
Suzhou Kunyu Jinduo Interest of controlled corporation'® 22,799,412 6.93%
Investment Management
Centre (Limited
Partnership)*
(BFNEESRRETE
hO(BRER))
("Suzhou Kunyu Jinduo”)
HMNBEESRREEEDL XEEEERY 22,799,412 6.93%
(BR&ER)
(TEMIEEESAH])
SBCVC Fund Il Company Beneficial owner!” 15,454,852 4.70%
Limited ("SBCVC Fund III")
SBCVC Fund Ill Company B A 15,454,852 4.70%
Limited ([SBCVC Fund I111)
BlueSky Holding Company Beneficial owner!” 4,203,000 1.28%
Limited
(“BlueSky Holding")
BlueSky Holding Company  EzE#EHE A7 4,203,000 1.28%
Limited
([BlueSky Holding |)
SBCVC Fund III, L.P. Interest in a controlled corporation?” 19,657,852 5.98%
SBCVC Fund Ill, L.P. XY EEERY 19,657,852 5.98%
SBCVC FUND Il PTE. LTD. Interest in a controlled corporation” 19,657,852 5.98%
SBCVC FUND III PTE. LTD. R AEfEzS0 19,657,852 5.98%
SBCVC Limited Interest in a controlled corporation?” 19,657,852 5.98%
SBCVC Limited R EEERY 19,657,852 5.98%

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED E#ERHEIZRR A R A A
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Approximate
percentage of

interest in the

Number of Company’s issued
Name of Shareholder Nature of interest Shares held" share capital?
RAELH
B BT R AR
RERS EH e FEERGEED BOEA ke
SBCVC Management Ill, L.P. Interest in a controlled corporation 19,657,852 5.98%
SBCVC Management Ill, L.P. S5k E Rz 19,657,852 5.98%
Star Pioneer Investment Interest in a controlled corporation” 19,657,852 5.98%
Holdings Limited
Star Pioneer Investment XA B R 19,657,852 5.98%
Holdings Limited
YETI Search Company Limited Interest in a controlled corporation!” 4,203,000 1.28%
YETI Search Company Limited S {2% B #E 4,203,000 1.28%
Mr. Song Lin Ye Interest in a controlled corporation!” 19,657,852 5.98%
Song Lin Yest 4 X EE R 19,657,852 5.98%

Notes:

(1] Allinterests stated are long positions.

(2]  The percentage is calculated based on the total number of
328,937,244 ordinary Shares of the Company in issue as at
December 31, 2024.

(3] As at December 31, 2024, Growth Value is an investment holding

company incorporated in the BVI and, upon the establishment of
The Hope Trust, is owned as to (il 99% by Gather Forever, which in
turn is wholly owned by CMB Wing Lung [Trustee] Ltd. (the trustee
of The Hope Trust); and [ii] 1% by Fase Ltd, which in turn is wholly-
owned by Mr. Wang. The Hope Trust is an irrevocable reserved
power trust established by Mr. Wang, as the settlor and protector,
with CMB Wing Lung (Trustee] Ltd., an independent trustee, as
trustee, for the benefit of Mr. Wang and his family members. As
such, Mr. Wang (as the founder of The Hope Trust], CMB Wing
Lung [Trustee] Ltd., Gather Forever and Fase Ltd are deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by Growth Value pursuant to the
SFO.

Hiat -
(1)
(2)

(3]

it B9 B T /B4R ©

B T3 IRIEZR 2 5l R2024F 12 A31 H E #77
B B R 48 27328, 937, 244 K51 o

R20244 12 A31 H » Growth Value & — KR}
HEHBREE M A8 EHZRAE]
RHopels it bs A )| R A 99% » Tl EFiR
BEEKEEEERA G (EAHope A<
HA)ZEHES | Kli Fase Ltd#EH 1% * M
Fase Ltd@FSEEZEHE © HopelsiL BT
S (IERER TARIREA ) B 7 5N
HBEKEETER A I (IEBZFA) LU E
RERABZS AR HT A 55 REES 5
7T o Ft - RIBFESRREEIEG - T EE(E
#Hopelz it BIBIIEN ) ~ BEKEETEBRA
Al « BRir K Fase Ltd#42 4R Growth Valuet A
BB R F G e o
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(4]

(5]

(6]

(7]

S

Ms. Zhou Yuan is the spouse of Mr. Wang and is therefore deemed
to be interested in the Shares in which Mr. Wang is interested

pursuant to the SFO.

As at December 31, 2024, Easou Union is wholly owned by

interested in all the Shares held by Easou Union pursuant to the
SFO.

As at December 31, 2024, Suzhou Kunyu Jinduo is the general
partner of Suzhou Kunyu, and Xuyong Phase One Jinduo owns one-

third or more interest of Suzhou Kunyu.

As at December 31, 2024, SBCVC Fund Il is a company
incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong on July 7, 2008 and
BlueSky Holding is a company incorporated under the laws of Hong
Kong on December 15, 2009. BlueSky Holding is wholly owned
by YET| Search Company Limited directly. SBCVC FUND Il PTE.
LTD. wholly owns YETI Search Company Limited and SBCVC Fund
Il directly. In this regard, both of SBCVC Fund Ill and BlueSky
Holding are wholly owned by SBCVC Fund Il PTE. LTD. directly or
indirectly, which is in turn wholly owned by SBCVC Fund Ill, L.P.,
an independent third party. The general partner of SBCVC Fund
I, L.P. is SBCVC Management Ill, L.P., and the general partner
of SBCVC Management Ill, L.P. is SBCVC Limited. To the best
knowledge of SBCVC Management lll, L.P., SBCVC Management
I, L.P. has six limited partners, all of whom are independent third
parties and, except for two of the limited partners being spouses,
all of them are independent from each other [i.e. they have no
shareholding or familial relationship with each other). The general
partner of SBCVC Management Ill, L.P., SBCVC Limited, is in turn
indirectly owned as to 90.1% by Mr. Song Lin Ye, an independent
third party, through Star Pioneer Investment Holdings Limited.
Star Pioneer Investment Holdings Limited is directly wholly owned
by Mr. Song Lin Ye. As such, SBCVC Fund Ill, L.P., SBCVC FUND
Il PTE. LTD., SBCVC Limited, SBCVC Management Ill, L.P., Star
Pioneer Investment Holdings Limited, YETI Search Company
Limited and Mr. Song Lin Ye are deemed to be interested in the
Shares held by SBCVC Fund Ill and BlueSky Holding pursuant to
the SFO.

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED E#ERHEIZRR A R A A

(4]

(5]

()

(7]

BHEL AT - Bl BFERE
BRG] - W BRT S S5
R -

R2024% 1231 8 EHEBA Toe RINEHH
SEWE - Al - REEHRGEMEO
BHARE AR EBBA TR P
B -

R2024F 12831 H - #INE E M =k MNEE
H)EEEBN  ROKEH AR FINEE=
DL LR

R2024F 12 H31H + SBCVC Fund Il —Z K
200847 H 7 B RIZEE X DI ML B9 7]
i BlueSky Holding #3—ZFK2009F 124 15 H 1R
BB B LB MBI 2 &] ° BlueSky Holding
H YETI Search Company Limited B # £ & #
# ° SBCVC FUND Ill PTE. LTD. B2 & HH
YETI Search Company Limited X SBCVC Fund
Il o Bt Ut -+ SBCVC Fund Ill & BlueSky Holding
HESBCVC Fund Il PTE. LTD. H# B ETEZ &
#7A + MSBCVC Fund Ill PTE. LTD.AB V£ =
ZSBCVC Fund lll, L.P.Z2E#A ° SBCVC Fund
I, L.P.oyE#EE A ZSBCYC Management I,
L.P. + ifiISBCVC Management Ill, L.P.A9 & @&
A #SBCVC Limited ° #2SBCVC Management
I, L.P.ATFA - SBCVC Management lll, L.P. &
NEBREBA  KELRELE=T REM
1EEREBABIESI - KEGH B (AR
ZUL 2 IR R S IERR) © SBCVC
Management Ill, L.P. 8 & ## & # A SBCVC
Limited 3787 % =% Song Lin Yest ##i8Star
Pioneer Investment Holdings Limited &1 &
90.1%#z ° Star Pioneer Investment Holdings
Limited 1 Song Lin Ye £ £ EE 2 EHF - A
U RIFEZFRREEH - SBCVC Fund I,
L.P. ~ SBCVC FUND [ll PTE. LTD. - SBCVC
Limited + SBCVC Management /ll, L.P. ~ Star
Pioneer Investment Holdings Limited ~ YETI
Search Company Limited X%Song Lin YeZt4£#
18 AIRSBCVC Fund IIl ] BlueSky Holding 4% &
IR P E 17 o
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Save as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2024, the Directors were
not aware of any persons (who were not Directors or chief executive
of the Company) who had an interest or short position in any Shares
or underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company and the Stock Exchange under Divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to section

336 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as the Share Option Scheme as set out below, no equity-linked
agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing Shares or
that require the Company to enter into any agreements that will or
may result in the Company issuing Shares were entered into by the
Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended December
31, 2024 or subsisted as of December 31, 2024.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On May 17, 2024, the Share Option Scheme was approved and
adopted by the Company. The principal terms of the Share Option

Scheme are as follows:
1. Purpose
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is:

(i) to attract and retain the best quality personnel for the

development of our Group's businesses;

li]  to provide additional incentives or rewards to selected
Eligible Participants (as defined below] for their

contribution to the creation of our Company’s value; and

(i) to promote the long term financial success of our
Group by aligning the interest of any Eligible Participant
who accepts an offer of the grant of an option in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme

("Granteel(s)”) to those of our Shareholders.

Br EXCETIEEESN - BE2024F 128318 - &5
WARBEMAL(WIEEEXARREEITHA
B) AR alE IR m SRR P HE B IRIEE 5
R HA & I SEXVEB S5 2 K2 35> BB A AR 1 &) M2 B &2
FTiEBERESSAR » R EES RPEEGE
33 IRE LR 2 I B FT e B se M P AR RS A R ©

R A 9 1

BR N X FTE SRR AE R T B AN - AR RISk E A BT BB
NEIBE202LF 1283 B IEFESEFTZBEHE
20245612 A3 B MR R ER AT E - 1§
SR AR BERA A REITRM KA AR A E
Al s i & SRl BE B E AR A A1 TARD o

RS

R2024F5 178 © ANRBIHE R A B ERT
2l - BERRREET B EZIEFAT ¢

1. B®
RSB EMNS

(il BRI RBREREFOAT AERAEE
GOEE

il BEEREMRSEE(ERR T ORH
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Eligible participants

On and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme

and the requirements of the Listing Rules, our Board shall

be entitled at any time during the term of the Share Option

Scheme to make an offer for the grant of option to any person

belonging to the following classes as our Board may in its

absolute discretion select (an “Eligible Participant”):

(i)

(i)

(iii)

any person employed by any member of our Group
who has successfully passed their probation period
and any person who is a director (whether executive
or non-executive) of any member of our Group, which
shall include any person who is granted option(s) as an
inducement to enter into employment contract with any
member of our Group (an “Eligible Employee”]. For
the avoidance of doubt, a Grantee shall not cease to be
an Eligible Employee only by reason of (a) any leave of
absence approved by his/her employing or engaging
company; or (b] transfers between our Group or any

successor;

any person who is employed by or is a director
(whether executive or non-executive) of any of the
holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated
companies of our Company (an “Eligible Related Entity
Participant’); or

any person who provides services to any member of our
Group on a continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary
and usual course of business which, in the opinion of our
Board, are in the interests of the long term growth of our
Group, including: (a) suppliers of services to any member
of our Group; and (b) advisors (professional or others)
or consultants to any area of business or business
development of any member of our Group, provided
that any placing agents or financial advisers providing
advisory services to our Group for fundraising, mergers
or acquisitions and professional services providers such
as auditors or valuers who provide assurance or are
required to perform their services with impartiality and
objectivity should not be Eligible Service Providers for
the purpose of the Share Option Scheme (an “Eligible

Service Provider”).

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED E#ERHEIZRR A R A A

RIBI PRI BB A St 81 A 50 S LT AR Bl
MRE  EFSABRBIRESIBRALT
AEHE - AESS 2ENBEREBNIAT
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Scheme limit

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Prior to the approval of a Refreshed Mandate Limit (as
defined below], the maximum aggregate number of
Shares which may be allotted and issued or transferred
by our Company upon exercise of all options which
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any options or awards under any other schemes to be
adopted by our Company from time to time (including,
for the avoidance of doubt, such maximum aggregate
number of Shares which may be allotted and issued or
transferred by our Company upon exercise of the service
providers’ options under the Service Provider Sublimit (as
defined below]) is 32,893,724 Shares, being no more than
10% of our Shares in issue (excluding treasury Shares] as
at the Listing Date (the “Initial Mandate Limit").

Our Company may refresh the Initial Mandate Limit
or the Refreshed Mandate Limit (as the case may be)
(the “Scheme Mandate Limit") by ordinary resolution
of our Shareholders after three years from the date
of Shareholders’ approval for the last refreshment (or
the adoption of the Share Option Scheme, as the case
maybe]. Any proposal for refreshing the Scheme Mandate
Limit before the end of such three year period must
be approved by our independent Shareholders. In no
event that the maximum aggregate number of Shares
which may be allotted and issued or transferred by our
Company under the Scheme Mandate Limit as refreshed
(the “Refreshed Mandate Limit"] may exceed 10% of our
Shares in issue (excluding treasury Shares) as at the date

of approval of the Refreshed Mandate Limit.

Our Board may seek separate approval of our
Shareholders in general meeting to grant options beyond
the Initial Mandate Limit or the Refreshed Mandate Limit,
provided that the options in excess of the Initial Mandate
Limit or the Refreshed Mandate Limit shall be granted
only to such Eligible Participant(s) and for such number
and terms specifically identified and determined by our

Company before such approval is sought.
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(iv)

Subject to available Scheme Mandate Limit and prior to
the approval of a Refreshed Sublimit (as defined below),
the maximum aggregate number of Shares which may be
allotted and issued or transferred by our Company upon
exercise of all options which may be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any options or awards under
any other share schemes to be adopted by our Company
from time to time to the Eligible Service Providers
(the "Service Provider Sublimit’) must not exceed
such number of Shares representing 10% of the Initial
Mandate Limit (the “Initial Sublimit”). Our Company
may, conditional upon the obtaining of the required
approval for the Refreshed Mandate Limit, refresh the
Initial Sublimit by a separate ordinary resolution of our
Shareholders (or our independent Shareholders, as the
case may be] in general meeting where approval for the
Refreshed Mandate Limit is sought. In no event that the
Service Provider Sublimit as refreshed (the "Refreshed
Sublimit’) may exceed 10% of the Refreshed Mandate
Limit.

4.  Maximum entitlement of each eligible participant

(i)

(ii)

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options (whether exercised or outstanding)
together with all other options and awards granted under
the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the
Company in any 12-month period to each Grantee must
not exceed 1% of our Shares in issue (excluding treasury
Shares).

Where any further grant of options to a Grantee would
result in our Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of all options and awards granted and to be
granted to such person together with all other options
and awards (excluding all options and awards lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the schemes) in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant representing in aggregate over 1% of our Shares
in issue (excluding treasury Shares), such grant shall
be subject to separate approval by our Shareholders
in general meeting with the relevant Grantee and his/
her close associates (or associates if the Grantee is a

connected person) abstaining from voting.
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Grant of options to a Director, chief executive and
substantial shareholder of our Company (“core
connected persons”)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Subject to (i) and (iv) below and paragraph 4 above,
where any offer of an option is proposed to be made to
an Eligible Participant who is a Director, chief executive,
substantial Shareholder of our Company or any of their
respective associates, such offer must first be approved
by our independent non-executive Directors [(excluding
any independent non-executive Director who is the
Grantee of the option in question).

Subject to (iv) below, no option may be granted to any
of our substantial Shareholder or independent non-
executive Director of our Company (or any of their
respective associates or any person whose associate
is a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-
executive Director of our Company) which would result
in our Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
all options and other options and awards already granted
(excluding those lapsed in accordance with the terms
of the scheme] to such person under the Share Option
Scheme and any other schemel(s) of our Company in the
12-month period up to and including the date of the offer,
representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the number of
Shares in issue; unless such further grant is approved by
our Shareholders in general meeting.

Subject to (iv) below, at such general meeting, the grant
of options to the substantial Shareholder or independent
non-executive Director of our Company (or any of their
respective associates or any person whose associate
is a substantial Shareholder or an independent non-
executive Director of our Company) shall be approved
by our Shareholders by way of poll, with the Grantee,
his/her associates and all core connected persons and
such other persons as the Listing Rules may require
abstaining from voting, except that any connected person
may vote against such resolution provided that he or she
has informed our Company of his or her intention to do
so and such intention has been stated in the relevant
circular to our Shareholders.

(i), (i) and (iii) above shall only apply for so long and
insofar as the Listing Rules so require.
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Time of acceptance, exercise of an option, performance
targets and vesting period

An offer under the Share Option Scheme shall remain open for
acceptance by the Eligible Participant concerned for a period of
28 days from the date, which shall be a business day, on which

the offer is made to the Eligible Participant.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to be
determined by our Board and specified in the letter to the
Grantee ("Option Period”), provided that such period shall not
exceed 10 years from the date on which the option is granted or

deemed to have been granted ("Commencement Date").

An offer shall have been accepted by a Grantee when the
duplicate letter comprising acceptance of the option duly
signed by the Grantee together with a remittance in favour of
our Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the grant
thereof is received by our Company. Such remittance shall in

no circumstances be refundable.

Any offer may be accepted by an Eligible Participant in respect
of less than the number of Shares which are offered provided
that it is accepted in respect of a number of Shares equal to
a board lot for the purposes of trading Shares on the Stock
Exchange or an integral multiple thereof and such number is

clearly stated in the acceptance of the offer.

Any grant of options under the Share Option Scheme may
be subject to a performance target (if any) so as to achieve
the purpose of the Share Option Scheme. The performance
target, if any, shall be based on the performance of the Eligible
Participant and/or the operating or financial performance of
our Group including but not limited to the profit before tax
of our Group and/or such other performance target to be
determined by our Board in its absolute discretion from time
to time, which shall be set out in the relevant offer letter in
relation to the grant of options issued to each selected Eligible

Participant.
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An option shall be held for a minimum period, being the vesting
period, and the performance target (if any) must be achieved
before it can become vested and exercisable and the vesting
period shall be determined by the Board from time to time,
subject to the approval of the Remuneration Committee if so
required by the Listing Rules. All vesting criteria, time and
conditions (including the achievement of performance target
(if any)) and periods (including the vesting date] shall be set
out in the relevant offer letter issued to each selected Eligible

Participant.
Subscription price for Shares

The subscription price in respect of any option shall be such
price as our Board may in its absolute discretion determine
at the time of grant, provided that it shall not be less than the
higher of:

(i)  the closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the

Commencement Date;

(i)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the

Commencement Date; and
(i) the nominal value of a Share.
Remaining life of the scheme

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective
commencing from Listing Date until the termination date as
provided therein (which being the close of business of our
Company on the date which falls 10 years from the date of the
adoption (i.e. May 17, 2024) of the Share Option Scheme). The
Share Option Scheme has been adopted on May 17, 2024. As
at December 31, 2024, the remaining life of the Share Option

Scheme is approximately 9 years and 4 months.
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Under the Share Option Scheme, maximum number of the Shares
that may be issued upon the exercise of options that may be
granted is 32,893,724 Shares, representing approximately 10% of
the issued shares (excluding treasury shares) of the Company as at
the date of this annual report. Details of the share option scheme
of the Company are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements. Since the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up
to December 31, 2024, no share options had been granted by the
Company under the Share Option Scheme. As at May 17, 2024 and as
at December 31, 2024, the total number of share options available for
grant under the scheme mandates of the Share Option Scheme are
both 32,893,724.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities (including
treasury shares) since the Listing Date and up to the date of this
annual report. The Company did not hold any treasury shares as of
December 31, 2024.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available
to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’'s

listed securities.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing
Shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As of December 31, 2024, none of the Directors or their respective
associates had engaged in or had any interest in any business which
competes or is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the

businesses of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions of the Group during the year ended
December 31, 2024 as disclosed in note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements did not constitute connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules or were exempt from reporting, announcement and
independent Shareholders™ approval requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

Contractual Arrangements

Our Company operates or intends to operate certain businesses
that are subject to restrictions and/or prohibitions under the current
PRC laws and regulations. In order to comply with such laws and
regulations, while availing ourselves of international capital markets
and maintaining effective control over all of our operations, we
control our Consolidated Affiliated Entities through the Contractual

Arrangements entered into on December 31, 2022.

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic
benefits from the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to our Group under

the Contractual Arrangements:
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Notes:

(1

(2]

Given

Pursuant to an exclusive business cooperation agreement, WFOE
shall provide technical support, consulting services and other
services in exchange for a service fee from Easou Shenzhen.

Representing:

la]  an exclusive option agreement executed by the Registered
Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen in favor of WFOE for the
acquisition of all or part of the shares and/or assets in Easou
Shenzhen;

[b]  an equity pledge agreement executed by the Registered
Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen, pursuant to which the
Registered Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen granted
security interests in favor of WFOE over the shares in Easou
Shenzhen held by the Registered Shareholders of Easou
Shenzhen;

[c]  aproxy agreement executed by the Registered Shareholders
of Easou Shenzhen in favor of WFOE for the exercise of all
shareholders’ rights in Easou Shenzhen; and

[d]  the spousal consents executed by the spouse of each
individual Registered Shareholder of Easou Shenzhen in
favor of WFOE.

the principal business activities of the Consolidated Affiliated

Entities as outlined below, the Consolidated Affiliated Entities

operate in the foreign-prohibited business and foreign-restricted

busin
for th

ess under the Special Administrative Measures (Negative List)
e Access of Foreign Investment (2021) (KHNEREEARRIE

(A HEEE ) (202145HR) ) published by certain departments of
the State Council (the "2021 Negative List"):

(i)

EASO

the principal businesses of Easou Shenzhen, Shenzhen
Dahuatong, Shenzhen Chuangtu and Guangzhou Tianshitong
involve the operation of online entertainment, including
publication of games and music, whereas the principal
business of Shenzhen Eayou, Guangzhou Ledian, Easou
Beijing, Shenzhen Taite, Shanghai Yinggao and Shenzhen
New Drive involve internet cultural activities, including but
not limited to online advertising or online reading platform
services, which fall within the scope of internet cultural

business;
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(i) the principal business of Beijing Yike involves the publication of
digitized works with characteristics of publishing, which falls

within the scope of internet publishing business; and

(i) the principal businesses of Easou Shenzhen, Shenzhen
Dahuatong, Shenzhen Chuangtu, Beijing Yike, Shenzhen
Eayou, Shenzhen New Drive and Shenzhen Taite involve
internet information services provided through mobile Apps
and websites, which fall within the scope of value-added

telecommunication services.

Summary of the Material Terms of the Contractual
Arrangements

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement

Under the exclusive business cooperation agreement dated
December 31, 2022 between the WFOE and Easou Shenzhen (the
“Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement’), Easou Shenzhen
agreed to engage the WFOE as its exclusive provider of technical
support, consulting services and other services in exchange for a

service fee.

Pursuant to the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the
service fee shall consist of 100% of the total consolidated profit
of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities in any financial year, after
setting off any accumulated deficit of the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities in respect of the preceding financial year(s) (if anyl), and
after the deduction of operating costs, expenses, taxes and other
statutory contributions in such financial year. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the WFOE may adjust the scope and amount of services
fees in accordance with the PRC tax regulations and practices and
with reference to the operating conditions and development of the

Consolidated Affiliated Entities.

The WFOE shall calculate the service fee on a monthly basis and
issue a corresponding invoice to Easou Shenzhen. Notwithstanding
the payment arrangements in the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement, the WFOE may adjust the payment time and payment

method of the service fee.
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In addition, without the prior written consent of the WFOE, during
the term of the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement, the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities shall not accept the same or any
similar services and/or support provided by any third party with
respect to the services subject to the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement and shall not establish cooperation relationships similar
to that formed by the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement
with any third party. In addition, without the prior written consent of
the WFOE, the Consolidated Affiliated Entities shall not enter into any
written or oral agreements with any third party for the provision of
the same or similar services. The WFOE may designate other parties,
who may enter into certain agreements with the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities, to provide the Consolidated Affiliated Entities with

the services under the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement also provides that
the WFOE has the exclusive proprietary rights to and interests in
any and all intellectual property rights developed or created by
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities during the performance of the

Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement.

The Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement shall remain
effective unless terminated (a) in accordance with the provisions
of the Exclusive Business Cooperation Agreement; (b) in writing by
the WFQE; or (c) upon Easou Shenzhen's bankruptcy, liquidation
or dissolution, at which time the Exclusive Business Cooperation
Agreement will terminate upon the bankruptcy, liquidation or

dissolution becomes effective.
Exclusive Option Agreement

Under the exclusive option agreement dated December 31, 2022
among the WFOE, Easou Shenzhen and the Registered Shareholders
of Easou Shenzhen (the "Exclusive Option Agreement”), the
Registered Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen irrevocably and

unconditionally grant the exclusive right to the WFOE to:

(a) require the Registered Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen to
transfer any or all their shares in Easou Shenzhen to the WFOE
and/or its nominee(s), in whole or in part at any time and from

time to time, at:
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(i) the lowest price permitted under the PRC laws and
regulations at the time of the purchase, and if the
consideration for the exercise of the exclusive right to
purchase by the WFOE or its nominee exceeds RMBT,
the difference shall be compensated by the Registered
Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen to the WFOE or its

nominee; or

(i) inthe absence of such provisions under the PRC laws and

regulations, for a price of RMB1;

(b) purchase from Easou Shenzhen or to have its nominee
purchase from Easou Shenzhen at any time all or part of the
assets of Easou Shenzhen, including but not limited to the

equity interest in subsidiaries held by Easou Shenzhen.

Easou Shenzhen and the Registered Shareholders of Easou
Shenzhen, among other things, have jointly, severally and irrevocably

covenanted that:

(i) without the prior written consent of the WFOE, they shall
not in any manner supplement, change or amend the
business scope and the constitutional documents of
Easou Shenzhen, increase or decrease their issued share
capital, or change the structure of their share capital in

other manner;

(i) they shall maintain Easou Shenzhen's corporate
existence and conduct its business and affairs prudently
and efficiently in accordance with good financial and
business standards and practices and not to cause Easou
Shenzhen to be liquidated, suspended, wound up or

dissolved;

(i) without the prior written consent of the WFOE, they
shall not at any time following the effective date of
the Exclusive Option Agreement sell, transfer, gift,
pledge or dispose of or procure the management
of Easou Shenzhen to sell, transfer, gift, pledge or
dispose of any legal or beneficial interest in any assets
(including intellectual properties), business or revenues
of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities, or allow the

encumbrance thereon of any security interest;
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(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

they shall procure that Easou Shenzhen fulfill its
obligations under the Exclusive Option Agreement,
Equity Pledge Agreement (as defined below] and Proxy
Agreement (as defined below), and shall not terminate
or procure Easou Shenzhen or the management
of Easou Shenzhen to terminate the Contractual
Arrangements entered into by Easou Shenzhen or enter
into any agreement that conflicts with the Contractual
Arrangements without the prior written consent of the
WEFOE;

they shall not incur any indebtedness, except for
indebtedness incurred in the ordinary course of business,
ordinary borrowings of Easou Shenzhen, or indebtedness
which has been disclosed to and agreed in writing by the
WFOE;

Easou Shenzhen shall operate all of its business at all
times in the ordinary course of business to maintain the
asset value of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities, and
refrain from any action or omission that may adversely
affect the operating status and asset value of the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities;

without the prior written consent of the WFOE, they
shall not cause the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to
execute any material contract or enter into any material
transaction with a single lump sum or aggregate value
above RMB20 million in a financial year, except the

contracts executed in the ordinary course of business;

without the prior written consent of the WFOE, they shall
not cause the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to provide

any person with any loan or guarantee;

if requested by the WFOE, they shall provide the WFOE or
its nominee with all information concerning the labour,

operations and financial conditions of Easou Shenzhen;
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(x)

(i)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

if requested by the WFOE, they shall procure the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities to purchase and maintain
insurance from an insurance carrier acceptable to the
WFOE, at an amount and type of coverage typical for
companies that own similar businesses in the WFOE's
consented geographical area and similar property or

asset;

without the prior written consent of the WFOE, they shall
not cause or permit the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
to split, merge, consolidate with, acquire or invest in any

person, or be acquired by any person;

they shall notify the WFOE immediately of any litigation,
arbitration or administrative proceedings that have taken
place or may take place in relation to the assets, business
and income of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities and
take all necessary measures as reasonably requested by

the WFOE;

they shall execute all necessary or appropriate
documents, take all necessary or appropriate actions,
assert all necessary or appropriate claims, or defend all
claims as may be necessary and appropriate to preserve
the ownership of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities in all

of its assets;

if the exercise of the exclusive right to purchase by
the WFQOE is prevented by the failure of the Registered
Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen or Easou Shenzhen to
comply with their tax obligations under applicable law,
the WFOE shall be entitled to require Easou Shenzhen
or the Registered Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen to
comply with such tax obligations or to require Easou
Shenzhen or the Registered Shareholders of Easou
Shenzhen to pay such taxes to the WFOE to pay on behalf

of Easou Shenzhen;

(x)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)
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(xv]

(xvi)

(xvii)

without the prior written consent of the WFOE, Easou
Shenzhen shall not in any manner distribute dividends,
bonuses, distributable benefits and for other income
arising from any assets and equity interest held by
the Registered Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen to its
shareholders. For the avoidance of doubt, all benefits
received by the WFOE during the term of the Exclusive
Option Agreement and upon termination of the Exclusive
Option Agreement shall not be returned to the Registered

Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen;

they shall adopt and cause its subsidiaries and branches
to adopt all applicable internal control policies and
systems established by the WFOE as it may require from

time to time; and

in the event of liquidation or dissolution of Easou
Shenzhen, they shall promptly procure Easou Shenzhen
to appoint any persons designated by the WFOE to
administer the property of Easou Shenzhen to the extent
permitted by PRC law

In addition, the Registered Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen,

among other things, have jointly, severally and irrevocably

covenanted that:

(i)

(ii)

without the prior written consent of the WFOE, they
shall not sell, transfer, pledge or dispose of in any
other manner the legal or beneficial interest in Easou
Shenzhen, or allow the encumbrance thereon of any
security interest, except for the Equity Pledge Agreement
(as defined below), and they shall not support or sign
any shareholders’ resolution to approve any of the above

matters;

for each exercise of the equity purchase option under
the Exclusive Option Agreement, they shall cause
Easou Shenzhen to convene, in a timely manner, the
shareholders” meeting of Easou Shenzhen to vote on the
approval of the transfer of shares and assets pursuant to

the Exclusive Option Agreement;
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(i) without the prior written consent of the WFOE, they shall
not appoint or remove any director, supervisor or other
officer of Easou Shenzhen, whom shall be appointed by
the Registered Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen and, if
requested by the WFOE, to appoint or employ a person
appointed by the WFOE as a director and officer of Easou

Shenzhen;

(iv] without the prior written consent of the WFOE, they
shall not support or sign any shareholders’ resolution to
approve that Easou Shenzhen merge with, be acquired
by, or invest in any person, or after the registered share

capital or company form of Easou Shenzhen;

(v]  they shall notify the WFOE immediately of any litigation,
arbitration or administrative proceedings that have taken
place or may take place in relation to the shares or assets
held by them; and

(vi] if there is potential conflict of interest among the WFOE,
Easou Shenzhen and the Registered Shareholders of
Easou Shenzhen, they shall privatise the protection of the

interest of the WFOE or the Company.

The Registered Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen have also
undertaken that, subject to the relevant laws and regulations, they
will return to the WFOE any consideration they receive in the event

that the Exclusive Option Agreement is terminated.

The Exclusive Option Agreement shall remain effective unless
terminated in writing or in the event that the shares held by the
Registered Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen in Easou Shenzhen or
all assets of Easou Shenzhen have been lawfully transferred to the

WFOE or its nominee(s).
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Equity Pledge Agreement

Under the equity pledge agreement dated December 31, 2022
between the WFOE, Easou Shenzhen and the Registered
Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen (the “Equity Pledge Agreement”),
the Registered Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen agreed to pledge
to the WFOE (i) all of their respective shares in Easou Shenzhen,
including any additional shares in Easou Shenzhen that may be
subscribed by the Registered Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen
after the entering into of the Equity Pledge Agreement; and (ii) their
present and future rights, interests, distributions or income related
to their shares in Easou Shenzhen as a continuing security interest
to guarantee the performance of contractual obligations and the

payment of outstanding debts.

During the term of the pledge, the Registered Shareholders of Easou
Shenzhen are entitled to receive dividends distributed on the shares
pledged, but shall procure Easou Shenzhen and Easou Shenzhen
agrees not to distribute any dividends or adopt any profit distribution
schemes. If the Registered Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen shall
receive any economic benefit of any nature other than a dividend
or other profit distribution in respect of the pledged shares, the
Registered Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen shall, at the request
of the WFOE, instruct Easou Shenzhen to remit the relevant amount
directly to the bank account specified by the WFOE, which shall not
be used by the Registered Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen without
the prior written consent of the WFOE.

The pledge in respect of Easou Shenzhen takes effect upon
the completion of registration with the relevant administration
for market regulation and shall remain valid until after all the
contractual obligations of the Registered Shareholders of Easou
Shenzhen and Easou Shenzhen under the relevant Contractual
Arrangements have been fully performed and all the outstanding
debts of the Registered Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen and Easou
Shenzhen under the relevant Contractual Arrangements have been

fully paid.
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Upon the occurrence of an event of default (as defined in the Equity
Pledge Agreement), the Registered Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen
shall immediately notify the WFOE in writing. Unless the event of
default has been successfully resolved to the WFOE's satisfaction,
the WFOE may, upon the occurrence of an event of default or any time
thereafter, deliver a notice in writing of the event of default to the
Registered Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen, and shall have the right
to exercise all rights and power to rectify the event of default under
applicable PRC laws and the Equity Pledge Agreement, including
but not limited to being paid in priority with the shares based on the

monetary valuation that such equity interest is converted into or from

the proceeds from auction or sale of the shares.

The share pledges in connection with the Consolidated Affiliated
Entity have been registered with the relevant PRC government

authority pursuant to PRC laws and regulations.
Proxy Agreement

Under the proxy agreement among the WFOE, Easou Shenzhen and
the Registered Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen dated December
31, 2022 (the "Proxy Agreement”), the Registered Shareholders of
Easou Shenzhen irrevocably and exclusively delegated to the WFOE
or its nominee (including but not limited to the directors, successors
and/or liquidators of the WFOE]) the exercise on their behalf of any
and all voting and other rights that they have in respect of their
shares in Easou Shenzhen pursuant to applicable laws, regulations
and the articles of association of Easou Shenzhen, including but not

limited to the following rights:

(i)  to propose, convene and attend shareholders’ meetings of
Easou Shenzhen on behalf of the Registered Shareholders
of Easou Shenzhen, receive notice of and sign minutes and
resolutions of any shareholders’ meeting, exercise voting
rights on all matters at such meetings (including but not
limited to the appointment, election or removal of directors,
legal representatives, supervisors and senior management
of Easou Shenzhen], and to execute any documents which
shall be executed by the Registered Shareholders of Easou
Shenzhen and to submit such documents for the purpose of
filing with the relevant administration for market regulation on

behalf of Easou Shenzhen:;
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(i)  to authorize or resolve, on behalf of the Registered
Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen, on matters relating to the

disposal of assets of Easou Shenzhen;

(i) to resolve, on behalf of the Registered Shareholders of
Easou Shenzhen, on the dissolution and liquidation of Easou
Shenzhen, and on the formation of a liquidation committee and
exercise the powers and functions of the liquidation committee
during the liquidation period in accordance with the applicable

laws;

(iv] to transfer or, in any other manner, dispose of the shares
in Easou Shenzhen held by the Registered Shareholders of
Easou Shenzhen in any manner and to execute all necessary
documents and perform all necessary steps on behalf of the
Registered Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen for such purpose;

and

(v)  such other rights as shareholders of Easou Shenzhen as
provided for in other applicable PRC laws and regulations and
the articles of association of Easou Shenzhen (and as amended

from time to time).

Pursuant to the Proxy Agreement, the Registered Shareholders
of Easou Shenzhen shall not transfer or undertake to transfer all
or any of its shares in Easou Shenzhen to, or create any pledge
or encumbrance on such shares for the benefit of any entity or
person, other than the WFQOE or its nominee. If any of the Registered
Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen transfers all of its shares in
Easou Shenzhen with the consent of the WFOE, such Registered
Shareholder of Easou Shenzhen shall cease to be a party to the
Proxy Agreement upon transferring all its shares in Easou Shenzhen,
but the obligations and undertakings of the other Registered
Shareholder of Easou Shenzhen under the Proxy Agreement shall
not be affected in any way. Any transfer of shares in Easou Shenzhen
by the Registered Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen with the consent
of the WFOE shall be conditional upon the transferee undertaking
to assume the transferring Registered Shareholder of Easou
Shenzhen’s rights and obligations under the Proxy Agreement and
becoming a party to the Proxy Agreement in place of the transferring

Registered Shareholder of Easou Shenzhen.
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As a result of the Proxy Agreement, the Company, through the WFOE,
is able to exercise management control over the activities that most

significantly impact the economic performance of Easou Shenzhen.

The Proxy Agreement, shall remain effective until, among others, the
WFOE or its nominee has lawfully acquired all the shares in and/or

all assets of Easou Shenzhen.
Spousal Consents

The spouse of each of Mr. Wang, Mr. Zhao Lei, Mr. Chen Jun and Mr.
Lu Jin has signed a spousal consent letter, pursuant to which the
signing spouses unconditionally and irrevocably agree that they are
aware of the Exclusive Option Agreement, Equity Pledge Agreement
and the Proxy Agreement, and have no objection regarding such

contractual arrangements.

The signing spouses agree that: (i) any present or future shares held
by their respective spouse as a Registered Shareholder of Easou
Shenzhen in Easou Shenzhen do not fall within the scope of their
communal properties; [(ii] each of them will not take any measures
that are in conflict with the Contractual Arrangements; and [iii) each
of them will take any necessary measures to procure the execution of

the Contractual Arrangements.

Common Terms of the Contractual Arrangements
Dispute Resolution

Each of the agreements under the Contractual Arrangements
contains a dispute resolution provision. Pursuant to such provision,
in the event of any dispute arising from the performance of or
relating to the Contractual Arrangements, any party has the right to
submit the relevant dispute to the Shenzhen Court of International
Arbitration for arbitration, in accordance with the then effective

arbitration rules.
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The arbitration award shall be final and binding on all parties. The
dispute resolution provisions also provide that the arbitral tribunal
may award remedies over the shares or assets of Easou Shenzhen
or injunctive relief (e.g. limiting the conduct of business, limiting or
restricting transfer or sale of shares or assets) or order the winding
up of Easou Shenzhen; any party may apply to the courts of Hong
Kong, the Cayman Islands (being the place of incorporation of our
Company), the PRC and the places where the principal assets of

Easou Shenzhen are located for interim remedies or injunctive relief.

However, we were advised that the above provisions may not be
enforceable under the PRC laws. For instance, the arbitral tribunal
has no power to grant such injunctive relief, nor will it be able to
order the winding up of Easou Shenzhen pursuant to the current PRC
laws. In addition, interim remedies or enforcement order granted by
overseas courts such as Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands may not

be recognizable or enforceable in the PRC.

As a result of the above, in the event that Easou Shenzhen or the
Registered Shareholders of Easou Shenzhen breach any terms of the
Contractual Arrangements, we may not be able to obtain sufficient
remedies in a timely manner, and our ability to exert fully effective
control over Easou Shenzhen and to conduct our business could
be materially and adversely affected. See the section headed “Risk
Factors - Risks Relating to Our Contractual Arrangements” in the

Prospectus for further details.
Succession

We were advised that, subject to the succession rules of the PRC
Civil Code, the provisions set out in the Contractual Arrangements
are also binding on any successor(s) of the Registered Shareholders
of Easou Shenzhen as if such successors were a signing party to the
Contractual Arrangements. As such, any breach by the successors
would be deemed to be a breach of the Contractual Arrangements.
Under the PRC Civil Code, the statutory successors include the
spouse, children, parents, brothers, sisters, paternal grandparents
and maternal grandparents. In the case of a breach, the WFOE can

enforce its rights against the successors.
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Loss Sharing

Under the relevant PRC laws and regulations, none of our Company
or the WFOE is legally required to share the losses of, or provide
financial support to the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. Further, the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities are limited liability companies and
shall be solely liable for its own debts and losses with assets and

properties owned by them.

Despite the foregoing, given that our Group conducts certain of its
business operations in the PRC through the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities, which hold the requisite PRC operational licenses and
approvals, and that its financial position and results of operations
are consolidated into our Group's financial statements under the
applicable accounting principles, our Company’s business, financial
position and results of operations would be adversely affected if the

Consolidated Affiliated Entities suffer losses.
Liquidation

Pursuant to the Proxy Agreement, the Registered Shareholders of
Easou Shenzhen have undertaken that the WFOE or its nominee are
entitled to appoint members of the liquidation committee of Easou
Shenzhen upon the winding up of Easou Shenzhen. Pursuant to the
Equity Pledge Agreement, in the event of a mandatory liquidation
required by the PRC laws, the shareholders of Easou Shenzhen shall,
upon completion of the liquidation, give the proceeds they received
from liquidation as a gift to the WFQOE or its designee(s] to the extent
permitted by the PRC laws.

Accordingly, in the event of a winding up of Easou Shenzhen, the
WEFOE is entitled to liquidation proceeds of Easou Shenzhen based
on the Contractual Arrangements for the benefit of our Company's

creditors and Shareholders.
Insurance

There are certain risks involved in our operations, in particular,
those relating to our corporate structure and the Contractual
Arrangements. A detailed discussion of material risks relating to
our Contractual Arrangements is set forth in the section headed
“Risk Factors - Risks Relating to Our Contractual Arrangements”
in the Prospectus. We have determined that the costs of insurance

for the risks associated with business liability or disruption and
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the difficulties associated with acquiring such insurance on
commercially reasonable terms make it impractical for us to have
such insurance. Accordingly, as of the date of this annual report,
we did not purchase any insurance to cover the risks relating to the

Contractual Arrangements.

For further details, please see “Contractual Arrangements” in the

Prospectus.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

As disclosed in the Prospectus, the following transactions of
the Group contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements
constituted continuing connected transactions (the “Continuing

Connected Transactions”) of the Group for the Reporting Period.
Contractual Arrangements
Background

The business operations of the Consolidated Affiliated Entities
constitute a business restricted to foreign investment in the PRC.
Therefore, we cannot directly acquire the entire equity interest in
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities. In light of such restriction and
in order to exercise effective control over our Consolidated Affiliated
Entities, we have entered into the Contractual Arrangements
with Easou Shenzhen and the Registered Shareholders of Easou
Shenzhen on December 31, 2022, pursuant to which our Group
(i) receives substantially all of the economic benefits from the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities in consideration for the services
provided by WFOE to the Consolidated Affiliated Entities; (i) exercises
effective control over the Consolidated Affiliated Entities through
WFOE; and [iii] holds an exclusive option to purchase all or part of
the shares in Easou Shenzhen when and to the extent permitted
by the PRC laws. See “Contractual Arrangements” section in this
annual report or the section headed “Contractual Arrangements”
in the Prospectus for details of the key terms of the Contractual

Arrangements.
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Listing Rules Implications

The transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements
are continuing connected transactions for our Company and are
subject to reporting, announcement and independent Shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Our
Directors, including our independent non-executive Directors, are
of the view that (i) the Contractual Arrangements are fundamental
to our Group's legal structure and business operations; and [ii) the
Contractual Arrangements are on normal commercial terms or
on terms more favorable to our Group, in the ordinary and usual
course of our Group’s business and are fair and reasonable or to the
advantage of our Group and are in the interests of our Shareholders
as a whole. Accordingly, notwithstanding that the transactions
contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements technically
constitute continuing connected transactions under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules, our Directors consider that, given that our
Group is placed in a special situation in relation to the connected
transactions rules under the Contractual Arrangements, it would be
unduly burdensome and impracticable, and would add unnecessary
administrative costs to our Company, for all the transactions
contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements to be subject to
strict compliance with the requirements set out under Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules, including, among other things, the announcement

and approval of independent Shareholders.
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Waiver

In relation to the Contractual Arrangements, we have applied to
the Stock Exchange for, and the Stock Exchange has granted, a
waiver from strict compliance with (i) the announcement, circular
and independent Shareholders” approval requirements under Rules
14A.35 and 36 of the Listing Rules in respect of the transactions
contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements pursuant to Rule
14A.105 of the Listing Rules, (i) the requirement of setting an annual
cap for the transactions under the Contractual Arrangements under
Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules, and [iii) the requirement of limiting
the term of the Contractual Arrangements to three years or less
under Rule 14A.52 of the Listing Rules, for so long as our Shares
are listed on the Stock Exchange subject however to the following

conditions:

(a) No Change without Independent Non-executive Directors’
Approval

No changes to the terms of any of the agreements constituting
the Contractual Arrangements will be made without the

approval of the independent non-executive Directors.
(b) No Change without Independent Shareholders’ Approval

Save as described in paragraph (d) below, no changes to the
terms of any of the agreements constituting the Contractual
Arrangements will be made without the approval of the
independent Shareholders. Once independent Shareholders’
approval of any change has been obtained, no further
announcement or approval of the independent Shareholders
will be required under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules unless
and until further changes are proposed. The periodic reporting
requirement regarding the Contractual Arrangements in the
annual reports of our Company (as set out in paragraph (e]

below) will however continue to be applicable.
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(c)

(d)

e

Economic Benefits Flexibility

The Contractual Arrangements shall continue to enable
our Group to receive the economic benefits derived by the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities through: (i] our Group's
potential right (if and when so allowed under the applicable
PRC laws] to acquire the equity interest in and/or assets of
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities; (ii) the business structure
under which the net profits generated by the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities (after deducting the necessary costs,
expenses, taxes and other statutory contribution in relation to
the respective fiscal year] is substantially retained by us (such
that no annual caps shall be set on the amount of services fees
payable to the WFOE under the Exclusive Operation Services
Agreement]; and (i) our right to control the management and
operation of, as well as, in substance, all of the voting rights of
the Consolidated Affiliated Entities.

Renewal and Reproduction

On the basis that the Contractual Arrangements provide
an acceptable framework for the relationship between our
Company and our subsidiaries in which our Company has
direct shareholding, on one hand, and the Consolidated
Affiliated Entities, on the other hand, that framework may be
renewed and/or reproduced upon the expiry of the existing
arrangements or in relation to any existing or new wholly
foreign-owned enterprise or operating company (including
branch company) engaging in the same business as that of
our Group which our Group might wish to establish when
justified by business expediency, without obtaining the
approval of the Shareholders, on substantially the same
terms and conditions as described under the section headed
“Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus. The directors,
chief executive or substantial shareholders of any existing or
new wholly foreign-owned enterprise or operating company
(including branch company) engaging in the same business as
that of our Group which our Group may establish when justified
by business expediency will, upon renewal and/or cloning of the
Contractual Arrangements, however be treated as our Group’'s
connected persons and transactions between these connected
persons and our Group other than those under similar
Contractual Arrangements shall comply with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules. This condition is subject to the relevant PRC

laws, regulations and approvals.
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(e)

Ongoing Reporting and Approvals

We will disclose details relating to the Contractual

Arrangements on an ongoing basis as follows:

(i)

(ii)

The Contractual Arrangements in place during each

financial period will be disclosed in our annual report and

accounts in accordance with the relevant provisions of

the Listing Rules.

Our independent non-executive Directors will review the

Contractual Arrangements annually and confirm in our

annual report and accounts for the relevant year that:

(1)

(2)

(3)

the transactions carried out during such year have
been entered into in accordance with the relevant

provisions of the Contractual Arrangements;

no dividends or other distributions have been made
by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders
of its equity interest which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to our Group;

and

the Contractual Arrangements and any new
contracts (if any) entered into, renewed or
reproduced between our Group and the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities during the relevant
financial period under paragraph (d) above are
fair and reasonable, or advantageous, so far as
our Group is concerned and in the interests of our

Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

The Consolidated Affiliated Entities further undertake that,

for so long as the Shares are listed on the Stock Exchange,

the Consolidated Affiliated Entities will provide our Group's

management and our auditors with full access to its relevant

records for the purpose of procedures to be carried out by our

auditors on connected transactions.
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Confirmation of the Independent Non-executives’ Directors
in respect of the Contractual Arrangements

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above
continuing connected transactions of the Company contemplated
under the Contractual Arrangements and confirmed that (i) the
transactions carried out during the Reporting Period have been
entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the
Contractual Arrangements; (i) no dividends or other distributions
have been made by the Consolidated Affiliated Entities to the holders
of its equity interest which are not otherwise subsequently assigned
or transferred to our Group; [iii) the Contractual Arrangements
entered into between our Group and the Consolidated Affiliated
Entities during the Reporting Period are fair and reasonable,
or advantageous, so far as our Group is concerned and in the
interests of our Company and the Shareholders as a whole and no
contracts were renewed or reproduced between our Group and the
Consolidated Affiliated Entities; and (iv] the transactions have been
entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group, on normal commercial terms or better and according to the
agreements governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable

and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Confirmation of the Company’s Independent Auditors in
respect of the Contractual Arrangements

Ernst & Young, the Company's auditor was engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions in accordance with
Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised)
“Assurance Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740
“Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under
the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Ernst & Young has issued its letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing
connected transactions in connection with Contractual Agreements
for the Reporting Period, in particular, confirming that nothing has
come to their attention that causes them to believe that the disclosed

continuing connected transactions mentioned in this section:

a.  have not been approved by the Company’s board of directors.
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b.  were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the

relevant agreements governing such transactions.

c. no dividends or other distributions have been made by
Shenzhen Easou Technology Co., Ltd. to the holders of the
equity interests of Shenzhen Easou Technology Co., Ltd. which
are not otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the

Group.

SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company was not
engaged in any litigation or arbitration of material importance and no
litigation or claim of material importance is known to the Directors to

be pending or threatening against the Company.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association and subject to the applicable
laws and regulations, every Director shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses
which they or any of them may incur or sustain in or about the
execution of their duty in their offices. The Company has arranged
appropriate liability insurance to indemnify the Directors and senior
management of the Company for their liabilities arising out of
corporate activities. The insurance coverage will be reviewed on an

annual basis.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee had, together with the management and
external auditor of the Company (the “Auditor”), reviewed the
accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group and the
annual results of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024.
The Audit Committee considered that the annual results of the
Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 are in compliance with
the applicable accounting standards, laws and regulations, and the

Company has made appropriate disclosures thereof.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 87 to 115 of this annual

report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the
best knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company's total
issued Shares, the prescribed minimum percentage of public float
approved by the Stock Exchange and permitted under the Listing
Rules, was held by the public at all times during the Reporting Period

and as of the date of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on June 7, 2024, and

the Company has no change in the Auditor since the Listing Date.

Ernst & Young was appointed as the Auditor for the year ended
December 31, 2024. The accompanying financial statements
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRS Accounting Standards”) have been audited by
Ernst & Young.

Ernst & Young shall retire at the forthcoming AGM and being
eligible, will offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-
appointment of Ernst & Young as Auditor will be proposed at the
forthcoming AGM.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE OBLIGATIONS PURSUANT TO
THE LISTING RULES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company does not have
any other disclosure obligations under Rules 13.20, 13.21 and 13.22
of the Listing Rules.

All references above to other sections, reports or notes in this report

form part of this annual report.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Wang Xi

Chairman, CEO and Executive Director

Hong Kong, March 28, 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of

the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of the Shareholders and
to enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has
adopted the code provisions of the CG Code as set out in Appendix
C1 to the Listing Rules as its own code of corporate governance.
Save as disclosed in this annual report, the Company has, to the best
knowledge of the Board, complied with all applicable code provisions
of the CG Code since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual
report, except for a deviation from the code provision C.2.1 of the CG
Code that the roles of the chairman and chief executive should be
separate and should not be performed by the same individual. Details
of such deviation are summarized below in the subsection headed

“Chairman and Chief Executive Officer”.

The Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate

governance practices to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

THE BOARD
Governance Culture

The Company is committed to conducting our business in
accordance with high professional and ethical standards. This
reflects our belief that it is imperative to act with integrity,
transparency and responsibility in order to achieve our long-term
business objectives and create maximum value for our shareholders
while benefiting our employees, business partners and the

communities where the Company operates.

Corporate governance is the core mechanism by which the Board
guides management in achieving the Company's strategic objectives.
The Board will continue to improve the corporate governance system

to ensure:

o Sustainable returns to shareholders: through sound
management and long-term planning to protect the interests

of shareholders:;
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The protection of partners’ rights and interests: treat
customers, suppliers and other stakeholders fairly and
establish a cooperative relationship of mutual trust and win-

win;

o Comprehensive management of business risks: proactively
identify and effectively manage operational risks to ensure the

Company’'s steady development;

o The provision of excellent products and services: guided by
customers’ needs, continuously improve product and service

quality;

3 Adherence to business ethics: strictly abide by laws and
regulations, and practice the corporate values of integrity and

fairness.
Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
overseeing the Group’'s strategic decisions and monitoring the
Group's business and performance. The Board has delegated
the authority and responsibility for day-to-day management and
operation of the Group to the senior management of the Group. To
oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board has
established three Board committees including the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee
(together, the “Board Committees’]. The Board has delegated to
the Board Committees responsibilities as set out in their respective

terms of reference.

All Directors have carried out duties in good faith and in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, and have acted in the interests

of the Company and the Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance in respect
of legal action against the Directors. The insurance coverage will be

reviewed on an annual basis.
Board Composition

During the year ended December 31, 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report, the Board comprises three executive Directors and

three independent non-executive Directors as follows:
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Executive Directors

Mr. Wang Xi (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer]
Mr. Chen Jun (Chief Financial Officer]

Mr. Zhao Lei (Chief Operating Officer]
Non-executive Directors

Mr. Luan Ling (resigned on December 2, 2024)

Mr. Zhuge Qingchen (resigned on December 2, 2024)
Mr. Gan Minggao (resigned on December 2, 2024)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Jianfeng

Mr. An Yingchuan

Ms. Meng Xue

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the section headed

“Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

For the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2024, the Board
has met at all times the requirements under Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2)
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive Directors with at least one independent
non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. Among the three independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. An Yingchuan has appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise as required by
Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules

For the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2024, the
Company has also complied with Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of independent non-executive Directors

representing at least one-third of the Board.
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Each of our Directors confirms that he or she (i) has obtained the
legal advice referred to under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on
December 2, 2022; and (ii) understands his or her obligations as a
director of a listed issuer on the Stock Exchange under the Listing

Rules.

None of the Directors have any personal relationship (including
financial, business, family or other material or relevant relationship)

with any other Director and chief executive.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient
and effective functioning. Independent non-executive Directors
are invited to serve on the Audit Committee, the Remuneration

Committee and the Nomination Committee.
Independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors play a significant role
in the Board as they bring an impartial view on the Group's
strategies, performance and control, as well as ensure that the
interests of all Shareholders are considered. All independent non-
executive Directors possess appropriate academic, professional
qualifications or related financial management experience. None of
the independent non-executive Directors held any other offices in the
Company or any of its subsidiaries or is interested in any Shares of

the Company.
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Independence of the Board
Mechanism to ensure independent views and opinions

The Board has established mechanisms to ensure that independent
views of any Director can be communicated to the Board to enhance
the objectivity and effectiveness of decision-making. The Board
has reviewed the following key features or mechanisms under
the Company’s governance structure and considers that they are
effective in ensuring the provision of independent views and advice
to the Board, which include, but not limited to, all Directors having
the right to engage independent professional advisers as and when
required, all Directors being encouraged to express their views
openly and honestly at meetings of the Board or Board Committees,
and the number of independent non-executive Directors complying
with the requirement of at least one-third of the Board as required
by the Listing Rules for independent non-executive Directors,
the Nomination Committee is mandated to annually assess the
independence of all independent non-executive Directors with
reference to the independence criteria set out in the Listing Rules,
ensuring that they can continually exercise independent judgement,
no equity-base remuneration (e.g. share options or grants] with
performance related elements will be granted to the independent
non-executive Directors as this may lead to bias in their decision-
making and compromise their objectivity and independence etc.
The Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of the
aforementioned mechanisms on an annual basis. The Board has
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of such mechanisms

during the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2024.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his/her independence, and the
Company considers such Directors to be independent throughout the
Reporting Period in accordance with the criteria set out in Rule 3.13

of the Listing Rules.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Company have adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the
approach to achieve and maintain an appropriate balance of diversity
perspectives of our Board that are relevant to our business growth.
Pursuant to the board diversity policy, selection of Board candidates
will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution

that the selected candidates will bring to our Board.

The Directors have a balanced mix of knowledge and skills, including
overall management and strategic development, business operation
and accounting and financial management. They obtained degrees
in various majors, including business management, law, accounting,
electrical engineering and computer science. The Company has
three independent non-executive Directors with different industry
backgrounds, representing one-third of the Board. In addition, the
Board has a wide range of age, ranging from 39 years old to 53
years old. While the Company recognizes that the gender diversity
at the Board level can be improved given its current composition of
one female Director, the Company has taken, and will continue to
take steps to promote gender diversity at all levels of the Company,
including but not limited to the Board and the management
levels. Going forward, the Company will consider the possibility of
nominating female senior management to the Board or appointing
further female independent non-executive Director who has the
necessary skills and experience. In particular, the Company targets
to achieve 20% female representation in the Board within five years
following the Listing, subject to the Directors (i) being satisfied with
the competence and experience of the relevant candidates after a
comprehensive review process based on reasonable criteria; and
(i) fulfilling their fiduciary duties to act in the best interest of the
Company and the Shareholders as a whole when deliberating on the
appointment. To develop a pipeline of potential female successors to
the Board, the Company will (i) ensure that there is gender diversity
when recruiting staff at mid to senior levels; and (ii) engage more
resources in training female staff with the aim of promoting them to

be members of our senior management or the Board.
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The Nomination Committee is delegated by the Board to be
responsible for compliance with relevant code provisions governing
board diversity under the CG Code. The Nomination Committee will,
from time to time and at least once annually, monitor and evaluate
the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy to ensure its
continued effectiveness. The Nomination Committee has reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity Policy
for the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2024 and has
confirmed that the Board possesses an appropriate mix of skills and

experience to execute the Company’s strategy.

As at December 31, 2024, our workforce (including the senior
management] consisted of 80 male employees and 58 female
employees, representing approximately 58% and 42% of the total
workforce, respectively. The Company considers that the gender
diversity across overall workforce (including senior management
of the Company) stands at a reasonable level. The Company
will continue to take gender diversity into consideration during
recruitment and increase the female proportion at all levels over

time with the ultimate goal of achieving gender parity.
Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed Director is provided with necessary induction
and information to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding
of the Company’s operations and businesses as well as his/her
responsibilities under relevant statues, laws, rules and regulations.
The Company also arranges regular seminars to provide Directors
with updates on latest development and changes in the Listing Rules
and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from time to
time. The Directors are also provided with regular updates on the
Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable the Board

as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

Directors are encouraged to participate in appropriate continuous
professional development seminars and programmes to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. The Company has also
engaged external legal advisers to provide training to Directors on
updates of the Listing Rules as well as the latest changes in relevant

rules and regulations.
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According to the information provided by the Directors, a summary RIBEEREMHER - EEREE 2024512831
of trainings received by the Directors throughout the year ended HIFFE2FESMNFIIEZ T

December 31, 2024 is as follows:

Nature of
Continuous

Professional

Development
Name of Directors Programmes
BESERR
EEng TEINMEE
Executive Directors PITES
Mr. Wang Xi (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) EREE(EEREEHTE) c
Mr. Chen Jun (Chief Financial Officer) RAXE(BEMBEE) ¢
Mr. Zhao Lei (Chief Operating Officer) HETE(EEELE) c
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Luan Ling [resigned on December 2, 2024) B S (R2024F 1252 A BHE) c
Mr. Zhuge Qingchen (resigned on December 2, 2024) HBBERTER024F12H2HEHTE) ©
Mr. Gan Minggao (resigned on December 2, 2024 HIE R (R2024F 1252 HEHT) c
Independent Non-executive Directors BIUKHITES
Mr. Zhu Jianfeng KA S c
Mr. An Yingchuan =8| Fo c
Ms. Meng Xue wEZT c
Notes: Hiat -

A:  Attending seminars and/or meetings and/or forums and/or A: 2SR HEER Hgitme Kk, s8EE

briefings e

B:  Giving talks in the seminars and/or meetings and/or forums B: Rk stk el i B K RN

C:  Attending trainings conducted by lawyers C:  HEHEATE a5

D:  Reading materials relevant to corporate governance, director's — D: [IiBEHPEES  EFBEREF - LTAEA
duties and responsibilities, listing rules and other relevant R E A AE 1015 BT a0 77+
ordinances
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The roles of
the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the
Company are both performed by Mr. Wang, an executive Director.
The Board believes that vesting the roles of both chairman of the
Board and the chief executive officer of the Company in the same
individual enables the Company to achieve higher responsiveness,
efficiency and effectiveness when formulating business strategies
and executing business plans. Furthermore, in view of Mr. Wang's
extensive industrial experience and significant role in the historical
development of our Group, the Board believes that it is beneficial
to the business prospects of our Group that Mr. Wang continues
to act as the chairman of the Board following the Listing Date, and
that the balance of power and authority is sufficiently maintained by
the operation of the Board, comprising the executive Directors and

independent non-executive Directors.

The Company will continue to review and monitor its corporate
governance practices on a regular basis to ensure compliance with
the CG Code.

Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company on May 17, 2024. Each service contract is for an
initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date. The
service contracts may be renewed in accordance with the Articles
of Association and the applicable laws, rules and regulations. Either
party may terminate the agreement by giving not less than three

months” written notice.

Each of Mr. Luan Ling, Mr. Zhuge Qingchen and Mr. Gan Minggao,
who resigned as the non-executive Director on December 2, 2024,
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company on May 17,
2024. Each letter of appointment is for an initial term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date. The letters of appointment may
be renewed in accordance with the Articles of Association and the
applicable laws, rules and regulations. Either party may terminate

the agreement by giving not less than three months” written notice.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company. Each letter of appointment
is for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date. The letters of appointment may be renewed in accordance
with the Articles of Association and the applicable laws, rules and
regulations. Either party may terminate the agreement by giving not

less than three months” written notice.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has or is proposed to have a service contract or a letter
of appointment with any member of the Group which is not
determinable by the employer within one year without payment of

compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Pursuant to Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association, at each AGM
one-third of the Directors for the time being, or, if their number is
not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not
less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation, provided that
every Director [(including those appointed for a specific term) shall
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.
A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election. Accordingly,
Mr. Zhao Lei and Mr. Zhu Jianfeng will retire by rotation at the
forthcoming AGM, and they being eligible, will offer themselves for
re-election at the AGM.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and
removal of Directors are set out in the Articles of Association. The
Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board
composition and making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-election of Directors and succession planning for

Directors.
Board Meetings

The Company adopts the practice of holding Board meetings
regularly, at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly
intervals. Notices of not less than fourteen days are given for all
regular Board meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity

to attend and include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting.
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For other Board and Board Committee meetings, reasonable notice
is generally given. The agenda and accompanying board papers
are dispatched to the Directors or Board Committee members
at least three days before the meetings to ensure that they have
sufficient time to review the papers and are adequately prepared for
the meetings. When Directors or Board Committee members are
unable to attend a meeting, they will be advised of the matters to be
discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known to the
chairman of the Board prior to the meeting. Minutes of meetings are
kept by the company secretary of the Company with copies circulated

to all Directors for information and records.

Minutes of the Board meetings and Board Committee meetings
are recorded in sufficient detail about the matters considered by
the Board and the Board Committees and the decisions reached,
including any concerns raised by the Directors. Draft minutes of
each Board meeting and Board Committee meeting are sent to the
Directors for comments within a reasonable time after the date on
which the meeting is held. Minutes of the Board meetings are open

for inspection by Directors.

Code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code provides that board meetings
should be held at least four times a year at approximately quarterly
intervals. As the Company was only listed on the Stock Exchange
on June 7, 2024, the Company only held one Board meeting during
the period from Listing Date to December 31, 2024. The Company
will hold at least four regular Board meetings for the year ending
December 31, 2025.

Code provision C.2.7 of the CG Code provides that the chairman
should at least annually hold meetings with the independent non-
executive directors without the presence of other directors. As the
Company was only listed on the Stock Exchange on June 7, 2024, the
chairman of the Board did not hold any meeting with the independent
non-executive Directors during the period from Listing Date to
December 31, 2024. The chairman of the Board will hold at least one
meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without the

presence of other Directors for the year ending December 31, 2025.
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During the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2024, one

N ETBHZE2024%12A31 B IHHIRE - 87—

Board meeting was held and the attendance of each Directors is set BH2®:3%  SESFHFEBREHIAT
out as follow:

Attended/

Eligible to
Directors attend

BHiE/

55 BERHE
Mr. Wang Xi [Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) RS (FEFREEHTE) Al
Mr. Chen Jun (Chief Financial Officer) RAEE(BEHNBE) A
Mr. Zhao Lei (Chief Operating Officer) HEEE(EREESZE) Al
Mr. Luan Ling " % St 1/1
Mr. Zhuge Qingchen FEERILEN Al
Mr. Gan Minggao "/ HIERFEEN 1/1
Mr. Zhu Jianfeng REE S Al
Mr. An Yingchuan 8| Fe A
Ms. Meng Xue BEXL 1/1
Note: Mfat

(1) Mr. Luan Ling, Mr. Zhuge Qingchen and Mr. Gan Minggao resigned

as non-executive Directors with effect from December 2, 2024.
Model Code for Dealing in Securities by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions of the Company by the Directors.
Having made specific enquiries to all of the Directors, all Directors
confirmed that they had fully complied with the required standards
set out in the Model Code since the Listing Date and up to the date of

this annual report.

During the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2024,
the Company has also adopted its own code of conduct regarding
employees’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than
the standard set out in the Model Code for the compliance by its
relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information of the Company in respect of their dealings in the

Company's securities.
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Delegation by the Board

The Board reserves for its decision on all major matters of
the Company, including approval and monitoring of all policy
matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those that
may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment
of Directors and other significant financial and operational matters.
Directors could have recourse to seek independent professional
advice in performing their duties at the Company’s expense and are
encouraged to access and to consult with the Company’s senior

management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the Group
are delegated to the senior management. The delegated functions
and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant

transactions entered into by the management.
Corporate Governance Function

The Board recognizes that corporate governance should be the

collective responsibility of the Directors which includes:

(a) to develop and review the Company's policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the

Company;

(c)  toreview and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and

Directors; and

e) to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report of the

Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises three members, including

three independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. An Yingchuan

(chairman), Ms. Meng Xue and Mr. Zhu Jianfeng

The principal duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

1.

to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the
external auditor, and to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor, and any question of its

resignation or dismissal;

to review and monitor the external auditor’'s independence
and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards; and to discuss with
the auditor the nature and scope of the audit and reporting

obligations before the audit commences;

to review the Company’s financial information, including
organizing and leading the Company’s annual audit work,
monitoring integrity of the financial statements of the Company
and the Company’s annual report and accounts, half-year
report and, if prepared for publication, quarterly reports during
the audit process, reviewing significant financial reporting
judgements contained in them, and submitting them to the
Board;

to oversee the Company’s financial reporting system, risk

management and internal control systems; and

to perform the Company’s corporate governance functions.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available

on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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During the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2024, one

N ETBHEE2024512 831 B ILHIR - 817 —

Audit Committee meeting was held and the attendance of each EZZE @@ SKELEBRLHTINOT :
member is set out as follow

Attended/

Eligible to
Directors attend

BiE

55 BERHE
Mr. An Yingchuan (Chairman) )| (FE) Al
Mr. Gan Minggao " e 5= 4 A 11
Mr. Zhu Jianfeng REllE S Al
Ms. Meng Xue BB N/A A5E
Notes: B

(1) Mr. Gan Minggao resigned as a non-executive Director and ceased
to be a member of the Audit Committee with effect from December
2, 2024.

(2] Ms. Meng Xue, the independent non-executive Director, has been
appointed as @ member of the Audit Committee with effect from
December 2, 2024.

During the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2024, at the
meeting, the Audit Committee reviewed, among other things, interim

results of the Group for the six months ended June 30, 2024.

On the Audit Committee meeting held on March 28, 2025, the Audit
Committee has also reviewed and discussed the risk management
and internal control measures and systems of the Company, the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal audit function, financial
reporting and the appointment of the Auditor. The Board had not
deviated from any recommendation given by the Audit Committee on

the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the Auditor.
Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee currently comprises three members,
including one executive Director namely Mr. Wang Xi (chairman), and
two independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. An Yingchuan

and Ms. Meng Xue.
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The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the

following:

1. toreview the structure, size and composition (including without
limitation, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service) of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to

complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

2. to identify individuals suitably qualified to become board
members and select or make recommendations to the Board

on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

3. to assess the independence of independent non-executive

directors;

4. to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive;

and

5. to review the Board Diversity Policy and any measurable
objectives for implementing such Board Diversity Policy as may
be adopted by the Board from time to time and to review the
progress on achieving the objectives, and to make disclosure
on its review results in the annual report of the Company

annually.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are

available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Since the Company was listed on June 7, 2024, which is less than
seven months away from December 31, 2024, the Nomination
Committee had no matters that needed to be discussed from the
Listing Date to December 31, 2024 and did not hold any Nomination

Committee meeting during the said period.
Nomination Policy

The Company has adopted a director nomination policy (the
“Director Nomination Policy”) in accordance with the CG Code for

selecting and recommending candidates for directorships.
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The Director Nomination Policy sets out the selection criteria
and process and the Board succession planning considerations
in relation to nomination and appointment of Directors and aims
to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the

Company’s business.
Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and recommend
candidate(s) for directorships to the Board by giving due
consideration to criteria, having due regard to the benefits of
diversity on the Board, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service, sufficient time
to effectively carry out their duties, their services on other listed
and non-listed companies which should be limited to reasonable
numbers, qualifications including accomplishment and experience
in the relevant industries the Company’s business is involved in,
independence, reputation for integrity, potential contributions that
the individual(s) can bring to the Board and commitment to enhance

and maximise shareholders’ value.
Nomination Process

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for
the appointment of a Director in accordance with the following

procedures and process:

(a) to consult any source it deems appropriate in identifying or
selecting suitable candidates, such as referrals from existing
Directors, advertising, recommendations from an independent
agency firm and proposals from Shareholders of the Company

with due consideration given to the criteria;

(b)  to adopt any process it deems appropriate in evaluating the
suitability of the candidates, such as interviews, background

checks, presentations and third-party reference checks;

(c) upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship,
the Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by
way of written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the

recommendation to the Board for appointment;
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(d) to make the recommendation to the Board in relation to the

proposed appointment; and

(e)  the Board will have the final authority on determining the

selection of nominees.

For the re-election of Directors at the general meeting, the
Nomination Committee shall review the overall contributions and
services to the Company of the retiring Directors, including its
attendance at Board meetings, Board Committee meetings and
general meetings [if applicable), and his/her level of participation
and performance on the Board. The Nomination Committee shall
require the nominee to submit updated biographical information
and the consent to be re-elected as a Director; and should review
and determine whether retiring Directors still meet the criteria for
Director selection. The Nomination Committee shall then make

recommendations to the Board on the re-election of Directors.

The Nomination Committee shall also monitor and review the
implementation of the Director Nomination Policy, as appropriate

from time to time, and will report to the Board annually.
Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises three members,
including two independent non-executive Directors namely Mr. Zhu
Jianfeng (chairman) and Ms. Meng Xue, and one executive Director

namely Mr. Chen Jun.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the

following:

1. to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all directors’s and senior
management’'s remuneration and on the establishment
of a formal and transparent procedure for developing

remuneration policy;

2. toreview and approve the management’'s remuneration
proposals with reference to the Board's corporate goals and

objectives;
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e

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior
management. This should include benefits in kind,
pension rights and compensation payments, including any
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or

appointment;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of

non-executive directors;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time
commitment and responsibilities and employment conditions

elsewhere in the Group;

to review and approve the compensation payable to executive
directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with

contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of directors for misconduct to ensure that
they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise

reasonable and appropriate;

to ensure that no director or any of his associates (as defined in

the Listing Rules) is involved in deciding his own remuneration;

to consider and approve the grant of share options to eligible
participants pursuant to the share schemes under Chapter 17

of the Listing Rules; and

in respect of any service agreement to be entered into between
any members of the Group and its director or proposed
director, to review and provide recommendation to the
Shareholders of the Company (other than Shareholder(s) who
is/are director(s) with a material interest in the relevant service
agreements and their respective associates) as to whether
the terms of the service agreements are fair and reasonable
and whether such service agreements are in the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders as whole, and to advise

Shareholders on how to vote.
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The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are

available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Since the Company was listed on June 7, 2024, which is less than
seven months away from December 31, 2024, the Remuneration
Committee had no matters that needed to be discussed from
the Listing Date to December 31, 2024 and did not hold any

Remuneration Committee meeting during the said period.
Directors’ Remuneration Policy

Our Directors and senior management receive compensation in
the form of director fees, salaries, allowances and benefits in kind,
performance-related bonuses, pension scheme contributions and
social welfare. Our Group also reimburses our Directors and senior
management for expenses which are necessarily and reasonably
incurred for the provision of services to our Group or executing their
functions in relation to the operations of our Group. We regularly
review and determine the remuneration and compensation packages
of our Directors and senior management, by reference to, among
other things, market level of remuneration and compensation paid
by comparable companies, the respective responsibilities of our

Directors and the performance of our Group.

The Remuneration Committee will meet at least once for each
year to discuss remuneration related matters (including the
remuneration of Directors and the senior management) and review
the remuneration policy of the Group. The Remuneration Committee
would make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration

packages of individual executive Directors and senior management.

The Company has also adopted the Share Option Scheme on May 17,
2024. For further details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to
the subsection headed “Report of Directors — Share Option Scheme”

in this annual report.

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED E#ERHEIZRR A R A A

FZ B 0 & E RS E A OB P AR RIS
BB -

AR ARAIR2024F6 78 £ - BIEEEE20244F
12AMNBLREM@A @ WHFEMEE S LA
F024F12 AN A EEM AN HOER - B
RE AT ERITEATHEESEE -

ESHMECR

EXLSRERENESHES  Fo  RUKED
Mz - RIVABRTEAL - BESFEHFTARMER
MEABEME ARETREEREREEE
AR SR B AR TS A AN R BB S NI TRBEFT A
REERBOFRXENRERER - RFISEHSR
(B 835) A B LB R RIS B R & 15
K BERRENBEMMEBNRE - o i
TESELRREEENHFHEMNSFE

FNEBEREBFRITED —REHE - T H M
HREHE(BRESRSRERENFHH) Mg
SEOHMER - FHEZSSHERIRTESR
SRERENFHTENESTSRMMERRE -

AR FINA202455 A 17 BERA B IR ETEl - BF
BEREENE—THS  B2HL TR ESEE
s —BEARAERT S | D fD o



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Particulars of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals for the year ended December 31, 2024 are set out
in notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements. Pursuant
to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management (other than the Directors)
whose particulars are contained in the section headed “Directors
and Senior Management” in this annual report for the year ended

December 31, 2024 by band is set out below:

Remuneration band

4R

ESNSREEREFHHN

HE2024F12ANBILEEE  EFRhEmaE
A E B BN EE BN AR & SRR M FE8 9 © 1R
BEEERTAIMNFRIEEE 115G aREE
B8 (EEHRIN (HERFERAFRIEERSR
BB | N EE2024F 12831 B It FENH
BiZAE RIS ST -

Number of
individual

AB

Nil to RMB1,000,000

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
December 31, 2024 which give a true and fair view of the affairs of the

Company and the Group and of the Group’s results and cash flows.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out
an informed assessment of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements, which are put to the Board for approval. The Company
provides all members of the Board with monthly updates on the

Group's performance, positions and prospects.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the

Group's ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement by the Auditor regarding their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group is set out in the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 170 to

180 of this annual report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration for the audit and non-audit services provided by
the Auditor to the Group during the year ended December 31, 2024 is

set out as follows:

B ELET N &

BREMEBE2024F12 A3 B IEFERANEBIRME
B MIFERT RGBS T

Amount

Type of Services (RMB’000)
Eix-

i ki (AR¥F )
Audit Services: Annual audit service RS - FEETRIE 2,300
Non-audit services: agreed-upon procedures FEEFT IR : BERF 320
Total wst 2,620

GOVERNANCE POLICIES

To uphold high standards of business integrity, honesty and
transparency in all its business dealings, the Group has established
anti-corruption and whistleblowing policies, which are conducive to
setting a healthy corporate culture and good corporate governance

practices.
Anti-Corruption Policy

The Group also has an anti-corruption policy in place to prevent
fraud and bribery within the Group. The Group has an internal
whistleblowing channel which is open to the Group’s employees to
report any suspected fraud and bribery. Employees may also make
anonymous reports as set forth in the whistleblowing policy. The
anti-corruption policy is reviewed and updated periodically to align
with the applicable laws and regulations as well as the industry best

practice.
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Whistleblowing Policy

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy (the
“Whistleblowing Policy”], the purpose of which is to (i) foster
a culture of compliance, ethical behaviour and good corporate
governance across the Group; (i) promote the importance of ethical
behaviour; and (i) encourage employees of and those who deal with
the Group to raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity, relating
to the misconduct, unlawful and unethical behavior in any matters

related to the Group.

The nature, status and the results of the complaints received under
the Whistleblowing Policy are reported to the audit and supervision
department of the Group, which is a subordinate body governed by
the Audit Committee, for preliminary investigation. The possible
improprieties will be discussed with the Directors, and determined
by the Audit Committee or the Board, as the case may be, for
necessity of further investigation. No incident of fraud or misconduct
that have material effect on the Group's financial statements or
overall operations for the year ended December 31, 2024 has been
discovered. The Whistleblowing Policy is reviewed annually by the

Audit Committee to ensure its effectiveness.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is the responsibility of the Board for
maintaining an adequate internal control system to safeguard the
Shareholders’ investments and the Company’s assets and reviewing
the effectiveness of such system on an annual basis. The Group’s
risk management and internal control systems are featured with
a defined management structure with limits of authority and well-
rounded policies and procedures, and are designed to facilitate
legal, compliant and effective operation of business, to ensure
reliability of financial reporting and compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, to identify and manage potential risks, and to
safeguard assets of the Group. The risk management and internal
control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material

misstatements or loss.
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The Company has established a risk management system. In
addition, the Company has currently established an internal
control process framework covering business processes such as
sales, procurement, R&D management, human resources and
remuneration, asset management, cash and fund management, and
insurance management, and regularly conducts risk assessments
to ensure the effective operation of risk management and internal

monitoring.

The Company has a designated risk management and internal
control team which is responsible for identifying and monitoring the
Company's risks and internal control issues and reports directly to
the Board of any findings and follow-up actions. Risks and internal
control issues are identified through close watch of regulatory
environment, market conditions and issues or matters concerning
competitors or other industry participants. All departments of the
Company are required to adhere to the Company’s internal control
procedures and report to the team of any risks or internal control
issues. Once any potential risk or internal control issue is identified,
a cross department meeting will be held to address such issue and
to the extent necessary, new policies will be established to manage

such risk.

The Group's internal audit department plays a major role in
monitoring the internal governance of the Company. The major tasks
of the internal audit department are reviewing the financial position
and internal control of the Company and conducting comprehensive
audits of all branches and subsidiaries of the Company on a regular

basis.

On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee had conducted a review
of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024 and

considered them effective and adequate.
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DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company has established a systematic information disclosure
management system, which provides a standardized operating
framework for Directors, senior management and relevant
employees to handle sensitive information, implement disclosure
monitoring and respond to external inquiries. A monitoring system
has been established to strictly prevent unauthorized access and

misuse of internal information.

JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Chen Jun has been appointed as a joint company secretary of
the Company (“Joint Company Secretary’) on November 11, 2022. In
order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure compliance
with the Listing Rules and applicable Hong Kong laws, the Company
also engaged Ms. Fung Po Ting of TMF Hong Kong Limited, a
company secretarial service provider, as the other Joint Company
Secretary with effect from November 11, 2022 to assist Mr. Chen Jun
to discharge his duties as one of the Joint Company Secretaries. With
effect from August 30, 2024, Ms. Fung Po Ting resigned as a Joint
Company Secretary and the Company appointed Ms. Au Wing Sze of
TMF Hong Kong Limited, a company secretarial service provider, as
the other Joint Company Secretary on the same day. Ms. Fung Po
Ting and Ms. Au Wing Sze's primary contact person at the Company
is Mr. Chen Jun.

As the Company’s Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on June
7, 2024, which was less than seven months away from December
31, 2024, Mr. Chen Jun had taken less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the Reporting Period and will be obliged
to comply with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules in the forthcoming year.
During the Reporting Period, Ms. Fung Po Ting and Ms. Au Wing
Sze had undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional

training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Our Group currently does not have a pre-determined dividend policy.
The Board may declare, and the Company may pay, dividends after
taking into account our results of operations, financial condition,
cash flow, operating and capital expenditure requirements, future
business development strategies and estimates and other factors
as it may deem relevant. We may distribute dividends by way of
cash, or warrant. We may distribute stock dividends if our Directors
consider that our stock price and equity scale do not match and
that distribution of stock dividends is beneficial to all Shareholders’
interest. Any declaration and payment as well as the amount of
dividends will be subject to our constitutional documents and the
Companies Act. Any proposed distribution of dividends shall be
determined by our Board and must be approved by our Shareholders
at a general meeting. In addition, we may declare interim dividends
as our Board considers to be justified by our profits and overall
financial requirements. No dividend shall be declared or payable
except out of our profits and reserves lawfully available for
distribution. Our future declarations of dividends may or may not
reflect our historical declarations of dividends and will be at the
discretion of our Board and subject to the approval of Shareholders’

meeting.

GENERAL MEETING

The Company did not hold any general meeting during the period
from the Listing Date to December 31, 2024.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with the
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group's business, performance and strategies.
The Company also recognizes the importance of timely and non-
selective disclosure of information, which will enable Shareholders
and investors to make the informed investment decisions.
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The AGM provides opportunity for the Shareholders to communicate
directly with the Directors. The chairman of the Board and the
chairmen of the Board Committees will attend the AGMs to answer
Shareholders’ questions. The Auditor will also attend the AGMs to
answer questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and
content of the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor
independence.

To promote effective communication, the Company adopts a
Shareholders” communication policy which aims at establishing a
two-way relationship and communication between the Company
and the Shareholders and maintains a website of the Company at
www.easou.cn, where up-to-date information on the Company’s
business operations and developments, financial information,
corporate governance practices and other information are available
for public access.

The Company has established several channels to communicate with
the Shareholders as follows:

(i) corporate communications such as annual reports, interim
reports and circulars are issued in printed form and are
available on the Stock Exchange’'s website at www.hkexnews.hk
and the Company’s website at www.easou.cn;

(i)  periodic announcements are made through the Stock
Exchange and published on the respective websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company;

(i) corporate information is made available on the Company’'s
website;

(iv] AGMs and extraordinary general meetings provide a forum for
the Shareholders to make comments and exchange views with
the Directors and senior management; and

(v  the Hong Kong branch share registrar of the Company serves
the Shareholders in respect of Share registration, dividend
payment and related matters.
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The Company annually reviews the implementation and
effectiveness of the above Shareholders’ communication
policy (with communication channels). The Board has reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholder’s
communication policy from the Listing Date to December 31, 2024
and has concluded that the above policy is effective and adequate
as it provides sufficient opportunity and avenues for ongoing
communication between the Company (including the Board and

management) and the Shareholders.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution will be proposed for each issue at general meetings,

including the election of individual Directors.

All resolutions put forward at general meetings will be voted by poll
pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results will be posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in a timely

manner after each general meeting.

CONVENING OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING
AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS

In accordance with Article 64 of the Articles of Association, the
Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general
meeting. One or more Shareholders holding, as of the date of deposit
of the requisition, in aggregate not less than one-tenth of the voting
rights (on a one vote per share basis) in the share capital of the
Company may also make a requisition to convene an extraordinary
general meeting. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company for the purpose of
requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the

Company.
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Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a
general meeting of the Company according to Article 64 of the
Articles of Association requisitioning an extraordinary general
meeting and including a resolution at such meeting. Such proposals
should be sent to the headquarters of the Company at Room 403,
Building 5C, Software Industry Base, Keyuan Road, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen, China or by email at ir@easou.cn. The requirements and
procedures of Article 64 of the Articles of Association are set out

above.

As regards the Shareholders to propose a person for election as
a Director, the procedures for Shareholders are available on the

website of the Company.
Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board could send their enquiries to the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong at Office No. 6, 13th Floor,
Strand 50, No. 50 Bonham Strand, Sheung Wan, Hong Kong or email

to the Company (email address: ir@easou.cn).

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company
has been amended and restated with effect from the Listing Date,
the latest versions of which are available from the websites of the

Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the period from the Listing Date to December 31, 2024, there
was no change in the memorandum and Articles of Association of the

Company.
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ABOUT THE COMPANY

Founded in 2005, the Company as a digital service provider oriented
towards technological innovation, is committed to creating value
for users and customers through advanced technologies. The
Company’s business structure covers four key areas, i.e. online
reading platform services, digital marketing services, online games
publishing services and other digital content services. During the
Reporting Period, the advertising business of the online reading
platform services and digital marketing services accounted for more

than 90.0% of the Company’s total revenue.

As the core driving force of technological innovation, our
independently-developed Easou intelligent recommendation
engine plays a key role in each business segment. The system uses
advanced data analysis and artificial intelligence technologies to
provide accurate service matching for users and customers. The

operations of our principal business segments are as follows:

1. Online reading platform services: We analyze users’ reading
habits and preferences through deep learning algorithms and
continuously optimize our recommendation strategies, so as
to provide users with personalized high-quality literary content

and enhance users’ experience and our platform value

25 Digital marketing services: We use big data analysis technology
to accurately grasp the characteristics of users’ interest and,
in line with advertisers’ needs, enable the accurate matching
of advertising, so as to optimize advertising efficiency while

ensuring advertising effectiveness
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3. Online games publishing services: Based on a stringent market
performance evaluation system, we select high-quality game
products and make accurate game recommendation and
distribution through user behavior analysis, so as to provide

users with a premium gaming experience

4. Other digital content services: We push value-added services
of telecom operators to customers, including various digital

content such as music and ringing tones

ABOUT THIS REPORT

This report is the first environmental, social and governance
report published by the Company. Through this report, we hope
to demonstrate to our stakeholders the Company’'s commitment
and performance in sustainability, enhance the understanding of
the Company by all parties, and facilitate our communication with
stakeholders. This report also aims to enhance the Company’s
transparency and showcase our ongoing efforts in environmental
protection, social responsibility and corporate governance, as well as

our future development direction.

This report is prepared in Traditional Chinese and English. In case of

any discrepancy, the Traditional Chinese version shall prevail.
Reporting Scope

Based on the importance of business operations and the main
sources of revenue, the Board decided that this report will cover
the sustainability performance of the Company’'s Shenzhen
headquarters and Beijing office from January 1, 2024 to December
31, 2024 (the "Reporting Period”). This report mainly reflects the
Company’s policy practices and performance in three main areas,
I.e. environmental, social and governance. We will use quantitative
data and qualitative descriptions to comprehensively demonstrate
the Company’s results and future development direction in

sustainability.
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Reporting Principles

The preparation of this report complies with the requirements
of Appendix C2 Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide to the Listing Rules, and strictly adheres to the four reporting

principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency:

° Materiality: We identify the sustainability issues that are the
most important to the Company and our stakeholders through
communication with stakeholders and materiality assessment,

and disclose such issues in detail in our report

o Quantitative: We present our key performance indicators
in relation to environmental, social and governance in a
quantitative manner to the greatest extent, and provide the

calculation methods and assumptions as appropriate

o Balance: We truthfully present the Company’s achievements
and challenges in sustainability in an objective and impartial

manner

° Consistency: We adopt a consistent statistical method to
ensure the comparability of data from different periods, and
will explain the changes in our statistical method [if any) in our

report

The data referenced in this report are all derived from the Company’s
internal documents and management system. The Board has
reviewed this report and confirmed that the content of this report is
accurate and does not contain any false or misleading statements,

and assumes full responsibility for the completeness of this report.
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Access to This Report

This report is available in electronic version for readers’
convenience. The electronic version can be viewed and
downloaded on the Company's website and the HKEXnews website
(https://www.hkexnews.hk/index.htm]. If you have any questions,
comments, feedback or suggestions on this report and on the
Company’s sustainability matters, you can contact the Company by

email at Ir@easou.cn to submit your valuable comments.

STATEMENT OF THE BOARD

As a digital service provider oriented towards technological
innovation, we are fully aware of the importance of sustainability to
the long-term development of a company. In today’s rapidly changing
business environment, a company's sustainable development
capabilities are not only related to its own operating results, but
are also closely related to the sustainability of the entire society.
The Board, as the Company’s highest governance body, is fully
responsible for overseeing the Company's sustainability strategy
and performance, ensuring that the Company is able to balance the
needs of environmental protection, social responsibility and sound

governance while pursuing business growth.

We firmly believe that integrating environmental, social and
governance (‘ESG”) concepts into the Company’s business strategies
and daily operations can not only enhance the Company’s risk
management capabilities, but also create long-term value for our
stakeholders. In terms of strategies formulation and goals setting for
sustainable development, the Group is in the early stage, therefore, it
has not yet established clear goals and indicators. Overall, the Board
will actively promote the development of the ESG management
system, regularly review the effectiveness of relevant policies and
measures, and ensure that resources are rationally allocated, so as
to support the realization of the Company’s sustainable development

goals.
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Governance Structure and Process

To ensure the effectiveness of sustainability management, the
Company has initially established an ESG governance structure. The
Board, as the highest decision-making body, is fully responsible for
formulating and supervising the Company’s sustainability strategies,
and assumes overall responsibility for the effectiveness of ESG-

related risk management and internal monitoring system.

Under the existing governance structure, the Board has three special

committees:

o Audit Committee: Reviews and oversees our financial reporting
process and internal control system, nominates and monitors
external auditors, and provides advice and suggestions to the

Board on corporate governance related matters

° Remuneration Committee: Provides recommendations on the

remuneration of Directors and senior management

3 Nomination Committee: Provides recommendations to the
Board on candidates to fill vacancies on the Board and/
or senior management, and ensures that the Board has
appropriate knowledge and capabilities, including ESG-related

management experience

In our daily operations, the Company’s functional departments
are responsible for the execution and implementation of specific
ESG matters based on their areas of expertise. Our management
regularly reports the progress of ESG work to the Board to ensure
the effective implementation of various sustainability measures. The
Board regularly reviews the effectiveness of the ESG governance
process and makes optimization and adjustments based on actual
needs to ensure that the Company’s sustainability management
system can adapt to the ever-changing external environment and

stakeholders” expectations.
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Looking ahead, the Board will continue to uphold our responsible
business philosophy, actively respond to the challenges brought
about by climate change, promote social inclusion and development,
and continuously improve our corporate governance structure. We

are committed to:

o continuously optimizing our ESG management system to

ensure effective risk management and internal control

o strengthening communication with stakeholders, and promptly

responding to their important issues of concern

o strengthening product responsibility, protecting users’ rights

and interests, and maintaining data security

o promoting green operations, reducing carbon emissions, and

contributing to environmental protection

o investing in employee development, and creating an equal and

diverse working environment

We believe that, through continuous efforts and improvements, the
Company will make greater progress on the road to sustainability

and contribute to building a better future.

STAKEHOLDER COMMUNICATION AND MATERIALITY
ANALYSIS

The Company attaches great importance to communication with
stakeholders, and we believe that effective stakeholder engagement
is the key to achieving sustainability. Through diverse communication
channels, we maintain close contact with different stakeholder
groups to understand their expectations and needs and incorporate

them into our decision-making process.
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Stakeholder Communication

Our major stakeholder groups include:

o Investors and shareholders: Through general meetings,

performance briefings, investor meetings, etc.,

communicate with them on our company strategy, business

development and financial performance

o Employees: Through regular performance reviews, internal
communication platforms, employee satisfaction surveys, etc.,

we understand employees’ needs and promote their career

development

. Users and customers: Through customer service hotlines, user

feedback systems, satisfaction surveys, etc., we collect their

comments and continuously improve our service quality

o Suppliers and partners: Through regular meetings, supplier

assessments, cooperation project reviews, etc., we ensure the

sustainability of the supply chain

o The government and regulatory agencies: Through compliance

reports, policy consultations, industry exchanges, etc., we

maintain sound communication and cooperation with them

o Communities and the public: Through community activities,
charity projects, media communications, etc., we promote

community development and safeguard the Company’s

reputation
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Through continuous communication with stakeholders, we are able

to:

o promptly identify and respond to stakeholders” concerns

o optimize the Company's sustainability strategy and measures
o strengthen our risk management capabilities

o enhance stakeholders’ trust and support for the Company

We regularly evaluate the effectiveness of communication with
stakeholders and adjust our communication strategies and methods
based on actual needs to ensure that we can maintain good

stakeholder relationships and promote the Company’s sustainability.
Materiality Analysis

In order to ensure that our sustainability strategy can effectively
respond to the issues that our stakeholders are the most concerned
about, the Company conducts materiality analysis on a regular basis.
This process helps us identify and prioritize the ESG issues that
have the greatest impact on the Company and our stakeholders. The

major steps of our materiality analysis include the following:

1. We identify issues relevant to the Company’s business
operations through industry analysis, policy research,

stakeholder feedback, etc.

2. As this is the first ESG report after the listing of the Group, we
invited our management to determine the materiality of each
issue based on two dimensions, i.e. the impact of relevant

issues on the Group's value, and on the society as a whole
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Through materiality analysis, we are able to:

o allocate resources more effectively and prioritize the most

important sustainability issues

o formulate more targeted sustainability strategies and action

plans

° ensure that the content of our ESG report meets the

expectations of our stakeholders

During the year, the Group considered issues related to our
corporate governance performance and overall operational stability
to be the issues of the greatest concern to us this year. As such,
this report will focus on the disclosure of governance-related
issues, supplemented by the disclosure requirements of the Stock
Exchange, so as to ensure that all stakeholders can have a deeper

understanding of the Group's sustainability performance.

SUSTAINABILITY PERFORMANCE

Sustainability has become an important part of the Company’'s
corporate culture and strategic planning. We firmly believe that
only by embedding the concept of sustainability into every aspect
of our corporate operations can we ensure the long-term and
stable development of the Company. To this end, we will gradually
establish a sound sustainability management structure, with the
Board directly overseeing sustainability matters, so as to ensure that
relevant strategies can be effectively implemented. During the year,
we took a proactive approach and continuously promoted energy
saving and emission reduction measures to reduce the impact of
our operations on the environment. In terms of social responsibility,
we attach importance to talent cultivation and are committed to
creating a sound working environment for our employees and giving
back to the society through various community programs. We also
pay attention to the transparency of corporate governance and have
established a stringent internal control mechanism to ensure that
our corporate operations comply with ethical standards and laws and

regulations.
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Effective Management

The Company is committed to maintaining a high level of corporate
governance. We firmly believe that a sound governance framework
is the cornerstone of sustainability of an enterprise. The Company
has established a comprehensive risk management and internal
control system to ensure that our business operations comply
with the requirements of laws and regulations while protecting the
interests of our stakeholders. Our governance structure is led by
the Board, with various special committees overseeing different
areas of operations to ensure transparency and accountability in
the decision-making process. In terms of corporate governance, we
take a proactive attitude and continuously improve our management
systems and processes. We regularly review and update our
policies to ensure that they are in line with market developments
and regulatory requirements. Meanwhile, we pay special attention
to business ethics and business integrity, and have formulated
stringent codes of conduct, requiring all employees to abide by
professional ethics. Through regular training and education, we have
continuously strengthened employees’ compliance awareness and

established an incorruptible corporate culture.
Employees Management

The Company firmly believes that employees are the most valuable
assets and the core driving force for long-term development of an
enterprise. We fully understand that only with an excellent team
of talents can we maintain our leading position in the fiercely
competitive market. As such, we are committed to creating a
fair, inclusive and dynamic working environment where every
employee can give full play to their strengths and realize their
personal value. We not only value the professional development of
our employees, but also pay attention to their physical and mental
health and work-life balance. Through our diverse welfare policies
and comprehensive career development plans, we ensure that our

employees can grow together with the Company.
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Relevant laws and regulations

HEBERIER

Relevant policies

HERBR

Labor Law of the People” s Republic of China
(REARLMBELEE)

Labor Contract Law of the People” s Republic of China
(hEARKMBLEEHERE)

Social Insurance Law of the People’ s Republic of China
(hEARFAMBEHSREIE)

Regulations on the Prohibition of Child Labor
(BEIHERETIRE)

Employee Performance and Remuneration Policy
CBTHEM - FMBER)

Rules for Training and Development
GEIIBRFIE)

Rules for Recruitment Management
(CHREEERSIE)

Employee Handbook

CEIFHMH)

Employment of Children Regulations
(ERZZERD

o Employment

We believe that employees are the most valuable assets of
an enterprise. As such, we are committed to creating a fair,
inclusive and dynamic work environment. To achieve this goal,
we have developed a comprehensive and competitive human
resources policy to ensure that every employee is treated fairly

and fully protected:

Remuneration and benefits

&=

ARRAREEIRGEREENEE @ Bt
BABORNEE—ERY - BEARMED
MITIERE - RERE—BF  RARET
EHEEEHRFNINANEREE @ BRE
i 8 TEEEB R FHEMEIRE

We provide a highly competitive remuneration package in the industry, including basic

salary, position salary, performance salary, five social insurances and one housing

fund, commercial health insurance, accident insurance and other comprehensive

benefits. Moreover, we also provide equity incentive schemes for employees with

outstanding performance, allowing them to share the Company’s growth outcomes.
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Dismissal, recruitment and

promotion

iR BERES

Working hours and rest periods

TR B R

Equal opportunities

We adhere to the principles of openness, fairness and impartiality and have established
a comprehensive talent evaluation system. During the recruitment process, we
comprehensively consider the applicants” professional competence, work experience,
personal qualities and development potential. In terms of promotion, we conduct
comprehensive performance appraisals on a regular basis, providing outstanding
talents with clear career development paths based on multiple dimensions such as
their work performance, capabilities, teamwork and leadership. If any employees
resign, the Group will ensure that they have completed the resignation procedures in
accordance with the requirements of laws and regulations and the Group’s policies and
have received adequate salary, severance pay or other compensation. If employees are
dismissal, the Group will ensure that they are informed of the reasons.

HARBAR  2F  AEMRA - BY TEENALFHEER - EHREBEEES - &
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(e - EE TEFEMEMR - AEESEARMGANTHERER

We strictly abide by the working hours stipulated by the Labor Law and have
implemented a flexible working system so that employees can better balance work and
life. In addition to statutory holidays, we provide additional paid annual leave, marriage
leave, maternity leave/paternity leave, compassionate leave, etc. Meanwhile, we also
support our employees to apply to work from home under special circumstances,
reflecting our humane management.
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We provide equal development opportunities for all employees, regardless of gender,
age, race, religious beliefs, marital status, disability, etc. In every aspect such as
promotion, training and remuneration adjustment, we insist on using ability and
performance as the only criteria for judgment to ensure that every employee receives
fair treatment and development opportunities.
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Diversity policy

Z LR

Anti-discrimination measures

We firmly believe that a diverse team can bring more innovative thinking and
competitive advantages. As such, we actively recruit talents from different cultural
backgrounds, educational backgrounds and professional fields, and create an open and
inclusive corporate culture through various team-building activities, cultural exchange
programs, etc., so as to facilitate communication and cooperation among employees
from different backgrounds.

BAREZTTAENBERENTRELZRIF BEMBZFEE - At - RAIEBERKE
TRAXIEER BEKENEEXFENAT - WEBZH(CHBERES) - LR
gE773 - EERABETNEERXEAE  RETRABERE T ZRMNMESE -

We have zero tolerance towards any form of discrimination, harassment or
inappropriate behavior in the workplace. The Company has a dedicated anti-
discrimination policy and complaint mechanism to ensure that employees can work in
a safe and respectful environment. We regularly conduct relevant training to enhance
employees” anti-discrimination awareness, and have set up a special working group to
handle relevant complaints and suggestions in a timely manner. All complaints shall

be dealt with promptly and fairly, while ensuring that the complainant’s privacy is fully

protected.
U ki B8 TESMERTERNER BB AETRAEIERTREE - RalREHM
B R BARBUR AR E] - RE TRMELR S  XEENREFEPITE - HMITHHR
EAEBE - ReEEIORBREH - YR UFFINIE N - REEEBERFN
#iE - TARFHREIAE RENRE - RNBRIRFANBILEIZORE -
We regularly collect employees’ feedback through various channels HATHBEBEETWEEAST  2PHEE -
such as employee satisfaction surveys, departmental meetings EREZEBRBEWNEEIRE  WIRER
and interviews, and review and optimize relevant policies based on B AR R E TR A AR o R - F AP
the feedback. Meanwhile, we have established a comprehensive BYTRENAMEEHKE  DEETIRS
internal communication mechanism, including employee suggestion - AEwRE - BAEIEXKESS  SEE8
boxes, internal forums, monthly employee seminars, etc., so as to TR BN B BCR H FIl E Ao - F P8
encourage employees to actively participate in the formulation and 5 REESUEIHET S BIELERE -
improvement of company policies. We believe that only when every NEIA BRI FEER

employee can fully realize their potential can the Company achieve

sustainability.
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Health and safety

As an Internet company oriented towards technological
innovation, we are fully aware that the health and safety of
employees is an important cornerstone for the sustainability of
an enterprise. Even though the nature of our business is mainly
office-based with relatively less exposure to occupational
safety risks in traditional industries, we still attach great
importance to workplace health and take comprehensive
measures to ensure the physical and mental health of our
employees. For example, we regularly assess and improve our
office environment, including ensuring sufficient natural light
and comfortable desk and chair arrangement. Among which,
we pay special attention to the vision protection of computer
users by installing blue light blocking screens at workstations
and encouraging employees to take regular eye breaks.
Moreover, in view of long-term computer use, we carry out
training on the prevention of occupational diseases, including
guidance on correct sitting posture, promotion of work-
break exercises and recommendation on regular stretching
exercises. Meanwhile, we provide annual health checkups and

health consultation services for our employees.
Development and training

Easou Technology fully understands the importance of
employee training to the Company and personal development.
Qur training is based on two major directions: on the one
hand, we closely integrate training targets with the Company’s
development strategy; and on the other hand, we focus on
human resources development to build an excellent team and
learning-based organizational culture, so as to continuously

improve employees’ professional knowledge and work ability.
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Our training programs cover three major areas:

1.

New employee training: To help new employees quickly
adapt to the work environment, we provide two stages of

training:

o Onboarding guidance: Conducted in the first week
of employment, in which senior employees will
guide new employees to understand the Company’s

structure and operations

o Onboarding training: Conducted at the end of each
month, covering corporate culture, core values,

career development, etc.

Technical salon training: Targeted at key employees,
such training is provided to enhance their professional
skills and share industry trends. Each department
can arrange training according to actual needs. Some

suitable training shall be open to all employees

Management training: Designed for middle and senior
management personnel, such training is focused
on improving their innovation ability, leadership and
communication skills, helping them to implement
corporate strategies and manage the team more

effectively
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Moreover, we have established a comprehensive career
development system, including management and professional
development channels, so that employees can choose the
appropriate development path according to their personal

expertise. Our promotion system is based on the following

principles
1. Emphasize both moral character and performance
2. Implement level-by-level promotion, and only special

talents can be promoted skipping levels

3. Provide flexible development channel switching

opportunities

4. Determine promotion and demotion based on

performance appraisals

We conduct quarterly or semi-annual performance appraisals
for different positions, and gain a deep understanding of
employees’ behavioral and management capabilities through
methods such as employee self-evaluation and interviews with

superiors.
Labor standards

The Company strictly complies with the laws and regulations
on preventing child labor and forced labor, and has formulated
relevant policies and measures to ensure compliant
operations. During the recruitment process, our human
resources department carefully verifies the applicants’
identification documents to ensure that they are of statutory

working age.
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To prevent forced labor, we take the following measures:

1. Establish clear working hours and overtime system to 1.

ensure that employees have adequate rest time

2. Sign legal labor contracts with all employees, 2.

clearly stating the working conditions and rights and

responsibilities

3. Establish grievance channels so that employees can 3.

safely report any improper behavior

4. Conduct internal audits regularly to ensure that all 4.

departments comply with relevant policies

If any violations are found, the Company shall immediately
investigate such issue and take rectification measures. During

the Reporting Period, the Company did not identify any cases of

violation involving child labor or forced labor.

Supply Chain Management

Relevant laws and regulations

HEBERIER
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HEREE

Relevant policies

HERIBR

Tendering and Bidding Law of the People’s Republic of
China

(hEARFMBRBRIZRE)

Government Procurement Law of the People’'s Republic of
China

(PEARAMBBRAFREL)

E-Commerce Law of the People’s Republic of China
(PEARANMBEEFEHLE)

Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
(PEARLMBEERDE)

Anti-Monopoly Law of the People’'s Republic of China

(hE AR MBI 2 BEENE)

Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of
China

(PEARAMBERNEZHFIE)

Rules for the Management of Marketing Procurement of
Easou

(EETSHERRBEESE)

Rules for the Management of Game Publishing
Procurement of Easou

(ERBERBEITREEEGE)

Measures for the Cooperation Management of the Value-
Added Business Department

CGEEXRFBAIEEERE)

Rules for the Management of Copyright Collection of Easou
(ERREREEEFE)
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We have developed comprehensive rules for the management
of marketing procurement to standardize the supplier selection,
assessment and management process. Such rules shall apply to
the marketing business of the Company and its subsidiaries and

branches.

In terms of supplier admission and assessment, we have stringent
admission requirements for suppliers. Suppliers must be legally
established, have relevant business qualifications, have been
established for at least one year, and maintain cooperative

relationships with at least two mainstream media outlets.

In the selection of suppliers, we conduct a comprehensive
background check to grasp information on their time of
establishment, organizational structure, equity structure, etc. We

assess high-quality suppliers based on the following criteria:

o They respond swiftly, handle requests timely and cooperate

actively
o They proactively grasp the latest market trends

° They possess high-quality media resources and policy

advantages
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In terms of supplier management and monitoring, we have
established a comprehensive management mechanism. We review
suppliers’ qualification documents every year to ensure their
continuous compliance, and conduct performance assessments
on suppliers every quarter from multiple dimensions such as
cooperation policies, resource quality, service standards and
compliance performance. We shall promptly terminate our

partnership with suppliers that fail to meet our requirements.

In addition, we attach great importance to supply chain risk
management and pay special attention to several important areas.
Firstly, we closely monitor the supplier selection process to avoid
quality and price risks caused by improper selection. Secondly,
we strictly regulate the preparation and review of all cooperation
documents to reduce possible legal risks. Moreover, we cautiously
assess and select media channels to prevent financial losses
due to improper selection. In terms of environmental and social
performance, taking compliance as the benchmark, we expect our
suppliers to comply with all environmental, social and governance-
related laws and regulations, and also share the same value as the

Company to provide longer-term value to the society.

We regularly check and evaluate the weak aspects in the cooperation
process and take effective control measures to ensure that our

supply chain management meets the Company's business needs.
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Product Responsibility Management

Relevant laws and regulations

HEEBIER

EmEIERE

Relevant policies

HERBR

Copyright Law of the People’s Republic of China
(PEARLMBEZERE)

Cybersecurity Law of the People’s Republic of China
(PEARAMBEBE LX)

Data Security Law of the People’s Republic of China
(PEARAMBEZIEL2E)

Personal Information Protection Law of the People’s Republic

of China

(PEARLMBEEAESREE)

Administrative Measures for Internet Information Services
(EEBESRBEREIVE)

Administrative Regulations on Internet Publishing Services

(R HRRIRTE B IR R E )

Administrative Regulations on Mobile Internet Application

Information Services
(BB EHMAEREREREERBEERE)

Regulations on the Protection of Minors in Cyberspace

CRACE NBRBIREIRD])

Implementation Plan for Data Grading Protection of Easou
(ERBEBEORREERTER)

Rules for the Management of Copyright Collection of Easou
(ERREREEEFE)

Regulations on the Management of Content Review of Easou
(EERBREREERE)

Rules and Regulations for Customer Services
(ERAEGEZ)

Detailed Rules for the Protection of User Personal
Information and Data Security of Easou
(ERRAFPEAGERERBIEZZHTARD

Rules for the Contingency Response of Data Security
Incidents

(BEEZ2EMESERSZ)

Rules for the Management of Data Security

(B2 ERHE)

Measures for the Management of User Information Security
Protection

(APERL2REEEIE)

Rules for the Management of Intellectual Properties
(HBEREEHE)

Regulations on Cybersecurity Management

(BELEEERE)
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The Company attaches great importance to product quality
management, and we have established a comprehensive quality
control system. In terms of quality standards, we have developed
and implemented stringent standardized processes for product
development, testing and release. To ensure product quality,
we conduct multiple rounds of testing before product release,
including functional testing, performance testing and safety testing.
Meanwhile, we have established a continuous monitoring system
to monitor product operation status in real time, so as to promptly

identify and resolve potential issues.

In terms of product quality assurance, we have established a
professional quality management team, which shall be responsible
for supervision and control, and conducting regular product quality
audits to ensure compliance with industry standards and users’
needs. We value users’ feedback and continuously collect and
analyze their comments, so as to improve our product performance
and user experience. Moreover, we also provide product quality-
related training to our employees to continuously enhance their

quality awareness.

In order to provide better services, we have established a
comprehensive user service system. We provide 24/7 technical
support services and have set up multiple communication channels
to ensure that users’ complaints and suggestions can be handled in
a timely manner. By conducting regular user satisfaction surveys, we
continuously optimize our service quality and strive to provide users

with the best experience.
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Complaints about products and services and our

responses

When using our products and services, customers can use
a variety of channels, such as customer service instant
messaging software and email, to instantly give their
comments to our customer service staff, so as to ensure that

their issues can be resolved.

To ensure the high-quality experience of our users, we provide
explicit work processes and requirements for our customer
services, including but not limited to the choice of words for
communication, service guidelines and handling procedures.
If our customer service staff is unable to resolve the relevant
issue online, the case shall be handed over to the operations
team for offline handling. While resolving users’ issues, our
team also debugs various program or design problems to
ensure that the relevant problems will not occur again. During
the year, the Group did not receive any complaints that had a
significant impact on its business operations, and comments
from other individual customers have been handled in

accordance with established procedures as well.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - g RERRE

7 o R AR A BV 3% B K FE

BEPECAHMNERMRBHBES - 7T
B BZBRE - PlInFIRANESBET
BHENN  AIRATRAERRER - #
RAEFIEO RS IARRIR

RTRRBPHEREERR  HMRETPR
BRETEMNTHERELESR  B8R4%
FFE -~ RIGTRIREERES - EERAE
EXERREER LR - RERKERH
LEBRESETRE  ERARFEENF
B REREAKRETHERE - HIRERE
RENEHRHR - BFA  ARELEE
MHEBLEFTREATENRF - MEM
ERIMEFERMEZEEREETRIE -

Customer complaints
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BEPRRHERK

Customer services
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the problem online

REEHEGRADR B

Online
problem solving

FEARBR R

Completed
RIS

Solution provided by
the operations team
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o Protection of intellectual property rights

As a technology company with digital content services as

its core, the Company attaches great importance to the

management and protection of intellectual property rights.

We have established a comprehensive copyright management

system that covers all aspects of copyright collection, review,

use and protection, ensuring that the Company’s business

operations are legal and compliant, while protecting the

legitimate rights and interests of right holders.

1.

Copyright management structure

We have established a professional copyright
management team, which is comprised of copyright
collectors, copyright reviewers and copyright
management executives, who each perform their
respective duties and work together. Meanwhile, we have
established a comprehensive copyright management
system, clearly defining and regulating the workflow and
division of responsibilities at each stage, so as to ensure
that our copyright management work is carried out in an

orderly manner.
Copyright collection and review

In terms of copyright collection, we have established
stringent access standards and assessment
mechanisms. We require our partners to have legal
and valid business qualifications and conduct stringent
review on the sources of their copyrights. In terms of
content review, we have established a multi-level review
mechanism to ensure that all released content complies
with legal and regulatory requirements and does not

contain any illegal or infringing content.
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3. Risk management and compliance construction 3. FEk
To effectively prevent intellectual property risks, we have y=Y=}
taken the following measures: AR

- Establishing an electronic copyright file —
management system to effectively track copyright

resources

= Conducting regular copyright review to ensure that —

all content is used within the scope of authorization

- Formulating contingency plans to promptly handle —

possible infringement disputes

= Continuously strengthening employee training on —

intellectual property protection awareness

EEESRER

M e E R - HPIRE T
it -

BUMEXHEFCERRSR
ERREEIRNERUEER

EHIRRRERZ  BEMAA
TR R E AL

HERSIAR - MESREIEA] R
R RIEAD

FEMARE TABERRES B
Eoprpll

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not have any WEMN - ARARBEERNAAERUHS
material intellectual property disputes, and achieved good 1+ MR FEE IR TVEENIS R AFA A » A3 @ I,
results in terms of copyright management. In the future, we PGB E TS MEBERETIEER - NRTE
will continue to improve the intellectual property management BIE  HEIEFTANRNEXNERER -

system, strengthen industry cooperation, and promote the

healthy development of the digital content industry.
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o Ensuring information accuracy and quality

As a technology company with digital content services as

its core, the Company attaches great importance to content

review and management, including but not limited to the

content of various advertisements, promotions, works, etc.

We have established a comprehensive and stringent content

review system to ensure that the content on our platform

complies with legal and regulatory requirements, and are

committed to maintaining a robust network environment and

information quatlity.

1.

Review system framework

We have established a comprehensive content review
management system, which includes three basic
systems, i.e. review of literary works entering our library,
online content supervision, and responsibilities of review
operators. To ensure the quality of content review,
we have implemented a stringent three-level review
mechanism, including the initial review by a professional
review team, which focuses on political, knowledge,
factual accuracy and text standards; the secondary
review by our editor-in-chief level personnel, who shall
review the content again and provide professional
opinions thereon; and the final review by our editor-
in-chief, who shall make a final assessment on the
ideological tendency, social impact and information

authenticity of the works.
Technical support and supervision

We use our independently-developed “Book Entry Review
Platform” for keyword detection and fact-checking
on works through intelligent technology, continuously
review the accuracy of the content that has been
released, and regularly update the banned keyword

library and information verification standards.
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3. Key aspects of review

Our content review covers multiple dimensions, including
but not limited to politically sensitive information,
illegal and unlawful content, objectionable information,
information accuracy, and text standards and quality.
We attach great importance to ensuring the authenticity
and reliability of the information on our platform, and
have a dedicated fact-checking team in place. Through
stringent content review management, we are committed
to providing users with healthy, high-quality and accurate
reading content and promoting the healthy development

of the online literature industry.
Network security and data protection

The Company regards network security and user data
protection as the top priority of its business operations. As
a technology company with digital services as its core, we
are fully aware of the importance of protecting user privacy
and data security. We not only strictly comply with relevant
national laws and regulations such as the Personal Information
Protection Law and the Data Security Law, but also actively
make reference to international advanced data protection
standards to establish a comprehensive and systematic data

security management system.
1. Management structure

To ensure the effective implementation of data security
management, the Company has specially established the
Data Security Management Committee, which is directly
headed by the Company’s senior management. Under
the committee, a dedicated data security executive team
has been established, with the head of the technology
department serving as the team leader and concurrently
as the person in charge of data security. Meanwhile, we
have also set up dedicated positions such as network
security manager and personal information protection
manager, thereby forming a multi-level security

management structure.
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The principal responsibilities of such management team
include but are not limited to: formulating and improving
the Company’s data security protection strategies and
plans, conducting regular and comprehensive security
risk assessments, organizing employee security
awareness training, supervising the implementation
of security systems, coordinating the handling of
various security incidents, and maintaining sound
communication with regulatory authorities. Through this
professionalized management structure, we are able to
better prevent and respond to various security risks and
continuously improve the Company’s overall security

management standards.
Classified data protection

We have established a comprehensive classified data
management system, which divides data into different
security levels according to their sensitivity and
importance. The highest level is Class S (confidentiall,
which mainly includes users’ personal privacy
information, and is subject to the strictest protection
and control. The second highest level is Class A
(confidential) data, which covers important data such as
user account information, and also requires strict access
control and security measures. We classify business-
related auxiliary information and publicly available
information into Class B and Class C, which shall follow
the corresponding data management regulations even
though their security levels are relatively low. Through
this classified management mechanism, we are able
to allocate security resources more effectively and
ensure that different types of data are protected to an
appropriate extent, thereby comprehensively improving

the Company’s data security management standards.
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Technical safeguards

On the technical level, we have taken a series of
comprehensive protection measures to ensure data
security. Firstly, we have deployed professional security
protection solutions provided by Alibaba Cloud in our
system architecture, including Web Application Firewall,
cloud firewalls and cloud security centers, which
together have built a solid security line of defense. In
terms of data transmission, we use industry-standard
SSL encryption technology to ensure that all data is
strictly encrypted during network transmission, thereby
effectively preventing data from being stolen or tampered
with.

For users’ sensitive information, such as mobile phone
numbers and other personal privacy data, we use a
strong DES encryption algorithm for storage protection,
and use Baseb4 encoding for device information, using a
multi-level encryption mechanism to maximize user data
security. The combined application of these technical
measures enables us to provide users with a safer and

more reliable service experience.
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Authority management

In terms of authority management, we have adopted a
comprehensive and stringent management system. We
always adhere to the principle of minimum authority
assignment to ensure that each employee can only
obtain the necessary authority related to their job
responsibilities. Any application for additional authority
must go through a stringent multi-level approval
process, including review by the immediate supervisor,

departmental head and IT security team.

In order to ensure the effective implementation of the
authority management system, we provide regular
comprehensive security education and training to all
relevant personnel, covering data security awareness,
operating specifications, the latest security threats
and response measures. These trainings not only help
employees understand the importance of authority
management, but also improve their security awareness
in their daily work. By implementing these stringent
authority management measures, coupled with regular
security audits and assessments, we are committed
to providing users with the most secure and reliable
services and fully protecting users’ data security and

privacy rights.
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Integrity Management BREEE

Relevant laws and regulations Relevant policies

HEEBIER HEABE

Anti-Corruption Law of the People’s Republic of China Rules for Anti-Corruption, Anti-Money Laundering and
CHRE A REMBIREBOE) Economic Sanctions

Company Law of the People’s Republic of China CRIBE - RSB KA B SIS )
(REARKMBERBE) Rules for Anti-Fraud Management

Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People's Republic of {REEHEILH|E )

China Whistleblowing Policy

(g AR MBSO #EE) CRBBERD)

Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China

(R E ARLMBILE)

Interim Provisions on Prohibition of Commercial Bribery
(EARBEIERERBITRNEITRE)

Supervision Law of the People’s Republic of China

(hEARKMBEEZIE)

The Company is fully aware of the importance of good business AR FIREARIFHEFEBEH A A FEERMNE
ethics to the sustainability of the Company. We strictly comply with £ o FFIERI&E TR E AR MBI R EEE) &
relevant laws and regulations such as the Anti-Money Laundering ( EMHRANDEHREERER - UHET T=HRE
Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Listing Rules, and /5 RREFEKREEHE -

have established a comprehensive anti-corruption and anti-fraud

management system.
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Management structure and responsibilities

The Company has set up a dedicated anti-corruption
supervision framework, with the finance department as a
permanent body responsible for implementing various policies,
and the internal audit department conducting independent
supervision. We have also designated the audit department as a
permanent body for anti-fraud work, responsible for inspecting
and supervising the Company’s comprehensive anti-fraud

work.
Policies and measures

In order to effectively prevent corruption and fraud, we
have implemented a series of comprehensive management
measures. Firstly, the Company has established stringent
rules for anti-corruption, anti-money laundering and
economic sanctions, which clearly stipulate the relevant
risk assessment, due diligence, transaction monitoring
and reporting procedures. We organize regular anti-
corruption and anti-fraud training for all employees, so as
to continuously improve employees’ compliance awareness
and ethical standards through forms such as case analysis
and legal interpretation. Meanwhile, we have established
a comprehensive ethics hotline whistleblowing system to
provide employees with a safe and reliable whistleblowing
channel, and have taken stringent confidentiality measures
to ensure that the identity and rights of whistleblowers are
fully protected. We also regularly review and update relevant
policies to ensure that they comply with the latest regulatory

requirements and international standards.

In terms of supplier management, before commencing
cooperation, we require all suppliers to sign the Sunshine
Procurement Agreement, which clearly stipulates that both
parties must comply with the principles of integrity and self-
discipline in business dealings and strictly prohibits any form
of commercial bribery. The agreement details the definition of
violations and corresponding penalties to ensure the integrity

of the supply chain.
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Whistleblowing mechanism

Our whistleblowing process is carefully designed to ensure
that every report is taken seriously and handled properly.
Employees may report any suspected violations to the Audit
Committee using their real name or anonymously through
the ethics hotline. We strictly abide by the three major
commitments to whistleblowers: fully protecting the identity
and legitimate rights and interests of whistleblowers, ensuring
that every report is investigated independently and impartially,
and maintaining unobstructed whistleblowing channels
and transparent handling procedures. This multi-layered
protection mechanism enables employees to raise questions

and concerns without worry.
Monitoring and assessment

To ensure the effectiveness of our anti-corruption measures,
we have established a comprehensive monitoring and
assessment system. The Company conducts regular in-
depth fraud risk assessments covering important areas such
as financial reporting and asset management. The audit
department conducts quarterly systematic assessment on
the operations of the whistleblowing channels and submits a
detailed assessment report thereon to the Board to ensure
that any potential problems are identified and resolved in a
timely manner. Through these continuous monitoring and
improvement measures, we are committed to creating an
incorruptible and transparent corporate culture, thereby
effectively protecting the legitimate rights and interests of all
shareholders and stakeholders, and promoting the sustainable

development of the Company.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
R - LB REAWRE

CEEy ]

KM BRREERECEBOL  BRS
—EARRERE G REAGENEZERE - B
TALBREEEGUELREZ TR AE
%Z B g RWEMAISEAERTA - KPR
RBSTEHEBEBANZ KA - 2 RERR
AR F MG AR - BIRE —IERRIPL
BB NEWASE - WHERRIERENE
BHNEEEFEAE - EEZERNIRE
eI 55 B T e S 14 B8 2 B IR [ S RE A &%
)’%‘ °

ERRHE

RERRESERNARE  ZARLT 2
HMERFEER - AREHRRRANE
BRI R G TIE - FHEREREMHRE -
BEEESREAZEREY - FtHE8EFE
WEHRRRENEFEBRETERIEN
- WAEFSRIAMNFERE - #IR
N B AR EERE - FiBELR
BTN RMUCERE - BPIBARITE
FOZBERNDEE - BRREEBRAM
FihENaEER  ERRTNIHERRE -

2024 ANNUAL REPORT F#g

147



148

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R g MERRE

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

As a company oriented towards technological innovation, we
are fully aware of the importance of environmental protection to
sustainability. We are committed to integrating environmental
protection concepts into every aspect of our business operations,
continuously optimizing resource utilization efficiency, reducing
carbon emissions, and promoting green office. We will achieve
balanced development between business growth and environmental
protection through innovative technologies and management
approaches. Meanwhile, we will actively cultivate employees’
environmental awareness and facilitate the formation of an
environmental protection culture with the participation of all
employees, so as to contribute to building a better and more
sustainable future. Due to the nature of its business, the Group’s
impact on the environment is limited except for purchasing
electricity. Therefore, apart from the Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Group’s business does
not involve compliance with other special environmental laws and
regulations, and the Group was not aware of any environmental

violations during the year.
Emissions Management

In terms of emissions management, the Group's emissions
are mainly from the use of vehicles and electricity. As such, we
mainly focus on controlling greenhouse gas emissions in our daily
operations and achieve carbon reduction goals by improving energy
efficiency. Among which, we take indirect emissions from the use of
electricity as our main source of greenhouse gas emissions. To this
end, the Company has specially appointed two dedicated employees
to monitor greenhouse gas emissions and regularly track electricity
consumption levels, and has set a specific goal of reducing carbon

emissions in each unit by 20% in the next five years.
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Air pollutants Unit 2024
ZERI5RY By ko
SOx (sulfur oxides) kg

SOxHR &AL T 2.95
NOx (nitrogen oxides) kg

NOx&&1EH) T S
PM (particulate matter) kg

PMA] IR AS&F LT T 0.22
Greenhouse gas emissions Unit 2024
BEREHEK B —E-MF
Scope 1" - Direct greenhouse gas emissions tCO.e

HE— -BERAEREIN WA —RLEE 8.093
Scope 2% - Energy indirect greenhouse gas emissions tCO.e

#HE 2 - BREZE ER BN WA —RLEE 89.029
Scope 3% - Other indirect greenhouse gas emissions tCO.e

#HE =3 EbEZRE ER BN W —RLEE 10.853
Total greenhouse gas emissions tCO.e

BERERENE M SLiREE 107.975
Greenhouse gas emissions intensity [per employee) tCO.e/employee
BERBEE(AETASGHE) M_atiREE B TAR 0.782

In terms of waste management, due to the nature of its business,
the Company mainly generates non-hazardous waste. In order
to properly manage these waste, the Company has established
a comprehensive monitoring system to regularly check waste
emission levels, and provide employees with detailed waste
sorting and disposal guidelines to ensure waste reduction through
separation and recycling, while achieving a 100% waste disposal

compliance rate.

The main source of emissions is the use of vehicles of the Group.
The main source of emissions is the use of purchased electricity.

The main source of emissions is the emissions from the Group's
employees’ business trips by airplanes.

BEEVEESAE  ARARMNERME  FEE4L
MREEEEY - RTEZESEHELEEY - AF)
BN T RENERRLS - T EREEMBEBUKTE
k&S TIRHFAMANED Y BEREEES - BR
BB EOYOR L BEEYMNEL - RRED
100%MERE S XK o
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Waste Unit 2024
BRY B —E-—mE
Total hazardous waste produced tonnes
BEREMRELE 2 0.00
Hazardous waste intensity (per employee) tonnes/employee
BEEEWERE(ABTASGE) W8T 0.00
Total non-hazardous waste produced tonnes
BEERRMBRELS 2 0.39
Non-hazardous waste intensity (per employee) tonnes/employee
BEERMTBE(ABTAHGE) Wi/ 8T 0.003
Energy Consumption BEiE {5 B

In terms of energy management, the Group’s main energy
source is electricity. During the year, the Group actively adopted
comprehensive energy saving measures to control electricity
consumption. These measures include making full use of natural
light to reduce the need for artificial lighting, flexibly adjusting the
use of air conditioning according to actual room temperature, and
strictly enforcing regulations on turning off electrical equipment
during non-office hours. Through the combined implementation
of these measures, the Company plans to reduce electricity
consumption per employee by approximately 5% every year over the

next three years.

EREREEER ARENEIZHRRERRES
WEFRRBBRN T 2 EAEEREERIZEHHAE
B - EURRERIEONAE AR A TR
FAHEK  REERZRENBEEHBZRER » A
RERHITIER AR R ERRENATE - B8
BUEENGEESER - AAASERKR=ZFAEF
D #I5%H) NI E JHFE ©

Energy consumption Unit 2024
REIR(E A B —B-NF
Direct energy MWh

HERER JE LB 35.664
Indirect energy MWh

IR BEIR JKELRF 165.913
Total energy consumption MWh

RERAEFEE JKELRs 201.577
Energy consumption intensity (per employee) MWh/employee
BERERABE(ABTAZE) KRR,/ BT 1.461
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Resource Consumption

In terms of water resource and other resource consumption
management, the Company is committed to promoting paperless
operations and cultivating a water saving culture. Specific
measures include establishing a comprehensive network system
to support daily business operations, developing advanced
business and internal management systems to further deepen
paperless operations, and cultivating employees” water saving
awareness through various activities. In terms resource usage
goal setting, the Company has set a specific goal to reduce paper
consumption by approximately 10% over the next five years. Water
the Group used came from municipal water sources. There is no
problem of obtaining appropriate water source. As the current
water consumption is mainly for employees’ daily life, it is not a
major environmental issue for the Group and therefore no water

consumption-related goals have been set.

BREH

FEXREREEMEREREERTE - RAIRNNE
TTEMUEBEWIRRE/KIUE - AREREREREY
TEENRRERREABERES - FETED
EBRABEERGNE-SREBRICES - I
BBREERHRIFEE TMNEKEH - EEREA
BERENHE » RARE THERKEFRDHI10%
REENAERRET - AEER/KSMERHEK - BF
WERBUEY) KR FRE - BRRRAKEERE
THERK - BARKENEWIFERRFHEE © 8
ARERIFREREZ BR ©

Water consumption Unit 2024
Ak B —moE
Total water consumption m3

KBS TR 921.00
Water consumption intensity (per employee) m3/employee

FKBE(AB T ABGTH) SMFHAKSEBT 6.67
Paper consumption Unit 2024
AR R A By —B-NEF
Total paper consumption kg

MRAEREE T 386.69
Paper consumption intensity (per employee) kg/employee

MREAZE(AB TASE) FR/BIAE 2.802

The Group's business does not involve the use of packaging

materials.

AEBEEBAL TSR BEMHHER -
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Climate Change Management

In response to climate change, the Company has adopted a
proactive risk identification and management strategy in the hope of
minimizing relevant negative impacts. In the preliminary review of
climate risks, we can divide the relevant risks into two categories:
one is physical risks, such as the impact that extreme weather may
have on the Company's equipment, facilities and employee safety;
the other is transition risks, which mainly involve the increase in
compliance costs that may be caused by changes in environmental
regulations. However, based on the current assessment on the
nature of business, the Company believes that climate change will
not have a significant impact on its business operations, financial

performance and growth strategy.

SOCIAL INVESTMENT

The Company has always been committed to actively promoting
social and cultural development and youth protection through
diverse community participation activities. We firmly believe that
corporate social responsibility is not limited to business operations,
but also includes continuous contribution to social welfare. By
organizing and participating in various activities with far-reaching
social impact, we strive to play an active role in various fields
such as education, cultural communication and youth protection.
Although we were unable to compile quantitative data to show the
Group’s participation in social development during the year, in 2024,
we continued to uphold this concept and actively participated in
a number of activities with important social significance through
the participation of employees in social activities, covering reading
promotion, protection of minors in cyberspace and professional

training:
Promotion of Reading Culture

We participated in the “Books in Beijing, Reading for the New Year”
publishing and cultural event organized by the Beijing Municipal
Bureau of Press and Publication. We selected festive, inspirational
and positive books and provided them to users for free on a limited

basis to promote the culture of reading for all.
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Protection of Minors in Cyberspace

We actively participated in the “Shaping a Smart Future - Protecting
Minors in Cyberspace” online protection campaign for minors
organized by the Cyberspace Administration of the Shenzhen
Municipal Committee, and are committed to creating a clean, healthy
and positive cyberspace ecosystem for minors. To further implement
this commitment, we signed the Commitment on Model Construction
of Joint Protection of Minors and took practical actions to participate

in the protection of minors in cyberspace.
Industry Development and Professional Training

To improve the professional standards of the industry, we

participated in a number of important training activities, including:

U the 2024 High-Quality Development Training for the Publishing
Industry organized by the Publicity Department of the Beljing

Municipal Committee of the Communist Party of China

o the Online Literature Lecture organized by the Beijing

Municipal Bureau of Press and Publication

. the Training for Persons in Charge of Key Online Publishing
Enterprises organized by the Publishing Bureau of the Central

Propaganda Department

RRF A B RE

BAER S BRI TR B E AN [E 5 RKE
BREE IR E AR ILETE - BORSRKE
ANEEREA - B - BENBELERRE - RfE—
FEEE G RPIRE T RRFAEEERR
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APPENDIX P 62

Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) BARE ISR
Environmental KPIs 2024  Unit
BRIRRARERER “EoME By
Air pollutant emissions
ZERITRMBEN
NOx (nitrogen oxides) kg
it 295 Tw
SOx [sulfur oxides]) kg
ekl e 0.00 T3
PM (particulate matter) kg
AI IR ASRF R 022 T
Greenhouse gas emissions
BERBHER
Scope 1 tCO,e
#E— 8.09 AME—&ItIxE=E
Scope 2 tCO,e
&E— 89.03 AM_AtIREES
Total greenhouse gas emissions tCO.e
RERBABNE 10.85 RWE_S({tIEE
Greenhouse gas emissions intensity tCO,e/employee
BERETE 0.78 AM_S{LIxEE BT
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Environmental KPIs 2024  Unit
RIBRARENER TEIME By

Waste

2537

Total non-hazardous waste produced tonnes
BEBRRMEE 0.39 ANE
Non-hazardous waste intensity tonnes/employee
EEEEYTE 0.003 XM ET
Total hazardous waste produced tonnes
BEREMEE 0.00 AME
Hazardous waste intensity tonnes/employee
BERENTE 0.00 AW/ ET
Energy consumption

BEIRBE A

Direct energy MWh

BHERER 35.66 JKEK

Indirect energy MWh

IR 165.91 JKFLE

Total energy consumption MWh
REREREE 201.58 JKE K

Energy consumption intensity MWh/employee
REREE 1.46 JKEFs BT
Water consumption

RKE

Total water consumption m3

BREkE 921.00 VK

Water consumption intensity m3/employee
kTS 6.67 KBTI
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Social KPIs 2024
HERRERER —E-mE
Workforce
EBEAH
By gender Male
<l St 80
Female
poglid 58
By age group 18-24
Fhe 18-241% 7
25-34
25-345% 51
35-44
35-44BR, 60
45-54
45-545F, 17
55 or above
B55BREkIA £ 3
By employment type Full-time
RSV 28 138
Part-time
FREL 0
By geographical region Mainland China
Hb &R B A3 138
Hong Kong
N 0
By employee category General staff
REHER —MRET 103
Supervisors
E 13
Middle management
HAREEAR 18
Senior management
SRERAE 4
Total
e 138
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Social KPIs 2024
HEERENER —E-mE
New recruitment rate
MABBETR
By gender Male
MR S 18.75%
Female
poglid 24.14%
By age group 18-24
FiR 18-24%% 114.29%
25-34
25-345% 33.33%
35-44
35-44BR, 5.00%
45-54
45-547% 5.88%
55 or above
55B%EkIA £ 0.00%
By employment type Full-time
RSV 28 21.01%
Part-time
B 0.00%
By geographical region Mainland China
bl B A3 100%
Hong Kong
N 0.00%
By employee category General staff
REER —RET 28.16%
Supervisors
B 0.00%
Middle management
RREEABR 0.00%
Senior management
SREEAE 0.00%
Total
e 21.01%
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Social KPIs 2024
HEERENER —E-mE
Employee turnover rate
EERAER
By gender Male
<l St 22.50%
Female
poglid 34.48%
By age group 18-24
FiR 18-2475% 57.14%
25-34
25-345% 54.90%
35-44
35-44BR, 8.33%
45-54
45-547% 0.00%
55 or above
55B%EkIA £ 33.33%
By employment type Full-time
RSV 28 27.54%
Part-time
B 0.00%
By geographical region Mainland China
[ B A3 0.00%
Hong Kong
B -
By employee category General staff
REHER —RET 36.89%
Supervisors
B 0.00%
Middle management
HAREEAR 0.00%
Senior management
SREEAE 0.00%
Total
e 27.54%
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Social KPIs 2024
HEERENER —E-mE
Employee health and safety
EERREZE
Number of work injuries
THBEAE 0
Lost days due to work injury
BATBERATIERH 0
Number work-related fatalities
EATTHAR 0
Number of employees trained
EEFIAR
By gender Male
M5 S 37.50%
Female
pogid 31.03%
By employee category General staff
BAR —RET 40.78%
Supervisors
*E 23.08%
Middle management
RREREAB 16.67%
Senior management
SREBAS 0.00%
Total
B 34.78%
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Social KPIs 2024
HERRERER —BComEF
Average training hours completed per employee
& & 19553 BF R (B
By gender Male
5 S 0.75
Female
oy 0.66
By employee category General staff
B AR —fMET 0.83
Supervisors
FE 0.46
Middle management
HREEAR 0.33
Senior management
SREBAE 0.00
Total
LSS 0.71
Number of suppliers
HEFHE
By geographical region Mainland China
iR B At 190
Hong Kong
BE 1
Others
Hitb & 3
By type Raw material suppliers
it R RE R 0
Other product suppliers
HipEm it ER 1
Service suppliers
AR5 e 203
Suppliers implementing relevant practices Number and percentage of suppliers that have
implemented relevant procurement practices
MITHRRES Z ftrem ERTHRBENHEERZE AN 100%
Number and percentage of suppliers that have
implemented relevant ESG practices
EMITARESCIENINHEREEE RASL -4
Total
e 204
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Social KPIs 2024

HERRERER —E-NF

Anti-corruption training

REFHEI

Average training hours® Employees

5 IR B (/)N ) BT 0.00
Directors
B= 0.00

4 The Group is revising the relevant policies for managing suppliers’ 4 KEBIFIEF]E B HRERESCK T RAFCIRE

ESG performance and green procurement to ensure that our
suppliers have good ESG risk management performance. We
will disclose the number and percentage of suppliers that have
implemented relevant ESG practices once the relevant revisions
are completed.

2 During the year, the Group did not organize any formal anti-
corruption training for employees. However, we have publicized
various anti-corruption-related policies and compliance
requirements in our daily operations to ensure that all employees
and management possess the relevant knowledge.

HIIEREIR - TEIR (I B A 5 R 4F YESG L%
EHEXYE - IS ERBIEETTHRE  KES
HITHRIESCIEIRY R EREE RE DL -

HEFA  AEBLARRESAE TEPRIER
Al - ABRAFIE £ H 7 EE 5 &R IR B
HIKRREHRBSETTEE  BRIIBEETR
B B A 15 1555 78
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Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide IRiE - HEREAQREIESIZED]

Index
Page Index/
Aspect Content Notes
B RE EWRG| i
A1. Emissions
A1
General Disclosure Information on: 148-150
(a)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
—fRIER BRERMEEREHN - FKRLHHEES AENREBEEERVNELFH
(&) HXR: R
(b) EFTHETABEARZENHBEEERNROIWER -
A1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. 149
B iEsE R ARRA B A EN IR -
A12 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions 149, 154
and intensity.
Bk (BEN) MR (BE2))RERBHNEREE
A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and intensity. 150, 154
ELEEREMRERER -
Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and intensity. 150, 155
ELBEERMBELRER -
A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. 148-150
R PTRT M VBN E B iR R ARG L B IR 8K -
Al.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, anda 148-150

description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
iR A ENEZREEYMNIE - REAFET AR B IR R REDEL R
IRFTEREX A 225
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Page Index/

Aspect Content Notes

B R E®RG| R

A2. Use of Resources

A2 ERER

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other ~ 150-151
raw materials.

—RIKE BRERER(BIELIR - K REMERME)BBER -

A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type in total and intensity. 150, 155
REABDMEELR SEREREEERTE -

A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. 151, 155
HFEKENTE -

A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s] set and steps taken to achieve 150
them.
foa FrRTSZ BV BERE A et B AR R A RS Lk B RFTERERH) P B

A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for 151
purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HAUSKEGE R KR LR BERRE - ARFRISMRKRE B IR R AERELE
BARFTERENH) 2B

A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products and with reference to per 151
unit produced.
HNmPTABEMHNEERBEEEMLE -

A3. The Environment and Natural Resources

A3 RERRRER

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment 148-151
and natural resources.

—RIKEE RIEEIT AR R AR EREREAZ ENBR °

A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and 148-151

natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

BAEBEEBERBELRAERNEAFENERNERERTENTE °
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Page Index/
Aspect Content Notes
=] AR =L P

Aé4. Climate Change
AL RIRZAE
General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues 152

which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

—RIKE BRI MEH DN ARG HBRITAELEFENEARBEBEENRE -
A4 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, 152

and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

BB RAREEHETAELEVENEARKERSTE - REHTE -

B1. Employment

B1.fEf®
General Disclosure Information on: 125-128
(a)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.
—MRIKRE BRAFH N AE  BELERN  TESE - REY - TERE 2t RSB
LA Bt 15528 e AR A
(a) B K
(b) EFHBETABEAFENHBERNROINER
B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical 156-157
region.
RIS - EBERDE - FiedR b RE S HIES B -
B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. 158

RIER - FicER RitR B D BERRLE -
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Page Index/
Aspect Content Notes
J=JET] AFS Bl RS fHE
B2. Health and Safety
B2.@ER%E 2
General Disclosure Information on: 126, 129
(a)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting employees
from occupational hazards.
—RIRE FRARMZETHEREMRERERSBEBELEEN
(@) BER: &
(b) BTHEITAGEAZENHERZNAOINER
B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past 159
three years including the reporting year.
BE=F(BRERFE)SFATTHMNABRLE -
B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. 159
EIBBAIIERS -
B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how 129
they are implemented and monitored.
R PR B R R R R 245716 - A RMERRIT MEER A »
B3. Development and Training
B3. 3¢ f& R 33
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging duties 129-131
at work. Description of training activities.
—RIRE BRARTHE B BT TIERE M AR N BB BUR - fiEFEE -
B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category. 159
RUERREERERIESNZIEEA DL
B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee 160
category.

BRI R EBERE D - BREETREIIN TR -
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Page Index/
Aspect Content Notes
J=JET] AFS Bl RS fHE
B4. Labour Standards
B4.%5 T %8|
General Disclosure Information on: 126, 131-132
(a)  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
—fRIER BRI IEET3aaH 5T
(a) B Rk
(b) EFTHETABEARENHBERNROINES -
B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and 131-132
forced labour.
ftiRsT R E DI E AR R E T MR HS T -
B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. 131-132
HILE SRR RIS A B SRR S8 -
B5. Supply Chain Management
B5. (BT
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. 132-134
—RRIN R EEHERENRE L SREBREBUR
B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.
iR B MHEREE -
B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers  132-134, 160
where the practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented
and monitored.
AR R EEENES - AERTABEBEINHERHEE - LAKRBEREHNT
REFTTE -
B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along 132-134
the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.
A R R RS AR RE L SRRNER - ARBRENTRER
TI& °
B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products 132-134

and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and

monitored.
o AT R L FE P R (5 2 R IR IR = o R AR TS HO B B - AR ABRASNAT R BE 52 5
VA o
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Page Index/
Aspect Content Notes
=] AR BHWES| i
Bé. Product Responsibility
B6.EmEME
General Disclosure Information on: 135-144

—RIRE

B6.2

B6.3

(a)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating

to products and services provided and methods of redress.

BRRHERNMREHRZERELZ S - BE  REMLEEEARMBRIDED

(a] B K

(b) EFTHETABEARENHBEEMROIWER -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and  This KPI is not

health reasons. applicable due to

the nature of the

Group's business.

HENRERME
B s
A

EESDEXEMBART AR ERZFEAMABLWRNBEIL -

Number of products and service related complaints received and how they 137

are dealt with.

BREBNEm MR RFE B A REE X -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual 138-139

property rights.
T B o SRR ARG AV 1B -

2024 ANNUAL REPORT F#g

167



168

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - g RERRE

Page Index/
Aspect Content Notes
BT AES =L P
Bé6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. 140-141
Due to the
nature of the
Group's business,
disclosure of
recall procedures
is not applicable.
ERAEEER
MY - EmbliK
2R R
B e
i E S48 B2 R EmEIKER o
B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they 141-144
are implemented and monitored.
fitE BE ERMRIE RALBBOR - ARMEERITRERTE -
B7. Anti-corruption
B7.RE’5
General Disclosure Information on: 145-147
(a)  the policies; and Due to the

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

—RHE BRI IEFEER « $1R « HGEREBEM -
a] BoR: &k

(b) EFTHETABEARENHBERNROINER -

nature of the
Group's business,
extortion and
fraud are less
relevant and the
related issues are
not material.
R E L
g HREEGF
BRI UK
ARBEYTE

Ego
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Page Index/
Aspect Content Notes
J=JET] AFS BRI
B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought During the year,

against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the

outcomes of the cases.

REBRRALETAREEERHWICELENRSHARMNEE RFRER -

the Group was
not aware of
any corruption
litigation cases.
EER - A&H
WARZEERE
TERFRAZENF o

B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and 145-147
how they are implemented and monitored.
ety EE A b R BRI T - A RABRAA T REER TV ©

B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. 146, 161
ftREERE TIRENRE)SHEI -

B8. Community Investment

BS.HERE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the 152-153
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.

—RIRE BN R2ERTREEMEHEFTENEREEZKEZHEE BHENED
BUR e

B8.1 Focus areas of contribution. 152-153
BT ERSE -

B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. 152-153

EFIHREMBAER o
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Emst & Young LK EETE =TSR Tel B EE : +852 2846 9888
27IF, One Taikoo Place HAHSREEIE795E Fax{3 K : +852 2868 4432
979 King’s Road Kendi—RE2712 ey.com

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

EY:

To the shareholders of Easou Technology Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Easou
Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the "Group”) set out on pages 181 to 293, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including

material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") as issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our

opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is

provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on

the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

RRHNEE

EEERBERESHAMASRMANBTEELER
(TEBEFER DETES TF - BFEXFER
THRENEECEANRESEHE G F A& R
KEFREZ BT —EEE— I - RIZEA ST
Eh @R REE ST EERE TR  &F
BYNEERE  YEETTRFNEMEREE -
BEEHE - BEMESNEREETELEE
RESHNETEREHEE -

FRETSER

REESFCEXEHE  BARFFTFE/EITEAA
HRGEMBHRRTREZCEE - ZFFREE
EEETERGAVBHRRIHAEREE RRET
R ABESUTHZEFTREHREBER - TX
HAEESEENERTNARENTRBEHLE
o

BECRBITE SMETRUE G F 476 MWK
FARECEF BT ZEE  BRERZESE
R ERE - Bt - BENETERITREEE
ARE MG AR RR MR 2 BAHE
Fre BEERITEEFNAER - BREEH MRERA
FRETTEVIZR - RES BN MARS B MR ER
ERTRRRMEE -
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Key audit matter

RRETEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEEFETPNMEEBRET SR

Revenue recognition

Wt R

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group's
revenue from digital marketing services and reading with
advertising services amounted to RMB337.0 million and
RMB226.1 million, respectively.

HZE2024F12A31BIEFE  AEBERBHFEHRBE K
BEEENEEHERSNRES BIAAREI7.08ET
RARM226 1TESTT °

Revenue from digital marketing services and reading with
adverting services is recognised on a specified action basis

once agreed actions are performed.

KEHBFEHERG LB BEENHFHERSOKREZE
BITHEERATHETERIER ©

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED HiERHZIZERER A

Our audit procedures to assess the revenue recognition

included the following:

BRI EUSERNEH R OEN TS

o understood and evaluated the Group's processes
and controls in relation to recognition of revenue
from reading with advertising services and digital

marketing services;

THREHEEEEEERAR S BEENETHER
BREF L HERG K IR KB R

o inspected, on a sampling basis, the contracts with
customers to understand the terms of service
delivery and evaluated the revenue recognition

policies as adopted by the Group;

BT NS EHEPRIIMNER - AT BRBR

SHERTR Ko 7F B 5= B PR A A W s T SRR
o used the computer-assisted audit techniques to test

the mathematic accuracy of the system generated
reports that summarised the key inputs for the
calculation of revenue of digital marketing services

and reading with advertising services;
ERERBEF MR T ERREOHELE

RN ZEREMATAERFEHREREEE
HH BRI RIS Wk ) 3 BB ABUR ¢
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Key audit matter

RRETEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEEFETPNMEEBRET SR

Revenue recognition

Wt R

Given the magnitude of the amount and the significant
volume of revenue transactions of digital marketing
services and reading with advertising services delivered,

we considered it a key audit matter.

ERBFEHERELEERESNHEFHEREG N SR
R BEXRNRBHOEERZHERKN EFRR/ULTI—
THEABEERT R ©

Related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, and 5 to the

consolidated financial statements.

R RBEHN RS MWK L2455 ©

o compared, on a sampling basis, cash receipts from
customers during and subsequent to the financial
year end with invoices issued to customers during

the year;

PATE T i R B TR A e B U R SRR B P
ReYRBFARTPEHDMETETILR

o performed, on a sampling basis, background search

and analysis on major customers/new customers;

BT ABEERS FEFPETESAERD
M

o performed, on a sampling basis, direct confirmations

with customers for annual sales transactions; and
MBI EEFPEERRFEHERS &

o assessed the adequacy of the Group's disclosures in

the consolidated financial statements.

HEEREESAUBBRTOBEEELRAR
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Key audit matter

RRETEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEEFETPNMEEBRET SR

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

B 5 R TE A B A

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had trade receivables
of approximately RMB224.6 million, after netting off a
loss allowance for impairment of approximately RMB5.5

million, representing 33% of the Group's total assets.

2024128318 @ HBRBAEEERENARES SBET
% BEEEEFERIZBHNAEARB24L6E8TT  (hEE
B EEARE33 °

The impairment of trade receivables is assessed based on
the expected credit losses ("ECLs") model which requires
significant judgements and estimates from management.
In assessing the ECL on trade receivables, management
considered various factors such as the ageing profile of
the trade receivables, historical credit loss experience and
both the current and forecast general economic conditions

at the reporting date.

BHRWRENREDRERAREEESE ( [RHBEES
/) BAFE  FEEEEFLHEAHE MM - &
HEEZREGRRNEMEEBER - EEEEEZHA
= MEHRUGIENERE - BENGEEBEER L HRE
B Al R TR B BRI ©

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of trade

receivables included the following:
BEEHEE SRR ENETZFEEATEA

o understood the design and implementation of
related internal controls over the collection and the

impairment assessment of the trade receivables;

TRRARE S RUGIERNWE SR E R A HIE A
ERAE IR ERET A E A ¢

o tested, on a sampling basis, the ageing of trade

receivables at year end;
AT ZORIE E 2 FESGRIB R G AR A BRER

o tested, on a sampling basis, the subsequent

settlements for trade receivables balance;

PAthR 77 VRIS B 2 R RIS R IR B AEE
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Key audit matter

RRETEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EEEFETPNMEEBRET SR

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

B 5 EW SRR E

Given significant management judgements and estimates
are involved in determining the expected credit losses, we

considered it a key audit matter.

BN EE T RBEEEERY REREEIEL ERAE R
EI-I— = #wu\ﬁjﬁtﬁilﬁﬁgﬁ%;ﬁ'élﬁ °

Related disclosures are included in notes 2.4, 3 and 18 to

the consolidated financial statements.

HRE R BEHN R A M WRMEE2.4 - 3R18

J evaluated management’s assumptions and inputs
used to determine the ECLs by considering the
ageing of the balances, credit terms, recent
settlement patterns, debtors” financial condition,
recent communications with debtors and related

publicly available information;

BRERBHRORE  FEGHK  LHEEERN
BIE AR TR ~ AT HI BB T A B8 38 A S AR RS
MARAERER  FEEEERARNETRMEE
B 1R R R AN AR

J assessed the forward-looking information used to
determine ECLs with the assistance of our internal

valuation specialist; and

ERREEERNB T
EEMATEIEER © &

AHERAREERBEER

o assessed the adequacy of the Group's disclosures in

the consolidated financial statements.

HEEREESAVUBBRTOBESL RN
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Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this

regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated
financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,

whether due to fraud or error.

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED HiERHZIZERER A
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic

alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial

reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.

EREFAMBHRARE EARNEFARENGE
SEFELE 2L - BERBR TREEFER
ERMERANARERHELE T ERE - BR3F
BERRESAEHEERRRRIZLEE - SHHE
HMBRZERITER -

ERZBeMMEAREZTRITEEESEVHH
; =

BB R BT RS MBRRARE ZEE

BEENEEAHRANBERABEELTFEARN
HMEFREERM B ERERRARGEERE
VTHABRBESFERZZBMEE - BFEAE
BERRELSRSE @ FRUASNMRE A BIEEMLA
B BEUAIRAREZATHEMEMALER
SAEAIBEREE -

BEARFRDKEZRE - ETRFERRELE
FHERET 2 B AR - ERERRATERE
BEFIR o SARRMRIM ] A IRGEF SR BARR B - A2
TEHA RS SRR BB S B AR AR P e B AR B B
BHMEREMERBEZFHEMBHRERIEL LR
T RIRGIEERX -
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,

or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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3 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

3 Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for
forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for the purposes of the group audit.

We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal

control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.

e HESGMBRRIBRER HBUR
R BREEE  UREAMBHRERE AT
BEBZNHARRBEBEIZNEHR -

o RBVHTHREREZ  URSREEEANE

BAEBEUMHENBRENTDEENF
AHRE  ERYERAMBEHRREREANE
% - BEEARKEE  EBEREHAETEE
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BERARHERE-

TayEe
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is Mr. Leung Yat Him.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

28 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FeBmMAEMmEERE
Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

2024 2023
20245 20235
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Mt AR¥ET T AR¥ET T
REVENUE & 5 604,164 559,045
Cost of sales SHERAR (348,359) (299,317)
Gross profit E7 255,805 259,728
Other income and gains E bl A K as 5 4,132 3,157
Selling and distribution expenses $HE &5 HR (184,952) (153,660)
Administrative expenses TR (43,342) (25,566)
Research and development expenses A (36,126) (37,615)
Fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets 32 A {EzH AIBZEHY
at fair value through profit or loss EREEZ N TE
Wk, (E518) 9,352 (10,925)
Other expenses Hhkx (666) (592)
Finance costs BE KA 7 (5,151) (8,442)
Share of loss of an associate 1 —KEkE R RlEE (68) =
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX BRBiAT (B5HR),HF 6 (1,016) 26,085
Income tax expense FrisBiRx 10 (1,033) (1,074)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FR(ER)ER (2,049) 25,011
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Htt2HEE
Other comprehensive loss that will not REEE HE T~ e =5
be reclassified to profit or loss DEERENHEMEE
in subsequent periods: B8 -
Exchange differences on translation of BERRRVBHRREE
the Company’s financial statements ZIEH =5 (5,406) (4,799)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME  FR2HE (&18),~
FOR THE YEAR Wz 4858 (7,455) 20,212
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ReEBmMEMEERE
Year ended 31 December 2024 #{ 2202441231 H IFF/Z

2024 2023
20244 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BtaF AR¥F T AR¥F T
(Loss)/profit attributable to: AT ATREG(EE),
picrl I
Owners of the parent [SYNEILYEPN (2,085) 24,971
Non-controlling interests FEPEARHE 36 40
(2,049) 25,011
Total comprehensive (loss)/income LA A FE(
attributable to: 2HE(EE),Wes1a 5
Owners of the parent ISYNEIYEPN (7,491) 20,172
Non-controlling interests FEPEA A 36 40
(7,455) 20,212
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE BAREEERIFEA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY FELER(EE), BF
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
Basic and diluted (RMB cents) ERREE(ARED) 12 (0.65) 8.72

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED B EHZIER AR A F]



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MR

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2024 2023
20245 2023
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
KteE AR®T T ARBT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - R kA 13 18,800 19,053
Right-of-use assets FREEE 14(a) 611 228
Goodwill (EES 15 32,273 32,273
Other intangible assets Hih B &= 16 35,854 50,802
Investment in an associate R—RKEE QAR E 17 932 -
Prepayments and deposits FENFIBRIES 19 15,692 688
Deferred tax assets ELEFTEE E 26 2,014 2,444
Total non-current assets IERENEEARE 106,176 105,488
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Trade receivables B S EWHRIE 18 224,561 161,501
Prepayments, deposits and BRRIE - He Rk
other receivables H {h el Zk 18 19 106,842 76,048
Financial assets at fair value through BATERT AR
profit or loss BREE 20 72,324 73,282
Tax recoverable EIEE = 31
Restricted cash SEPR HI3E & 21 1,600 =
Pledged deposit EERER 21 8,500 -
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEFEY 21 160,846 89,081
Total current assets mEEEAE 574,673 399,943
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBAEE
Trade payables Z S ERIE 22 8,309 11,781
Other payables and accruals H bR IE M EETE A 23 13,221 11,070
Contract liabilities aWams 24 16,045 13,814
Interest-bearing bank and FTERIT MEAB AR
other borrowings 23 193,050 84,900
Lease liabilities HEAE 14(b) 332 101
Tax payable JER IR 237 64
Total current liabilities BB ERE 231,194 121,730
NET CURRENT ASSETS REEEFE 343,479 278,213
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #EERREAE 449,655 383,701
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MBI R

31 December 2024 2024412 H31H

2024 2023
2024F 2023F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
BtaE AR%T T AR%T T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Other payables and accruals Efb e IE R ETER 23 228 228
Contract liabilities BHEE 24 3,412 3,897
Lease liabilities HEAE 14(b) 271 142
Deferred tax liabilities ELERIEA & 2 - 100
Total non-current liabilities B AFERTE 3,911 4,367
Net assets BEFE 445,744 379,334
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners of the parent &2 A#HE A E(L#ER
Ordinary share capital TR 27 22 10
Preferred share capital B 27 - 11
Other reserves HibfEE 29 445,058 378,685
445,080 378,706
Non-controlling interests FEEARE 664 628
Total equity HarERs 445,744 379,334

Wang Xi
EE
Director

EF
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Chen Jun
BR#9
Director

EF



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEREBR

Year ended 31 December 2024 #{ 2202441231 H IFF/Z

Attributable to owners of the parent

BATEE AL
Ordinary  Preferred Exchange  Statutory Non-
share share Share Merger Capital fluctuation ~ surplus  Retained controlling Total
capital capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve profits Total interests equity
EiR® iR FER
EERA  EiRA  RORE AHRE  S4ARG R R REEA Eh B 4EE
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
AR¥TR ARETR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARETR ARETZ ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
[note 29a)) * Inate 29/6)) [note 25c))
(Fi290a1)  (Fiiz29le)) (Bet23/c))
At 1 January 2024 ROUEIAIR 10 11 570623*  [525885)* 3,899 (47990 22,027 312,820+ 378,706 628 379,33
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - - (2,085 (2,085) 3% (2,069)
Other comprehensive loss for the year: EREMRERE
Exchange differences on translationof the ~ BEARTEBRREEL
Company's financial statements EixR - - - - - (5,406) - - (5,406) - (5,408)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ENREEEER - - - - - (5400 - oss (749 % (7455
Transfer from retained profits ERAREER - - - - - - 1,288 (1,288) - - -
Conversion of preferred shares to RrbeEaREaRH )
ordinary shares (noteZ71t)) i (1) - - - - - - - - -
Issue of ordinary shares (note 27/c)) BILRRME2) 1 - 80,237 - - - - - 80,238 - 80,238
Share issue expense BUESES - - (83 - - - - - (83 - (83
At 31 December 2024 R0UF12A31A 2 - b448T*  (525885)F 3899 (10,205)*  23,315%  309,447* 445,080 b64 4454k
At 1 January 2023 ROBEIAIR 8 - - [y 3899 - 1,613 288,263 256,081 88 296,669
Profit for the year ERE uIM UIM 0 5
Other comprehensive loss for the year: EREMREER -
Exchange differences on translationof the ~ BEARTEBRREEL
Company's financial statements EXZH = - - - 6Tl - - (6 - WM
Total comprehensive income for the year ERRENEER - - - - - L - Mmoo nm 001
Transfer from retained profits ERBREET = = = = = 414 (414) = = =
Deemed distribution to the then equity RIERERREEE AR
owners fnoteZ9fa/li] (H296l1i) - - - (kg8 - - - - (w8183 (448,183)
Issue of ordinary shares (note 27/a)) BTEBR(IE75) 2 - 11,15 - = - - - 11,15 11,15
Capital contribution from holders of EABEEANTEHZ2)
preferred shares note 27/b)) 1 559469 - - - - - 559480 559,480
At 31 December 2023 ROBE2ANA 10 1 570623 (525,885 3,899 [4,799) 2007 3128201 378706 628 37933
*  These reserve amounts comprise the consolidated reserves of Y O REFRBELEEIER2024F 12431

RMB445,058,000 (2023: RMB 378,685,000 and in the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024.

HEt A#7 6 B Bk S & B975 & 1A
B #445,058,000 7T (2023 %F : A R

378,685,0007T) °
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEBRLRER

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

2024 2023
2024 2023F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
KfEE AR¥T T ARMT T
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES &&ZBHMSRERE
(Loss)/profit before tax BrEiAT (E51B),SE A (1,016) 26,085
Adjustments for: BATIEB {ELRIFAE -
Finance costs BB A 7 5,151 8,442
Share of loss of an associate M — KBS A RIE1E 68 =
Interest income A BUA 5 (2,682) (867)
Fair value (gains)/losses on financial assets  #ZAF (AT AEZH
at fair value through profit or loss TREEZ A TE
(Was) &1 (9,352) 10,925
Depreciation of property, plant and M - B REETE
equipment 6 6,807 6,311
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRESERE 6 138 154
Amortisation of other intangible assets H A BT & A8 6 16,353 17,873
Impairment of other intangible assets Hi\EERE 6 6,000 -
Impairment of trade receivables B S EWGRIBRE 6 996 379
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME - BER
plant and equipment RABIEE MEE 6 606 547
23,069 69,849
Increase in trade receivables B 5 FEWGRIAIE N (64,056) (34,853)
Increase in prepayment, TERTFIE - Efth EURIE
other receivables and deposits Rz (46,653) (52,557)
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables Z SNBSS
ORd) (3,472) 3,753
Increase/(decrease] in other payables H eI R ERTE R
and accruals g, CRd) 2,151 (8,485)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities B8 a &M, CRd) 1,746 (2,143)
Decrease/(increase) in restricted cash SBRHIR B, (GEM) (1,600) 2,565
Cash used in operations LSRR S (88,815) (21,871)
Interest paid EAFLE (5,151) (8,442)
PRC corporate income tax refunded A R PTIS TR T 126 1,396
PRC corporate income tax paid BT B ZEFTEH (625) (584)
Net cash flow used in operating activities KEERBMARERE
R (94,465) (29,501)

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED E#ERHEIZRR A R A A



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

,\\/T\/\fﬁi/\ﬁii%

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
KfEE AR¥T T AR®T T
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZEFIEELSHKE
Interest received BUF & 5 2,682 867
Purchases of items of property, BEEME  HEK
plant and equipments RIEIER 13 (7,160) (11,723)
Purchase of intangible assets EERLEE (6,550) (36,493
(Purchase of]/proceed of disposal of (BE) HERQFME
financial assets at fair value through STABENEREE
profit or loss, net FirfS SR+ 58 11,160 (79,695)
Placement of pledged deposit FREERER (8,500) -
Investment in an associate R—KEE QR E (1,000) =
Net cash flow used in investing activities REEBIARERE
EER (9,368) (127,044)
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEEFISELSKE
New bank borrowings iR ITRE N 266,325 142,900
Repayment of bank borrowings BERBITER (158,175) (147,700)
Principal portion of lease payments HENKELE D 30 (161) (165)
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares BT EEIRHIBT G 80,238 11,156
Contribution from holders of BERFBENTE
preferred shares - 559,480
Deemed distributions to the then equity HIERAERZ R
owners of the Group IR A DK - (468,183)
Share issue expense AR D BT (6,373) =
Net cash flow from financing activities BEEEBFSREREF
] 181,854 97,488
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH RERREEEY
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2, (R ) REE 78,021 (59,057)
Cash and cash equivalents at the RENNER & K
beginning of year REEEY 89,081 152,155
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net SN[ Rt Bh 2 28 =48 (6,256) (4,017)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT RERNEER
THE END OF YEAR REEEY 160,846 89,081
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 #{ 2202441231 H IFF/Z

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Easou Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”] was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 9 February 2022
as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Cayman Companies Act. The Company’s registered office is
at Suite 102, Cannon Place, P.0. Box 712, North Sound Road,
George Town Grand Cayman, KY1-9006, Cayman Islands. The
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong is
located at Office No. 6, 13th Floor, Strand 50, No. 50 Bonham
Strand, Sheung Wan, and the principal place of business of
the Company in the People's Republic of China (the “PRC")
is located at Room 403, Building 5C, Software Industry Base,

Keyuan Road, Nanshan District, Shenzhen.

The shares of the Company were listed (the “Listing”) on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”] on 7 June 2024.

During the year, the Company is an investment holding
company. The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Group”] were involved in in the following

principal activities:

J online literature recommendation services
o digital marketing services

. online games publishing services

o other digital content services

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED E#ERHEIZRR A R A A

DNAEHR

R20229F2A98 - BEERRZERAERRAA
([&AFDEERE R DEER S S M
B REREBR AR o ANDQ A A
EE L Suite 102, Cannon Place, P.0. Box
712, North SoundRoad, George Town Grand
Cayman, KY1-9006, Cayman Islands ° ZX A
RIEBEBEEMEMU N FIR B R A505%
Strand 50 1318 6% - AR AP EARKNE
(THE])F2L BRI R L ER
B PR B 2 SR AL 5CHRA03E ©

KA TIRRDN2024F6 ATBEEBHER S
FiARAR([BRADEREM( EH]) -

FR - ARBB—FKREERAF - AQF]
REWBAR (5 [ RElDIEEUTER
ESV3E

o HBFREEBRE
o HFEHRG

o RMBEEITRYG
o  EH@BFATRY



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued) 1. ARERE)
Information about subsidiaries B A BB E R
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as RNATEEZH B AR ESHSET
follows:
Nominal Percentage of equity
Place and date of value of issued attributable to
incorporation/ ordinary/ the Company
registration and registered AAREERER DL
Name place of operations share capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
MR B R R ERTEER
8 REHREE B HEMRAEE E# & TEXK
Easou Technology Limited British Virgin Islands Us$1 100 - Investment holding
("BVI')
14 February 2022
HENRARRA HBERARHS (E 100 - REER
([REERRES )
202242 H14H
Easou Technology (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$1 = 100 Investment holding,
11 March 2022 online games publishing
services, online literature
recommendation
services
HERR(BE)BRAT BB2022F3A118 1% - 100 REER - BIREEET
R ~ BT BB AR
Easou Holdings (Hainan) Co.,  PRC/Mainland China USD95,000,000 - 100 Investment holding
Ltd. 16 May 2022

HERER(EH)BRAR

[notes (a,c)]

EEER (8 ) AR AT R At 95,000,000 7T - 100 REER
(Biztla -~ c)) 20224E5 A 168
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R B et

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (Continued)

Nominal

NEAER )
BB~ BB E R ()

AREEZMBARNFITEIINT « (&)

Percentage of equity

Place and date of value of issued attributable to
incorporation/ ordinary/ the Company
registration and registered FARRERER D
Name place of operations share capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
MR B R R ERTEER
8 REHREE LR HEMRAEE B & TEXK
Shenzhen Easou Technology ~ PRC/Mainland China RMB80,000,000 100 Digital marketing
Co., Ltd. ("Easou Shenzhen"] 27 April 2005 services, online literature
FNEERTEHEROER recommendation
‘REllnote (b,c)) services, online games
publishing services,
other digital content
services
AYEBRTRERHERR  HE/HENM AR ¥80,000,0007T 100 BFEHRY - BFEE
Al(TERI) 200554 A27H HERE - BRBRET

(#iztlb - c))

Guangzhou Ledian Information
Technology Co., Ltd.

BINEEE R REBRAR
[note (b,c))

BINEEE S RERABRAR
(Hfatlb - c))

Beijing Easou Tianxia
Technology Co., Ltd.

LERERR THEAERAR
[note [b,c))

ERERRTHBEBERAA
(Biztle ~ c))

PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000
24 February 2011

/R At ARE5,000,0007T
201142 A248

PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000
08 July 2011

B/ E A AER10,000,0007
201147 A8H

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED B EHZIER AR A F]

R~ At B AR MR

Digital marketing

services

Digital marketing

services



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)
(c]

Easou Holdings (Hainan] Co., Ltd. is registered as a wholly-

foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law.
Limited liability company registered in Mainland China.

The English names of these companies in the PRC represent
the best effort made by the management of the Company to
directly translate the Chinese names as they did not register
any official English names.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,

in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results

for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets

of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in

the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and
Interpretations) as issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, which have been measured at
fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Renminbi ("RMB”] and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (RMB'000) except when otherwise

indicated.

DRER(#)
I A FARBIE R (42)
Wit -

la]  EERFER(EE)BRLGIRETSEEEE
I\ EEERE -

b] R AR A F]

lc)  ZEFPELAREXEFEDLXRFEE
BERANENEEBZEETXER A
ZERRIWAREMEAE S EXEH o

FRIHEZRAUAFEREEEARE
FBRAEE AL EEFHENERANE
DA BEERR - A EMHBRARNER
SLRBBRILE °

SETBER
2.1 RBEE

BHHRDIBBETEGAMAS([EH
BEEMAE ) ROENBBYHRSE
U E(BREABEBN B IS
R - FEGHER([FBEER )
2B AREERAHEDI OB ERE
MREL - ISR IIRIBIE LA B HI4R
2 HERAFHEFARSNSREERR
Sh - HER R TFEFE - RRBEME
O BIIERERTIAARE(TARE]DZ
5 M BES S A EREIH
TR (ARBTIT) »
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)]
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 December 2024. A subsidiary is an
entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee
(i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability

to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control. When the Company has
less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of
an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an

investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote

holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual

arrangements; and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting

rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the Company,
using consistent accounting policies. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the
Group obtains control, and continue to be consolidated

until the date that such control ceases.

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED E#ERHEIZRR A R A A

2. BERBE#)

2.1

RELE (B)
RERE
RAMBHRRERBARA MENBATF

AN
HZE2024F 12 A31 B IF FE BB 75 3R
= o MIB AR RIEA D A E i sk M
HNER(RELAEEER) - 245E
MRS EITEHRABEEEE MES
EREESAI R WEERENERY
BEHRAEN (AR FAEER B
TAE B EHRAEREEN IR B
)R EZZOHRET - BIEUSIEHIE

—RER TAFES BRI AES
RHIHETE - MARBHEBINEBREHR
ARZEIRFRBLERN - BIAREERFT
HERTHEHREHRNENRE
B—UHBAEERIER - B

il

(a) HEREBEHRNWEMEEFTAA
B RRHE

(b)  EAEHLHIELNERN &

(c) AEBNREELEERTE -

KB A RRBEARNE — NG R
mELE — B BRNMEERE - MBA
AMEERAEEESEFIEZAET
iRG » WHEERS EEZIEGIEE L
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)]

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets
and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group

are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is

accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the exchange
fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of
any investment retained and any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or

liabilities.

2.

S BE®)

2.1

RELE (B)

REEEE)

W=

BakEbEmREN AR5
BRASEGRRES AN IFEBHE
@ A R BRI R R E LS
MsgER - BAKBRE AR ZRAR S
BOAAESREARRIREERARE #
@ WA AXEREREBINEHA
AR 2B -

HEE R BRI LA sEN =
BRAEPHEgNALEE  AAKES

EFHEER S IDAEGIREL R © K
BRARR T EHRAIES A &R
S EBERERRHIIRE

HAREERELMB AR MIEIE - 2
RITERHREE(BERE)  8E -
EfRIFEIE R s I [ R B -
BafEREAREREN R FEREM
REESREM - AEBEAETAIEE
Hib 2 MR R D IR B AR EEE
BRHERBEENABMEHHERESE
EFoBEEasmE s (Em)
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards for the first time for the current

year's financial statements.

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the "2020 Amendments”)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”)
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements
and HKFRS 7

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRS

Accounting Standards are described below:

(a) Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the
requirements that a seller-lessee uses in
measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and
leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee
does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. Since the
Group has no sale and leaseback transactions
with variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate occurring from the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial position or

performance of the Group.

194 EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED B3R AR A

2. EFEE#®
22 SHEERREELZE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or non-
current, including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification of
a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be
settled in its own equity instruments, and that only
if a conversion option in a convertible liability is
itself accounted for as an equity instrument would
the terms of a liability not impact its classification.
The 2022 Amendments further clarify that,
among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must
comply on or before the reporting date affect the
classification of that liability as current or non-
current. Additional disclosures are required for
non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity

complying with future covenants within 12 months

after the reporting period.

2.

BRTBE#)

2.2

(b)

S BERBEZE(#)

20205 ERI N BB BEDBA
m@i#m@%ﬁm' BFEAE B

BERERE - URERFER
VERERSHREE - BENS
BAXERITERECESE®E
RRMEMRE - ZRBETINES
BEAMAREAGHERTAS
B AREFEFNERAEDTH
BRERRASEREETAA
RE - BENGRSTTEYER
DR WNFEITARE—FHE
F - EERTHEENBERY
F RAEERBRRER ALY
AESTNROTEFEREDR
BRBSIERE - RERBRHRE
HR12 1218 A A 78 B SFS R R
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

(c)

(Continued)

The Group has reassessed the terms and
conditions of its liabilities as at 1 January 2023
and 2024 and concluded that the classification of
its liabilities as current or non-current remained
unchanged upon initial application of the
amendments. Accordingly, the amendments did
not have any impact on the financial position or

performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements
and require additional disclosure of such
arrangements. The disclosure requirements in
the amendments are intended to assist users of
financial statements in understanding the effects
of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity
risk. As the Group does not have supplier finance
arrangements, the amendments did not have any

impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

HKFRS Accounting Standards, that have been issued but

are not yet effective, in these financial statements. The

Group intends to apply these new and revised HKFRS

Accounting Standards, if applicable, when they become

effective.

HKFRS 18

HKFRS 19

Amendments to

HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 21

Annual Improvements

to HKFRS Accounting
Standards - Volume 11

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability: Disclosures®

Amendments to the Classification
and Measurement of Financial

Instruments?

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture*

Lack of Exchangeability’

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS
7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 72

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2025

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026

J Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or

after 1 January 2027

. No mandatory effective date yet determined but

available for adoption
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Further information about those HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are expected to be applicable to the Group

is described below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have been
brought forward from HKAS 1 with limited changes,
HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements for presentation
within the statement of profit or loss, including specified
totals and subtotals. Entities are required to classify
all income and expenses within the statement of
profit or loss into one of the five categories: operating,
investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued
operations and to present two new defined subtotals. It
also requires disclosures about management-defined
performance measures in a single note and introduces
enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation
and disaggregation] and the location of information in
both the primary financial statements and the notes.
Some requirements previously included in HKAS 1
are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as
HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements.
As a consequence of the issuance of HKFRS 18, limited,
but widely applicable, amendments are made to HKAS 7
Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share
and HKAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting. In addition,
there are minor consequential amendments to other
HKFRS Accounting Standards. HKFRS 18 and the
consequential amendments to other HKFRS Accounting
Standards are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier application
permitted. Retrospective application is required. The
Group is currently analysing the new requirements and
assessing the impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation

and disclosure of the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply
reduced disclosure requirements while still applying
the recognition, measurement and presentation
requirements in other HKFRS Accounting Standards.
To be eligible, at the end of the reporting period, an
entity must be a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS 10
Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have public
accountability and must have a parent (ultimate or
intermediate] that prepares consolidated financial
statements available for public use, which comply with
HKFRS Accounting Standards. Earlier application is
permitted. As the Company is a listed company, it is
not eligible to elect to apply HKFRS 19. Some of the
Company’s subsidiaries are considering the application

of HKFRS 19 in their specified financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
date on which a financial asset or financial liability is
derecognised and introduce an accounting policy option
to derecognise a financial liability that is settled through
an electronic payment system before the settlement date
if specified criteria are met. The amendments clarify
how to assess the contractual cash flow characteristics
of financial assets with environmental, social and
governance and other similar contingent features.
Moreover, the amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying financial assets with non-recourse features
and contractually linked instruments. The amendments
also include additional disclosures for investments in
equity instruments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income and financial instruments
with contingent features. The amendments shall be
applied retrospectively with an adjustment to opening
retained profits (or other component of equity) at the
initial application date. Prior periods are not required
to be restated and can only be restated without the
use of hindsight. Earlier application of either all the
amendments at the same time or only the amendments
related to the classification of financial assets is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any

significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

2.

2.3

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of
a gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction
when the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not
constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investor’'s interest in
that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective
date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was
removed by the HKICPA. However, the amendments are

available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall
assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another
currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate
at a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking.
The amendments require disclosures of information
that enable users of financial statements to understand
the impact of a currency not being exchangeable.
Earlier application is permitted. When applying the
amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative
information. Any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendments shall be recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained profits or to the cumulative
amount of translation differences accumulated in a
separate component of equity, where appropriate, at
the date of initial application. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s

financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards
- Volume 17 set out amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS
7 (and the accompanying Guidance on implementing
HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of
the amendments that are expected to be applicable to the

Group are as follows:

HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in
paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs IG1,
IG14 and IG20B of the Guidance on implementing
HKFRS 7 for the purpose of simplification or
achieving consistency with other paragraphs
in the standard and/or with the concepts and
terminology used in other standards. In addition,
the amendments clarify that the Guidance on
implementing HKFRS 7 does not necessarily
illustrate all the requirements in the referenced
paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor does it create
additional requirements. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial

statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. SIBE#E)

2.3 ERMEERERNEBYBRE

ZRIEFHER (&)

A

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRS
ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments
clarify that when a lessee has determined that a
lease liability has been extinguished in accordance
with HKFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply
paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and recognise any
resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition,
the amendments have updated certain wording
in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of
HKFRS 9 to remove potential confusion. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the

Group's financial statements.

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements:
The amendments clarify that the relationship
described in paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just
one example of various relationships that might
exist between the investor and other parties
acting as de facto agents of the investor, which
removes the inconsistency with the requirement in
paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial

statements.

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments
replace the term “cost method” with “at cost”
in paragraph 37 of HKAS 7 following the prior
deletion of the definition of “cost method”. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any impact on the Group's

financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it has significant influence,
Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee,

but is not control or joint control over those policies.
Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination,
the Group elects whether to measure the non-
controlling interests in the acquiree at fair value or at
the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are

expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes
an input and a substantive process that together

significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host

contracts of the acquiree.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive

income, as appropriate.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or liability is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for

within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group's previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain

purchase.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 December.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’'s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the

Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
(group of cash-generating units] is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed

In a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the

cash-generating unit retained.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its unlisted fund investments at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is
the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that
the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability
takes place either in the principal market for the asset
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in
the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic

best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that

would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of

unobservable inputs.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the

fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active

markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either

directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair

value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each

reporting period.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for a non-financial asset is required
(other than deferred tax assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset's recoverable amount is
the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit's value
in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-

generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset is
allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can
be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating

units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises in those expense categories

consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)]

An assessment is made at the end of each of the year
as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist
or may have decreased. If such an indication exists,
the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of
that asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying
amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the

period in which it arises.
Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that

person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i} has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent of the

Group;

or
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT RaAR B et

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the

same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or

fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of

the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the

third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the

Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by

a person identified in (al;

a person identified in (a](i] has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of

a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the

parent of the Group.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction
in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location

for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure
for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such
parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and

depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful

life. The estimated useful life are as follows:

Computer equipment 3to5years
Electronic devices S years
Motor vehicles S years
Office equipment S years
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year

end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

relevant asset.
Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible
assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over
the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year

end.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Software is stated at cost less any impairment loss and
is amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated

useful life of 5 years.

Copyright is stated at cost less any impairment loss and
is amortised over the contractual lives of around 2 to 6

years.
Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss as

incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new
products is capitalised and deferred only when the Group
can demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing
the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or
sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell
the asset, how the asset will generate future economic
benefits, the availability of resources to complete the
project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is

expensed when incurred.
Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for

consideration.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases
and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises
lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-
use assets representing the right to use the underlying

assets.
(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease [that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised,
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments
made at or before the commencement date less
any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful

lives of the assets as follows:
Office premises 3to Syears

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to
the Group by the end of the lease term or the
cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated

useful life of the asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)]

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the lease
term. The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments] less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease
payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably
certain to be exercised by the Group and payments
of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers the payment

occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate
at the lease commencement date because the
interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the
amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease
payments made. In addition, the carrying amount
of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change
in lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to

purchase the underlying asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

2.  ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. EBFBX#)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 BESTHBEE)
Leases [Continued) HEE)
Group as a lessee (Continued) AEBEEREBAE)

(c) Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to several its short-term leases of office
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). Lease payments
on short-term leases are recognised as an expense

on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Investment and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair value

through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction
costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied
the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the

policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Investment and other financial assets (Continued)]
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
("SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss,

irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or

loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the

Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. BEBEE@®)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2., BESFBER#E)

Investment and other financial assets (Continued) RERHMWEMEE(E)
Subsequent measurement H#EE
The subsequent measurement of financial assets CREEMNEETERTEUTHEM
depends on their classification as follows: JE ¢
Financial assets at amortised cost DEERATTENESRERE
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently NE#ER AT ENeEEERERE
measured using the effective interest method and are BRREFE - WRBRANRE - EEE
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised R HRERR BRI SURERF - Ui K ETE
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified B NHERR ©
or impaired.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BAFESFABZNESREE
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are BRATEFTABEZNSREEJIARFE
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value BRI RDIBE - I8 A EAYE
with net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss. FF BN IE SR ©
This category includes unlisted fund investments which ZERBREIELTESRE - ANEEW
the Group had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair 71 ) 5 [O] Hh i 1 e H A 2 U S IR
value through other comprehensive income. NFEDHE o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. EFEE#®
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2., BESFBER#E)

Derecognition of financial assets KItEREREE

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a HIBANSEE @i E (S (niE

financial asset or part of a group of similar financial RermEEn—osk—HELUSR

assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the BEMN—Z9) BT R A

Group's consolidated statement of financial position) SEMERE VSRR RER)

when:

e therights to receive cash flows from the asset have e WEEWDRREREMNENDE
expired; or K

U the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash s AEBEEEENEEWIIRSR
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation SREF  XERE [E &
to pay the received cash flows in full without PR EEESEREREL TRE
material delay to a third party under a “pass- = HEREXNABGRERENE
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group £ RlAEBEEEEENR
has transferred substantially all the risks and RNEbH R R EFR - k(b A&
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither I R TN AR R B E B AR KD
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks SRR NERR BEEEEEN
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 22 1 4 o

control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive AR EE D EENEERER S RERN
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass- MR ENZH - BleaEeR
through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, REEEFBHERER KB R R FTR
it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of BIEE o WAL EE R (RE EE
the asset. When it has neither transferred nor retained B A EE D B K Bl - IR R e
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor HFEHIRE - BIAEBBAAEEFER
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues RS ARG ETERPTE R EE - 1E:%
to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the BAT  AEENERIEEAE - B8
Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the Group EAE NIBE A ERE RS B FTR
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred BN M EBEELTE -

asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has

retained.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)]

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the
maximum amount of consideration that the Group could

be required to repay.
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses ("ECLs”] for all debt instruments not held at
fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on
the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are

integral to the contractual terms.
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECLJ.
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the

timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)]
General approach (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information. The Group considers
that there has been a significant increase in credit risk
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past

due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a
financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by
the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual

cash flows.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)]
General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the

simplified approach as details below

Stage 1 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss allowance is

measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at
the reporting date (but that are not purchased
or originated credit-impaired] and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount

equal to lifetime ECLs
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)]
Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on its
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic

environment.
Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as

loans and borrowings, or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables

net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, lease liabilities and interest-bearing bank and

other borrowings.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. BIBE®
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 BEETTHER(E)
Financial liabilities (Continued) ERMeEE)
Subsequent measurement H#EE
After initial recognition, trade and other payables RV HERE  BHREMBERFIE -
lease liabilities and interest-bearing bank and other HEBBENARGTERITRAMBERER

borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the effective interest rate amortisation

process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance

costs in profit or loss.
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation

under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or

loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle

the liabilities simultaneously.
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-
term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally
within three months that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value and held for the purpose of meeting

short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined above,
less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and

form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries

in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their

carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable

temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in
a transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible

temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, when the timing of
the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be

utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and
does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible

temporary differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, deferred tax assets
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences

can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each of the year and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are
reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are
recognised to the extent that it has become probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or

part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or

assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to

compensate, are expensed.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for

those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer.
The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is

subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured
at the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the
Group with a significant financial benefit for more than
one year, revenue recognised under the contract includes
the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract where
the period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or
less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Reading with advertising services

The Group distributes the advertisements of its
customers (advertisers) on its own reading platforms.
Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the related
services are delivered based on specific actions |i.e., cost
per action) agreed on the contracts with customers. The
Group acts as the principal as it is the primary obligator
and is responsible for (i] identifying and contracting
with third-party advertisers which the Group views as
customers; [ii] establishing the selling prices of the
specified action pricing model; (i performing all billing
and collection activities, including retaining credit risk;
and (iv) bearing the sole responsibility for fulfilment of
the advertising. The Group acts as the principal of these
arrangements and therefore has recognised revenue
earned and costs incurred related to these transactions

on a gross basis.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Reading with paid services

The Group generates revenue from providing online
literature content to the users primarily through its self-
developed mobile application or web-based platform.
The Group does not develop literature contents. The
Group either purchase the content rights from content
providers in a lump sum, after which the Group would be
responsible for all profits generated and losses incurred
from such content, or the Group charge users directly
for their access to the online literature from the original
content providers and share a portion of the income
with such original content providers. The Group offers |i]
online literature purchased by chapter; and (i) premium
membership services that provide members with book
discounts and other exclusive member services. With
respect to the online literature that are purchased by
chapter, the proceeds from the readers are initially
recorded in contract liabilities and are recognised as
revenue at point in time of purchase by the users as the
Group does not have further obligation after providing the
content to user upon purchase and all other criteria for
revenue recognition is met. With respect to the premium
membership, revenue is recognised over membership

subscription period on a straight-line basis.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)] 2. BEBEE@®)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.4 BEETTHER(E)
Revenue recognition (Continued) WA TR (&)
Online games publishing services WX R ITIRE
The Group engages in the provision of online games REBBBE=F WK T AREERES

publishing services through third party web-based
platforms. The Group entered non-exclusive game

licensing agreements with the game content providers.

The game content providers take primary responsibilities
for game operation, providing game update packages and
customer services, while the Group provides platform
use rights, advertising space, payment systems and other
platform services. When game players make payments
in the game through third party web-based platforms,
revenue is recognised at a point in time when the Group
is entitled to a prescribed fixed percentages of the gross
proceeds collected from the game players as channel
service fee, and remit the remaining amounts to the
game content providers. The Group recognises the
amount collected, net of amount paid to game content

providers, as the revenue on a net basis.
Other digital content services

The Group distributes digital content, such as music,
through cooperation with telecommunication operator’s
music platform. The consumers purchase digital content
through mobile operator. The revenue from other digital

content is recognised at the time of purchase.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Digital marketing services

The Group distributes the advertisements of its
customers (advertisers) on downstream media channels.
Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
related services are delivered based on specific actions
(i.e., cost per action) as agreed in the contracts with
customers. The Group acts as the principal as it is the
primary obligator and is responsible for (i) identifying and
contracting with third-party advertisers which the Group
views as customers; (ii) identifying other platforms to
provide online spaces where the Group views the other
platforms as suppliers; (iii] establishing the selling prices
of the specified action pricing model; (iv) performing all

billing and collection activities, including retaining credit
risk; and (v) bearing the sole responsibility for fulfilment
of the advertising. The Group acts as the principal of
these arrangements and therefore, has recognised
revenue earned and costs incurred related to these

transactions on a gross basis.
Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of

the financial asset.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2. BIBEE)
2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2.6 BEESTTHERE)
Contract liabilities EHERE

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e.,

transfers control of the related goods or services to the

BRABRAREEEEBEERIRSE
Al B %5 P WCHR A SRk 502 B R A B
(ABRFEERE)HER - AHNBERARE
BETTE A (B ERE MR H 12
HEEETER ) RER S -

customer).
Other employee benefits Hitt{g S & F
Pension scheme BELE

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
proportion of their payroll costs to the central pension
scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of

the central pension scheme.

AEERTEEENHBARNERZA
2NEHTRRERNTREZ S
g - ZEMBAREAREEFSIRET
BoRTREEZS SR - ZFH
FRRIBEHREZ SRR ANKSE
R B8k o

Borrowing costs (EEVZE
Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they AR AR EEE R BRI 8 o fEFRK
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and REREBRESEREENNERE

other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the

borrowing of funds.

AR o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in RMB, which
is different from the Company’s functional currency,
United States Dollars ("USD"). As the major revenues
and assets of the Group are derived from operations in
Chinese Mainland, RMB is chosen as the presentation
currency to present the financial statements. Each entity
in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency.
Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities
in the Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the

transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of each of the year.
Differences arising on settlement or translation of

monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured
at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of
the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item [i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive

income or profit or loss, respectively).

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED HiERHZIZERER A

2.

S BE®)

2.4

EREBER#E)
SIS

HERBREIARE LS - EAAR
LT (R ) TR - A
EEWE Bl RAER A ERhE
T MR ARBIEAZIEE 2
SIS K - ARENEERATES
HINGEY - MESNEBRIRRE
WO RIS o ARER
B AT S SR SRS ¢
EARE S A5 A BEAN TS
W o

LINEFIENEEEERABSERS
FREEANNAEEEERGYE - £5
IR E EHIE EEE’U%%E@ENEEW
TR °

DA?\\%WEEX$§+§E’U3FT’¢%I§ B £

N1632 5 B HHE R E - RINERF
@Efiﬁ’ﬂ#%’i?ﬁﬁlﬁ BERAFEEEAR
HiHE R - BB N HE BRI
B¥IR A rEEMBEERATERR
g rEa s BARNEE(AAFE
BatH i 2Rt sk B s MER R IR
B - HEXEBEND IR EMEE K
HBEAFER)



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition
of the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of @ non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially
recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability arising from the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or

receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain group companies
are currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of
the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates that approximate to those prevailing

at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the
extent that the differences are attributable to non-
controlling interests. On disposal of a foreign operation,
the cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or

loss.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R B et

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that
could require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of

the assets or liabilities affected in the future.
Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant

effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
Contractual arrangements

Easou Shenzhen and its subsidiaries (collectively, the PRC
Operating Entities] are engaged in the online literature
recommendation services and other digital content services in
the PRC, which falls in the scope of internet cultural business

that foreign investors are prohibited to invest.

The Group exercises control over the PRC Operating Entities
and enjoys all economic benefits of the PRC Operating Entities

through certain contractual arrangements.

The Group considers that it controls the PRC Operating
Entities, notwithstanding the fact that it does not hold direct
equity interest in the PRC Operating Entities, as it has power
over the financial and operating policies of the PRC Operating
Entities and receives substantially all the economic benefits
from the business activities of the PRC Operating Entities
through the Contractual Arrangements. Accordingly, the PRC
Operating Entities have been accounted as subsidiaries during

the year.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)
Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year, are described below
Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to
make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the
cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2024 was
RMB32,273,000 (2023:RMB32,273,000). Further details are

given in note 15 to the financial statements.
Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, customer type and

rating).
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES (Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables
(Continued)

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix
to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information. For instance, if forecast economic
conditions [(i.e., gross domestic product) are expected to
deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an increased
number of defaults in the advertising sector, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are updated and changes in the

forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables is disclosed in note

18 to the financial statements.
Deferred Tax Assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together
with future tax planning strategies. The carrying value of
deferred tax assets at 31 December 2024 was RMB2,014,000.
The amount of unrecognised tax losses at 31 December 2024
was RMB 15,570,000 (2023: RMB5,347,000). Further details are

contained in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in online literature
recommendation services, digital marketing services, online
games publishing services and other digital content services
in Mainland China. Information reported to the Group's
chief operating decision maker, for the purpose of resource
allocation and performance assessment, focuses on the
operating results of the Group as a whole as the Group’s
resources are integrated and no discrete operating segment
financial information is available. Accordingly, no operating

segment information is presented.
Geographical information
(a) Revenue from external customers

All significant external customers of the Group are
located in Mainland China. Accordingly, no geographical
information of revenue from external customers is

presented.
(b) Non-current assets

All significant non-current assets of the Group are
located in Mainland China. Accordingly, no geographical

information of non-current assets is presented.
Information about a major customer

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
revenue from a single external customer contributed 10% or

more of the Group's total revenue.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

242

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5. W& - Hiblg A Rz
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WD T
2024 2023
2024F 2023F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T AR%T
Revenue from contracts with customers BE&HIWES 604,164 559,045
Revenue from contracts with customers BEEEHNE
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (a) WEDHFER
2024 2023
2024F 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥T T
Types of goods or services Emm iR EE
Reading with paid services B2 7B ER TS 15,771 19,513
Reading with advertising services BERENETFHERS 226,050 229,416
Digital marketing services T L HRT 336,991 288,836
Online games publishing services MR R TIRTS 6,147 10,553
Other digital content services Hh 27 WA RS 19,205 10,727
Total #Et 604,164 559,045
Timing of revenue recognition Wit 225 7 2 B
Point in time PSR T B 598,256 553,853
Over time i B ] 5,908 5,192
Total Bt 604,164 559,045
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Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued]

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Wss - HAEWA R W)
BEEEHNWE(E)

Disaggregated revenue information (Continued) (a) WHEDIFERE)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue TRITRE ARG ARSHBYE
recognised in the current reporting periods that were HaBEkBRTHFEKNBOETHE
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of BB RS
the reporting period and recognised from performance
bligations satisfied in previous periods:
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMT T ARMT T
Reading with advertising services BEREBENEFHERE 529 2,621
Reading with paid services B2 T B ERTS 6,503 7,555
Online games publishing services R TIRTS = 1,030
Total st 7,032 11,206
(b) BHEME

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is

summarised below
Reading with paid services

The performance obligation is satisfied (i) upon the online
literature chapters were purchased; or (ii] over time
as the premium membership services are rendered.

Payment in advance is normally required.

BHEASEERBRABENERBI AN T
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

5.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(b)

Performance obligations (Continued)

Reading with advertising services/digital marketing

services

The performance obligation is satisfied when the services
are delivered based on specific actions. Payment is
generally due within 180 days when the services are

delivered.
Online games publishing services

The performance obligation is satisfied upon payment

received from game players.
Other digital content services

The performance obligation is satisfied when the digital
content is distributed to the customer. Payment is
generally due within 30 days after the digital content is
distributed.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the
remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or
partially unsatisfied) as at the end of the reporting period

are as follows:

5.

W -

Hag ARz (2)

EFEEHWEEE)

(b)

BHREEE)

BEEENBFHERYE BFEHR
%

BB ETIRREAS EITE) X IR TGES
ZRK o NRBER MR EF 180K
MEIH -

AR BT IRES

JB %) B AT B e B I AN R =
B o

Hitb B F A BRI
BROREIREFARDHTEFRE
B e MRBERD HBFAREI0K
WA -

RBERRDEZHR TEOEECRE
FXEREBD RER) VX B ERERRMT

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR¥T T

Amount expected to be recognised as TRt HER A E ) S 58

revenue:

Within one year —F R 16,045 13,814
After one year — 1% 3,412 3,897
Total b 19,457 17,711
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Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (Continued] 5. W - HMW AR KRS

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) BEEEHWNEGE &)
(b) Performance obligations (Continued) (b) BREEE)
Other digital content services (Continued) Hitt = A AR (&)
An analysis of the Group’s other income and gains is as AREBEEMA RRZEADITAT ¢
follows:
2024 2023
20245 20235
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR®TT

Other income and gains H g A R W

Government subsidies* IEdiSE e 1,224 527

Interest income FBEUA 2,682 867

Others Hih 226 1,763

Total HaEt 4,132 3,157

% Various government grants have been received by Y EBETHE R EWRERERATE

certain subsidiaries as these subsidiaries were By R BZENE A FFA B
qualified as High and New Technology Enterprises in A EFT IR BT  ZZ18)
Mainland China. There are no unfulfilled conditions or IHER BT THIE 2 2t 5 F A o

contingencies relating to these grants.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

6. (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. BRBLAT(ESER), EF
2024 2023
20245 20234
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kzt ARBT T ARBT T
Cost of sales FHERK AR 348,359 299,317
Depreciation of property, plant and M - WEERETE
equipments 13 6,807 6,311
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEENE 14/(a) 138 154
Amortisation of other intangible assets ~— H A& E# 16 16,353 17,873
Lease payments not included in the RNt AHEAETEDN
measurement of lease liabilities HEK 14(c) 3,513 2,792
Listing expense ishil=ha 16,965 11,698
Employee benefit expense (including EEBNFEX(B1E
directors’ remuneration [note 8)): EEFHM(AE8)) -
Wages and salaries IERF® 30,383 33,934
Pension scheme contributions** BONE FHEI R 10,358 8,958
Total st 40,741 42,892
Auditor’s remuneration ZE a2 2,300 -
Impairment of other intangible assets HEMEpEERE 6,000 -
Impairment of trade receivables B ZREYGRIERE 18 996 379
Loss on disposal of items of property, BREWE  BER
plant and equipment* B0 icR 606 547
*  Includes in “other expenses” in the consolidated statement * FAEERm RAMEER A [

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

**  There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by
the Group as the employer to reduce the existing level of

contributions.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

7. FINANCE COSTS 7. WERE
2024 2023
20245 20235
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBETR AR®TT

Interest on bank and other borrowings RIT R EAEFFE 5,136 8,430
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERE 15 12
Total #Et 5,151 8,442

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 8. EERFTETHASHFM
REMUNERATION

Directors” and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, BigE EmHRA - FARQAEHIZE383(1)(a)
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (b) ~ (c) K (f) {5 B 12 AR B 56 2 BB 4% BR ) AN £
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of BEERTZITRASFHMET :

the Companies Regulation, is as follows:

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR®TR

Fees we 162 -
Other emoluments H e
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind He ERREMAZE 1,296 1,181
Pension scheme contributions BESTEIHR 290 277
Subtotal /Nat 1,586 1,458
Total #agt 1,748 1,458
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R B et

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 8. EERFETHBAETME)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
(a) Non-executive directors (a) EBITESE
Mr. Luan Ling, Mr. Zhuge Qingchen and Mr. Gan Minggao Rizghk #HEEREELHBRELE
resigned as non-executive directors on 2 December 2024. MR2024F12 A2 B BHEERMATES - 1
There were no fees and other emoluments payable to the FABMERMNIENITESNES MEM
non-executive directors during the year (2023: Nil). <5 (20234 : £E) o
(b) Independent non-executive directors (b) BIIEHITESE
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors RERNERNBILIFNTESTNE A
during the year were as follows: T
2024 2023
20245 20235
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBT T
Mr. Zhu Jianfeng [note) REE S A (ffaT) 54 =
Mr. An Yingchuan [note] R || e (HTaE) 54 -
Ms. Meng Xue (note) wBELZ L (HaE) 54 =
Total 162 =
Note: Wiz
Appointed on 17 May 2024 IRO024E5H 17 HEZE(E

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED B EHZIER AR A F]



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT RaAR B et

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

8.

DIRECTORS® AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S 8.

REMUNERATION (continued)

(c)

Executive directors and chief executive

EERFETHRAEHM @)

(c) BITESREZRTHAR

Year ended 31 December 2024

BZ2024F12A31ALEE
Salaries,
Allowances Pension
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
e RRk BEE®
we REYAZE st B et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRT ARBTR AR®BTRT AR%®TR
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Wang Xi ERSEE - 458 15 473
Mr. Zhao Lei fizErbe - 429 157 586
Mr. Chen Jun REIF A& - 409 118 527
Total CE - 1,296 290 1,586
Year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A31BILEE
Salaries,
Allowances Pension
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
e =B BE%
we REDN® TR #Et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AREBTT ARETT ARETT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Wang Xi RS - 369 13 382
Mr. Zhao Lei e = 398 150 548
Mr. Chen Jun PREIFT A& - 414 14 528
Total #st - 1,181 277 1,458

There were no arrangements under which a director

or the chief-executive waived or agreed to waive any

remuneration during the year

PR FRE TR R HRAA
BHEEAMSR -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included 1
director (2023: Nil), details of whose remuneration are set out
in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the
remaining 4 (2023: 5) highest paid employees who are neither a

director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

TERSHHNES

FRAAERSFMEERFE1RESR(2023
F ) EMEFBERN XS - Hekd
#(20234F : 5B )RR R EEIIFERTT
BABHESHMNESENFAMSHBNOT

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AR¥TR

Salaries, bonuses and allowances e~ EAL KoERL 1,803 2,179
Pension scheme contributions BESFEIHER 635 758
Total “Et 2,438 2,937

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the following

bands is as follows:

FHNEBATHENFESIIFERITRAE
M= EMEE ABMT

2024 2023
20245 20234
Nil to RMB1,000,000 T & AR#51,000,0007C 4 5
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BT RaAR B et

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

10.

INCOME TAX

All subsidiaries of the Company established in the PRC are

subject to PRC corporate income tax at a standard rate of 25%

during the year, except for:

10. FiB#i

(il Certain subsidiaries of the Group, which qualified as (i)

High and New Technology Enterprises in the PRC, were

entitled to a lower PRC corporate income tax rate of 15%;

and

(i)  Certain subsidiaries of the Group, which applied the (ii)

Small-Scaled Minimal Profit Enterprise Income Tax

Preferential Policy announced by the PRC's State

Administration of Taxation, were entitled to a tax rate of

5% (2023: 5%) for the year.

AR BN BIRZH PG B A Rl 7R
25%HIFERR R B B KIS -

AEEETHBARNAPEEHRM
EERE - ZHI5%OHRIER B EER
B/E &

REEHTHE QR ERTBEBERFLE
R RE AN EF SR E R
% FRNZH5%(20234F :5%) TR o

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR®TR

Current - PRC BNHR — R B4

Charge for the year FAX I 703 450
Deferred (note 26) IRIE(H17726) 330 624
Total tax charge for the year FATIES AR 1,033 1,074
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

10.

11.

INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to loss before tax

at the statutory tax rates to the tax expense at the effective tax

rates are as follows:

10. Frf§%i(&)

BORE B RS E RO RR T AT B 188 A RO IR RS
ERBRR R BN IER S RO -

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 % RMB’000 %
AR¥T T % AR¥TrR %
Loss before tax MRELRTEE (1,016) 26,085
Tax at the statutory tax rates A EMEFTER
IR (254) 25.0 6,521 25.0
Effect of different tax rate TRBEMFE 2,119 (208.6) 1,628 6.2
Lower tax rates for specific BEAMDHESIER R
provinces or enacted S F 75 A RA AR
by local authority B ER(EF 2 (3,714) 365.6 (5,990) (23.0)
Expenses not deductible for tax ~ NA]FIFRBIFISZ 1,399 (137.7) 3,647 14.0
Super deduction for & ERERZH
eligible research and INETFORR
development expenses (4,248) 418.1 (4,580 (17.6)
Tax loss utilised from previous ~ BIFBEFER
years PIEE1E (784) 77.2 (6) -
Tax loss not recognised AIERTIEE R 7,143 (703.1) 23 0.1
Others Hity (628) 61.8 (169) (0.6)
Total et 1,033 (101.7) 1,074 4.1
DIVIDENDS 1. RE

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nill.

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED B EHZIER AR A F]
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

12. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLETO 12. BATEBREZFEAEMLAER

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic (loss)/earnings per share amount
is based on the (loss)/profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares of 322,547,094 (2023: 286,404,599) in issue

during the year.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used to
calculate the basic (loss)/earnings per share for the year ended
31 December 2024 was the total number of the ordinary shares
in issue during the year, the ordinary shares issued pursuant
to the conversion of preferred shares (as detailed in note 27(b))
as if these shares had been in issue throughout the year, and
the ordinary shares issued in connection with the listing of the

Company (as detailed in note 27(c]).

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used to
calculate the basic earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2023 was the total number of the ordinary shares in
issue during the year and the ordinary shares issued pursuant
to the conversion of preferred shares (as detailed in note 27(b))
as if these shares had been in issue on date of issuance of

preferred shares.

The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on:

(&8]),BF

BREXN(BRER) B EE AR L BEER
HFEABGFERN(ER), & RFENDET
58 AR AN HE - 5 80322,547,094 0% (2023 4F
286,404,5990% )5t & ©

AR EEE2024F 12831 B IEFEFRE
KN(ER) BROTERMNEFTIEEFA
BEITHEER - REBRERELR(FRWE
27(b)) BEATRIE AR OB ERH E R FEA
B1T) RBLA AR LTh M 1TH) T im AR A 8
(FERFIFE27(c)) °

FBRETEEZE2023F12 A31 H I FEFRE
REFEZBRINEF I RFEADEITH
TR RABREIRE IR (FF R MEE27(0)) 3
TR EBIR Bz E RO B RNEERIEITH
HAZEAT ) 4820 o

FRER(ER),/ BANNAETIRE

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥T T
Earnings 2%
(Loss)/profit attributable to ordinary equity BRAEBERFEEA
holders of the parent FEIE (E518),Sa A (2,085) 24,971
Shares g
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in ~ FRE T E B
issue during the year hiREE B 322,547,094 286,404,599

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue
during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil).

HZE2020F12A31BILEE » AEBEWEE
EEEE BT B (20234 : &) °
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R B et

Year ended 31 December 2024 #{ 2202441231 H IFF/Z

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

13. V¥ - MERRE

Computer Electronic Motor Office
equipment devices vehicle equipment Total
ERRE BT HE N Foh
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBT T ARETR ARBTR ARETR
31 December 2024 20265128310
At 1 January 2024 202451518
Cost KA 37,486 1,551 970 937 40,944
Accumulated depreciation e (19,339) (1,189) (541) (822) (21,891)
Net carrying amount REFE 18,147 362 429 115 19,053
At 1 January 2024, net of R02A4FE1A1A -
accumulated depreciation NR25HTE 18,147 362 429 115 19,053
Additions NE 1116 18 - 26 7,160
Disposals BE (608) - = - (608)
Depreciation provided ENGHRINE
during the year (6,516) (143) (92) (56) (6,807)
At 31 December 2024, net of M2024F12A318
accumulated depreciation Mk 2:HiE 18,141 237 337 85 18,800
At 31 December 2024 R2024E12A318
Cost AR 32,477 1,569 970 963 35,979
Accumulated depreciation 25HE (14,336) (1,332) (633) (878) (17,179)
Net carrying amount REE 18,141 27 337 85 18,800
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 13. Y% - BMERKREZ)

Computer Electronic Motor Office

equipment devices vehicle equipment Total
ERE ETRE RE BARE At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR  ARBTR  ARETR  ARETR  AR¥TR

31 December 2023 2023F12831H
At 1 January 2023 202351518
Cost R 36,711 1,456 970 1,050 40,187
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (23,627) (1,058) (449) (865) (25.999)
Net carrying amount REFE 13,084 398 521 185 14,188
At 1 January 2023, net of R2023E1 718
accumulated depreciation NR25HTE 13,084 398 521 185 14,188
Additions HE 11,623 95 - 5 11,723
Disposals BE (542) - = (5) (547)
Depreciation provided ENGHRINE
during the year (6,018) (131) (92) (70) (6,311)
At 31 December 2023, net of 2023F12A318
accumulated depreciation bl 18,147 362 429 115 19,053
At 31 December 2023 R2023E12A318
Cost R 37,486 1,551 970 937 40944
Accumulated depreciation ZithE (19,339) (1,189) (541) (822) (21891)
Net carrying amount REHE 18,147 362 429 115 19,053
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

14. LEASES 14. HE
The Group as a lessee REEEREEA
The Group has lease contracts for various office premises used AEBEREREERFERANE TS
in its operations. FINHEEEH
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FREEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets AEEFRAEEERMENAESWOT ¢

and the movements are as follows:

2024 2023
20244 20235
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR®TR

At the beginning of year REA]) 228 105
Addition =T 521 277
Depreciation charge FrEafix (138) (154)
At the end of year RER 611 228

(b) Lease liabilities (b) HEAME
2024 2023
20244 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR ARBFT

At the beginning of year REFT] 243 131
Addition =T 521 277
Accretion of interest recognised during FARERE RIET S
the year 15 12
Payments (NEN (176) (177)
At the end of year RER 603 243
Analysed into: DA
Current portion ENEAER 5> 332 101
Non-current portion SERNEREL 271 142
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in HEB BN B EHRRMME35
note 35 to the financial statements. WE o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 #{ 2202441231 H IFF/Z

14. LEASES (Continued) 14. HE &)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) REBERABEAE)
(c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation () RERBREBERENFIENT :

to leases are as follows:

2024 2023
20245 2023F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
HiaE AR¥T T AR¥T
Interest on lease liabilities HEREBENE 7 15 12
Depreciation charge of right-of- FREEENERX
use assets 138 154
Expenses relating to short-term %2 EAE S AERAR 2
leases 3,513 2,792
Total amount recognised in RIESERNE SR
profit or loss 3,666 2,958
(d) The total cash outflow for leases and future (d) MERL ML EFERERRBAHEER
cash outflows relating to leases that have not yet B R R 3R M H 9 Bl B 7 SR B A
commenced are disclosed in notes 30 and 35, 30K 35H 55 ©

respectively, to the financial statements.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

15. GOODWILL 15. BHE
RMB’000
AR¥ET T
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023, 720231 818 ~ 20234
1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024 12H318 « 202451 1B &
2024512 A31H
Cost (DN 32,273
Accumulated impairment 2ERE -
Net carrying amount BRAHE 32,273
Impairment testing of goodwill RERER

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated
to the digital marketing cash-generating unit (the “"CGU") for

impairment testing.
Digital marketing cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of the CGU has been determined
based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections
based on financial budgets covering a five-year period
approved by senior management. The discount rate applied to
the cash flow projections is 18.2% (2023:18.2%). The growth
rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the digital marketing
unit beyond the five-year period is 2% (2023:2.5%).

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED B EHZIER AR A F]
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT RaAR B et

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

15.

GOODWILL /continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill (Continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of
the CGU for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.
The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake

impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted gross margins - The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average
gross margins achieved in the year immediately before the
budget year, increased for expected efficiency improvements,

and expected market development.

Discount rate - The discount rate used is before tax and reflect

specific risks relating to the CGU.
Sensitivity to changes in key assumptions:

The management of the Company has performed sensitivity
test by decreasing 1% of budgeted gross margins or increasing
1% of pre-tax discount rate, with all other assumptions held
constant. The impacts on the amount by which each CGU’s

recoverable amount above its carrying amount (headroom) are

15.

e E)
RERERR(Z)

FTEIRS EE B NEIE 20245 K 2023512
ANBIEFENERBERERARR - TX
B EREHR @ RETRAEEHEET
BERIF TR R T IE R R

HEMNX-ARNEEDE THEEENEN
{E@%ﬁ’%%%?ﬁﬁﬁif;ﬁu—i,@:\fﬁﬁ’\]ii’:}
EFE - AEMBERBCE RFART S5 ERE
e

BRI R —FrRR R R DR RATY RRR & &
LB BB ERRE o

RRBREDNHRE :
EMAEMRRER TEHNERT » AQF

EEERBR1%EEERN R LILI1%H

AR RETHRERR - HERSELE
Ak B S Es RN ERAEGE) 2258
MR EWT

as below
2024 2023
20245 20235
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTF T ARBTF T
Headroom #H1E 3,998 8,255
Impact by decreasing budgeted gross margins WOTBEENER R (6,575) (5,565)
Impact by increasing pre-tax discount rate AR RTRA IR R & (3,126) (3,476)

However, the management of the Company believes the
reasonably possible change should be less than 1% of the
above key assumptions, therefore a reasonably possible
change in key assumptions would not change the carrying

amount of the CGU to exceed its recoverable amount.

A ARBERERR - AEREEIE
BR L A5 IRER A 1% » At - BASR RER A
RIEMREH T ENERCELBMUNRE

EmMEBE KOS -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

16. HWEBEREE

Copyrights Software Total
hi e B st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®T T ARETR
31 December 2024 2024%F12H31H
At 1 January 2024 M20245F1 818
Cost BN 131,217 10,047 141,264
Accumulated amortisation RN (87,315) (3,147) (90,462)
Net carrying amount BREFE 43,902 6,900 50,802
Cost at 1 January 2024, 202451 A1 BHIBCA -
net of accumulated HIBR R ETHEESH
amortisation 43,902 6,900 50,802
Additions NE 7,385 20 7,405
Impairment charged for the FRFRRREE
year (6,000) = (6,000)
Amortisation provided FRTR#H
during the year (14,483) (1,870) (16,353)
At 31 December 2024 20244128318 30,804 5,050 35,854
At 31 December 2024 12024128318
Cost PR 138,602 10,067 148,669
Accumulated amortisation RETEEE NORE
and impairment (107,798) (5,017) (112,815)
Net carrying amount IR FE 30,804 5,050 35,854
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Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

16. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

16. HWBEEE &)

Copyrights Software Total
hix#E Bt st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR¥ET T AR®F T
31 December 2023 2023%F12H31H
At 1 January 2023 M2023%F1 /418
Cost BN 102,135 2,636 104,771
Accumulated amortisation E5HEH (69,996) (2,593) (72,589)
Net carrying amount BREDFE 32,139 43 32,182
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of #2023 18 1B RIS -
accumulated amortisation s R5tHE# S 32,139 43 32,182
Additions NE 29,082 7,411 36,493
Amortisation provided during  FREHEE S
the year (17,319) (554) (17,873)
At 31 December 2023 PR2023F12831H 43,902 6,900 50,802
At 31 December 2023 7202312 A31H
Cost BN 131,217 10,047 141,264
Accumulated amortisation RN (87,315) (3,147) (90,462)
Net carrying amount BREVFE 43,902 6,900 50,802
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 #{ 2202441231 H IFF/Z

17. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

17. REEEQTINRE

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBETR AR®TT

Share of net assets

DIHEBEEFE 932 -

Particulars of the associate are as follows:

BEATELT

Percentage of

Place of ownership interest
Registered  registration and attributable to
Name share capital  business the Group  Principal activity
AKBEEFEA
catt AfER  EfRERH REANL TEEH
Guangzhou Baili Technology Co., Ltd. RMB1,111,111  PRC/Mainland China 10 Advertising production and
advertising design
BNERRBARAR ARELIM T hE/hER 10 BERERESRG
The Group's shareholdings in the associate comprise equity AEERBEQTNFREFEETERRYIFE

shares held by Easou Shenzhen.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES 18. EZEWFKIE

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AR¥ET T

Trade receivables B 5 WA 230,115 166,059
Impairment DERIE] (5,554) (4,558)
Net carrying amount BRTEDFE 224,561 161,501

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit. The credit period is generally 30 to 180 days. Each
customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and has
a credit control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In
view of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade
receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers,
there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group
does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements
over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-

interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss

allowance, is as follows:

AEERERFZRXGHERIEBNEER
H - FEH—RRI0E180H - BUEFH
BEREEERE - AEEIREBERHER
BIREWEIR - WRBEEZHIHBFIASE
ERREERE - AREHASREERETE
Himmar - ER EXAT R ANKEE 5 R
HHERRELZTEP @ RABERNERE
EER - AKEYEEE 5 RIS
FAEMERRKEMERRENIER - B5
FEUGKRIA R TE R ©

RIERR - RERAHRIRERBEN
B2 RBFRERAIT

2024 2023

20245 20234

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AR¥T T

Within 3 months 3MEAA 92,553 121,638
3 to 6 months REY|E=! 71,601 34,819
6to 12 months 621218 A 60,406 4,880
Over a year BB —F 1 164
Total A=t 224,561 161,501
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows:

18. BEZRWKIE %)

E I RUGRREBRBEESNT

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBFR ARBFT

At the beginning of year REH] 4,558 4,179
Impairment losses, net [note 6] B (HEs) 996 379
At the end of year RER 5,554 4,558

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of
various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by
geographical region, product type, customer type and rating).
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome,
the time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions. Generally, trade receivables are written off if past
due for more than one year and are not subject to enforcement

activity.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

18.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

18. EZRWKIA (%)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure TREVANEEEAREBEEASAEZ ZEK
on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix: REEZERBHELR :
As at 31 December 2024 A20245F12831H
Past due
B
1to3 Lto9 Over 9
Current months months months Total
HE  1Z3MER 4E9EAR BBIEA #ct
Expected credit loss rate BEEEEER 1.17% 1.00% 1.00%  96.03% 2.61%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) RHEEARETT) 166,170 45,711 15,114 3,120 230,115
Expected credit loss (RMB'000) BHEEER(ARETT) 1,950 457 151 2,996 5,554
As at 31 December 2023 72023%12831H
Past due
A
1to3 Lto9 Over 9
Current months months months Total
BE  1Z3MER 4E9EAR BBIEA @t
Expected credit loss rate BREEHEX 1.01% 1.00% 1.00% 94.71% 2.746%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) ERAEARETT) 122,877 35,172 4,929 3081 166,059
Expected credit loss (RMB'000) BHREEFEE(ARETT) 1238 353 49 2,918 4,558

2024 ANNUAL REPORT R

265



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

19. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 19. FA{JRIE - e R HMEWKIE

RECEIVABLES
2024 2023
2024F 20235
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%T T AR¥T T
Prepayments FRRIE 114,798 68,804
Deposits and other receivables e Rk H bR IE 7,736 7,932
Total #EEt 122,534 76,736
Analysed into: DA
Current portion BNEAER 5 106,842 76,048
Non-current portion JERNHAEL 15,692 688
The financial assets included in the above balances relate to FT A il &5 AR Bl B B B HA D AR B A RD
receivables for which there was no recent history of default and B KE B IB R EWIR B I o 20244 [k
past due amounts. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the loss 2023F12A318 » BIEBEHT L AEH -

allowance was assessed to be minimal.

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 20. AT EFABRNEREE
PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AR¥TR

Unlisted fund investments, at fair value JELERESKE -
BRATE 72,324 73,282

As at 31 December 2024, the above unlisted investment of R2024%F 12 A31H » LiiBREME A AR
carrying amount of RMB72,324,000 was denominated in USD. 72,324,000 TR IE ETH IR B LA E LA E ©
As at 31 December 2023, the above unlisted investments of R2023F 12 A31H » LiiBRmEA AR
carrying amounts of RMB10,704,000 and RMB62,578,000 were 10,704,0007T & A R#42,578,0007CAIFE T
denominated in RMB and USD, respectively. REDRIAARE RETFE -

They were mandatorily classified as financial assets at fair HEW Rl ARATEF A BN E/E
value through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are E - JHERESRAR RS WIFERER SR
not solely payments of principal and interest. e
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

21.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, RESTRICTED

1. RERRESEEY  ZREIRER

CASH AND PLEDGED DEPOSIT BIERBEFER

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Cash and bank balances HeERREEEY 162,446 89,081
Time deposit EHIEMR 8,500 =
170,946 89,081

Less: NG
Restricted cash SR HER & (1,600) -

EHEARITE K

Pledged time deposit for short term bank loan BT BTF K (8,500) =
160,846 89,081

At 31 December 2024, cash and bank balances of the Group
amounted to RMB103,265,000 (2023: RMB46,959,000],
are denominated in RMB and are not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business. At 31 December 2024, cash and bank
balances of the Group amounted to RMB57,581,000 (2023:
RMB42,122,000) is denominated in USD.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for
varying periods of between seven days and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group,
and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit
rates. The bank balances and pledged time deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

At 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and bank balances
of RMB1,600,000 (2023: Nil] which were frozen by the relevant
PRC local authorities in connection with an on-going litigation

with an individual third party.

R20241 2R3 18 » AEBER S RIRITE
# AR # 103,265,000 70 (2023 F : AR ¥&
46,959,0007T) A ARKEE  BARED
AERLBAEMER  BREPEAM
SMNEBEIGHIEARE  SERMNEZTER
TE - AEEEERRERELEINEETEH
RITHARB LI AEMER - R20245F
12A318 - REERERRITERARE
57,581,0007T (20234 : AR#®42,122,0007T)
LAZETTEHE ©

RITRERBEE ARITERMRZZHH =X
REAME - EHEHMERNARNT T LR
EZHATE  RIEAKBEEERESFRM
TE - WHE G H T HITE BN R BRERA B, -8R
TR N BB E M R O L Y S22
HIRDERAVE B R AFRYIRTT ©

MR2024F12 A318 » AEBIR G MIRITHER
AERB1,600,0007T (20234 : &) HER{ERIE
= R E R RAT AN A AR 75 SRR A4S o
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R B et

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

22. TRADE PAYABLES 22. ESENRIE
An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the RIREHAR - IR EFENE S ENIERER
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: BT -
2024 2023
2024 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥T T
Within 3 months 3EARA 7,429 10,930
3 to 6 months 3Z6fEA 510 609
6 to 12 months 61218 A 83 185
Over a year HAE—F 287 57
Total Bt 8,309 11,781
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally BHRNFIER T ERBER={EH N
settled within three months. =i
23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 23. HittENRERETER
2024 2023
20245 20234
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BiaE AR¥T T AR¥T T
Other payables E At eI IR (a) 8,555 7,066
Accruals FEETER 4,894 4,232
Total #Et 13,449 11,298
Analysed into: DA
Current portion BNHEAES 7 13,221 11,070
Non-current portion FERNEREL S 228 228

Note:

la]  Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an

average term of three months.

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED B EHZIER AR A F]

a]  EMENAE BT R FIEGHR S =1E
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 24. EHEE
2024 2023
2024 202345
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR¥T T
Reading with advertising services BEEENHTHERSE 5,206 5,751
Reading with paid services NEHFHERE 14,251 11,960
Total #Et 19,457 17,711
Analysed into: Pa)iv=1
Current portion BNEAER 5 16,045 13,814
Non-current portion JEBNERER &> 3,412 3,897
Contract liabilities include advances received to deliver reading BHEEBERREEEESENEFTHEER
with advertising services and reading with paid services. 15 R 5 B 85 BT v PR 7SS T WAL Y BAGK ©

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 25. stRR{TREAER
BORROWINGS

2024 2023
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate rate
BERER=E BERF=E
% Maturity ¥ RMB’000 % Maturity ¥ RMB’000
% FHE AR%T % FHE AR%TT
Current BRER
Bank loans IRITER
- secured —HHEA 3.0-4.5 2025 163,050 4.1-5.0 2024 54,900
- unsecured — A3 3.0-4.5 2025 15,000 4.1-5.0 2024 18,000
Other loans EfER
- secured — H A 4.96 2025 15,000 4.96 2024 12,000
Total HRET 193,050 84,900
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 25.
BORROWINGS (continued)

FTESRITREMERE)

At the end of the reporting period, the maturity profile of RIREER - HERETEBEEERE
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, based on the g o 2 5T BERTT R A& 5K 2 B BB i 2R
scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, is S s
as follows:
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥T T
Analysed into: Paiv=1
Bank loans repayable: FEEBIRITER ¢
Within one year or on demand R—FRHIREK 178,050 72,900
Other borrowings repayable: JEEREMEK -

Within one year or on demand MN—FERNIRE K 15,000 12,000
Total st 193,050 84,900
(a)l As at 31 December 2024, the Group’'s bank loan a) M2024F12A318 - AEBRITER
amounted to RMB8,000,000 (2023:Nil) was secured by a AR #8,000,0007T (20234 « ) EE =

pledged bank deposit (note 21). TR TERIEER (FFE21) ©

As at 31 December 2024, the Group's bank and R20245 128318 » NEBETRE
other loans amounted to RMB178,050,000 (2023: L E A K% 178,050,0007T (20234 :
RMB54,900,000) were secured by guarantees given by AR #54,900,000c) BA AR E T2
certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. BB R AR A ERIEER o

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had bank loans M2023%F12A318 + "EBRITER
of RMB34,900,000 secured by guarantees given by a AR #34,900,0007T A AR BT R L 412
shareholder, namely Mr. Wang Xi. During the year ended HEERERR - BE2024F12H31
31 December 2024, all the guarantees provided by Mr. HIEFE - EREAREAEERS
Wang Xi have been released. EIERRRR ©

(b)  The interest-bearing bank and other borrowings were (b) FrERITREMERAARKE -

denominated in RMB.
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #{ 2202441231 H IFF/Z

26. DEFERRED TAX 26. EEBIIE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets are as EERBEEREENESWOT
follows:
Deferred tax IEFERLIE
Fair value
losses on
Depreciation financial
allowancein  Impairment assetsat  Loss available
excess of loss allowance fairvalue  for offsetting Impairment of
related  againsttrade through profit against future Accrued other intangible
depreciation  receivables orloss taxable profits Expenses assets Total
HHERRN  RATERA  THREH
BEERNE  INAE BENGREE  ANERH HitER

WERE  BRAE OVERR  RAUNER X HERE it
RMBO00  RMB000  RMBO00  RMBO0D  RMBO00  RMBODO  RMB'00O
ARRTR  ARMTT  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARRTr  ARRTR  ARMTR

At 1 January 2023 RABEIA1A (2,166) 48 885 3,768 - - 2,968
Deferred tax credited/(charged to A/ (R B )BEH

profit or loss IR (695) 118 (£28) 31 - - (624)

At31 December 2023 and RNBE12A31AR

1 January 2024 024F1A1R (2,861) 599 457 4,149 - - 2,344
Deferred tax credited/(charged]to 3T A /(IR ) 1B

profit or loss BIEHR (113) b4 (457) (771 53 900 (330)

At 31 December 2024 R024E12A318 (2,974) 663 - 3,312 53 900 2,014

2024 2023

2024%F 20235

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TR AR®TR

Deferred tax assets RETH I E = 2014 2,444
Deferred tax liabilities FEFRIAEE - (100)
2014 2344
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

26.

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)
Deferred tax (Continued)]

At 31 December 2024, the Group had unrecognised tax
losses arising in Mainland China of RMB15,570,000 (2023:
RMB5,347,000), that can be carried forward for ten years from
the year in which the losses arose for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. No
deferred tax assets were recognised in respect of these losses
as it was not considered probable that taxable profit will be

available against which the tax losses could be utilised.

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China
in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. The

applicable rate is 5% or 10% for the Group.

At 31 December 2024, no (2023: no) deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subjected to withholding taxes
of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future as the Group will retain the funding for the business
development in Mainland China. The aggregate amount
of temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries in China for which deferred tax liabilities have not
been recognised totaled approximately RMB396,326,000 (2023:
RMB363,728,000) at 31 December 2024.

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED E#ERHEIZRR A R A A

26. IEFEBLIH ()

IESERLIE (48)

R2024% 12 A31H » AEBERPBEAME
ERRERTIEEE A ARE15570,0007T
(2023% : AR¥5347,0007T) @ EAIHEE
EEMFERAETF  ARNEBEELESE
R BRI AR R ERTR T - MERZEESE
BRELEHIEEE - AERBAFERE AT
N AT BE FA R 81 PT REA B AR OB TE S 18 -

NEE AR A S B A S ) FTE A A
BLE 200841 A1 B #EEE A B & F P9 Ik 89 A%
BEMENT - AEEREB KX R5% K
10% °

20245 12 B31 8 » W (20234 « )5t
NS5 B RA P B LR S HO B BB A R ZB B AR TE
R A AR EE 2 ) FE A R TR R i R (R AT
EFIE - EERA - RABER N RZER
BRARTNAMEDIREBRARN  BASE S
REBESARF RAA ETFER - 182024
F12A318 - BRERFREAWBEARAEM
WARBE L FERIEET IR B B = R AR
475 AR #396,326,0007T (20234 : AR
363,728,0007T) °



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT RaAR B et

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

27. SHARE CAPITAL

27. A

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
20245 2023F
Number of 12A31H Number of 12A31H
shares Share capital shares Share capital
RGEE R RAEE (&S
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARBT T
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of A% E0.00001
US$0.00001 each L A 5,000,000,000 318 4,841,735,348 307
Preferred shares of B E{E0.00001
US$0.00001 each LB LR = - 158,264,652 11
5,000,000,000 318 5,000,000,000 318
Issued and fully paid: ERITREY
HE:
Ordinary shares of A% E0.00001
US$0.00001 each ETTRIE A% 328,937,244 22 155,870,092 10
Preferred shares of B E{E0.00001
US$0.00001 each ETLE LR = - 158,264,652 11
328,937,244 22 314,134,744 21
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 27. RA(4#)

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as

NN RIS AN E R an |

follows:
Number of Share
Notes Shares Capital
(i i e
RMB’000
ARBT T
Authorised: BIE
Ordinary shares of US$0.00001 each SRAE.00001XTHEZER

At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024

M2023E1 A1E  03%F 128318 &

024F1R18 4,841,735,348 307
Re-designation from preferred shares BEEREIRE (b 158,264,652 11
At 31 December 2024 202412318 5,000,000,000 318
Preferred shares of US$0.00001 each SREE0.00001 ETHELR
At 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024~ 202381718 + 2023%F 12318 &
024F1R18 158,264,652 11

Re-designation to ordinary shares BT EER (b) (158,264,652) (1)
At 31 December 2024 20245124318 - -
Issued and fully paid: BRTRBHAR
Ordinary shares of US$0.00001 each SRAE0.00001 £ THZER
At 1 January 2023 M2023F1718 121,289,680 8
Issue of new ordinary shares BTHLER [a) 34,580,412 2
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 20235 12R31 8 k2024F1A18 155,870,092 10
Issuance of new ordinary shares in connection with FERBRRE T L RR

the conversion of preferred shares (b] 158,264,652 11
Issuance of new ordinary shares in connection with the ~ SAAVAR] EME{TH LR

listing of the Company () 14,802,500 1
At 31 December 2024 202412318 328,937,244 22
Preferred shares of US$0.00001 each SREE0.00001 X THIE £
At 1 January 2023 M2023%F1718 = =
Issue of preferred shares BIEER (b 158,264,652 11
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 120235124318 R2024F1 818 158,264,652 l
Conversion to ordinary shares SR LER (o) (158,264,652) (11)

At 31 December 2024

20244124318
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Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b]

On 21 February 2023, pursuant to the share subscription
agreements dated 31 December 2022, the Company issued
34,580,412 ordinary shares to a then shareholder of Easou
Shenzhen at a price of RMB0.32 per share with a total
cash consideration of RMB11,156,000 pursuant to the
reorganisation.

On 21 February 2023, pursuant to the share subscription
agreements dated 31 December 2022, the Company issued
158,264,652 pre-IPO preferred shares to a new investor
and the then shareholders of Easou Shenzhen at prices
of ranging from RMB1.0 per share to RMB4.5 per share
with total cash consideration of RMB559,480,000, of which
US$9,500,000 [equivalent to RMB65,077,000) was received
from a new investor and the remainder of RMB494,403,000
was received from the then shareholders of Easou Shenzhen
pursuant to the reorganisation.

The Company does not hold an unavoidable obligation to
(i] deliver cash or other financial assets to the holders
of preferred shares; [ii] to exchange financial assets or
financial liabilities with the holders of preferred shares that
are unfavorable to the Company; and [iii] to deliver a variable
number of the Company’s own ordinary shares. Accordingly,
the preferred shares were accounted for as equity. The
major terms of the preferred shares are set out below:

e Each preferred share may, at the option of the
holder thereof, be converted at any time after the
date of issuance of such preferred shares or shall
be converted automatically upon the consummation
of a qualified IPO into ordinary shares as a price as
determined by dividing the original issue price by
the conversion price of such preferred shares [the
“Conversion Price”). The original issue price, in any
event not being less than par value per share, subject
to the anti-dilution adjustments (as adjusted for share
subdivision and consolidation, share dividends and
distributions, reorganisation, mergers, consolidation,
reclassification, exchanges, substitutions).

27. BRA (%)

(a)  FR2023F2821H - 1R#EHRIAB2022%F 12
H31BEIR (D RE % - AL alRERE
AHIE R EEA RIE0.32T A1 E# 5 &
B — B IR 5 7734,580,4 12/ ZiBAR + 42
B HIBARK 1560007T -

(b)  R2023F2A21H - 1RIEARAE20224%12
H31 B8R 1757 e+ AR AIIRIKE
AL FRETE I FARKEI.0OTEANRK
4. 5T I B R — BRI EZE R E R
7T 158 264,652/8 B X N 3 & AT (B
JERR - AEH 2 1B B A R K559,480,000
T - A — B3R EEKE]9,500,000
ZET(HERAR 650770007 ) K&
B EHEZFRE R ELE T ARK
494,403,0007T °

ERFBTFA T ERAET AR AE
i IAEERIFEAXR RS E 2
BEE i) BEERIFEARETHEE
XTBEEHARATH) : Kli) X
ARFAEHER G5 BB - AUt - &
SER R At m o U T RELRINEE

f&zk

o EBEIBRIFBEATRRITZETLR
H B 1% £ (F {a] b5 [2] 122 5 17 18 55 K
HBRBEBRERTHEBEEELX
RAREREBLIERBEBER B
e IRIG T TIERR A% FEIEAL AT
HIREEERETS ([HRE]) - R
B EITIEE TGS T TFERE
REE - AETTREEHE (R
BRDFARRE G RERRD
7k - B - B0 BE - BFS
B BHETHE) -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

[b)  [Continued)

e The Conversion Price shall initially be the preferred
share purchase price, resulting in an initial conversion
ratio for the preferred shares of 1:1, and no
adjustment in the Conversion Price shall be made in
respect of the issuance of additional ordinary shares
unless the issue price per share for an additional
ordinary share issued or deemed to be issued is less
than the Conversion Price.

On 7 June 2024, pursuant to the written resolutions of
shareholders dated 17 May 2024, the preferred shares
were re-classified, re-designated and converted into
ordinary shares of US$0.00001 each.

[c]  In connection with the listing of the shares of the Company
on the Stock Exchange, 14,802,500 new ordinary shares
of US$0.00001 each were issued at a price of HK$5.8 per
share with a total cash consideration, before expenses, of
HK$85,855,000 (equivalent to RMB80,238,000). Dealings
in the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange
commenced on 7 June 2024.

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED E#ERHEIZRR A R A A

27. RA(4#)
HfeE - (%)

(b

(c)

(%&)

o ABEERVIBELKEBEE AL
B AT A5 B R E 11 - BRIF
BRI BT BEE B ITA) BB
BRBTTIEBCRR L IEE » BRIZT
BB ITERI BB FL L IEER

2o

R2024F6A7H » 1R1EHEIE2024
FE5H17HRRR ZBERZER B
SEREFT LB - EXIEEREBIEE
AR ET(ED.000015ETT # ZEAR

BARFRGRBERAT LT+ AR A
B85 85T 2 (BIE %77 14,802,500/ & 5%
E{E0.00001 & T #IFT ZiEAR - #BH 21
1B (Hil FI 55 5T ) #85,855,000/8 7T (1HE
RN F#80,238,0007T) ° K2 al &7 74
20244F6 A7 H FIISIEH ST E B ©
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Year ended 31 December 2024 #{ 2202441231 H IFF/Z

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 28. BBIRMESHE

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Eligible participants of the Scheme include the
Company’s directors, including independent non-executive
directors, other employees of the Group, and suppliers of
goods or services to the Group, the Company’s shareholders,
and any non-controlling shareholder in the Company’s
subsidiaries. The Scheme became effective on 7 June 2024 and,
unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force
for 10 years from the adoption date of the Scheme, i.e. 17 May
2024.

The maximum number of shares of the Company to be issued
upon exercise of all options which may be granted under the
Scheme shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of
the Company in issue [excluding treasury shares] as at 7 June
2024. Any further grant of share options in excess of this limit is

subject to shareholders” approval in a general meeting.

The maximum number of shares of the Company issued and to
be issued upon exercise of options to each eligible participant
(whether exercised or outstanding] in the Scheme in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue (excluding treasury shares) at any time. Any
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject

to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends

or to vote at shareholders” meetings.

No share options has been granted since the adoption of the

Scheme.

RAmlBrEERETEI([5E]) BEMA
AEBEBKNEHBERNEG ER2EE
R B &R - FHEINE ER2EERE
ARBIEE(BREBYIFNITES) A5H
Hitfg 8 « ASEERIRBEHOHRER - A
NS YN ENNGIL NG E o R EIE 32
H oo 5HEIR2024F6 A7HER - BIERTTHE
HIEET - BRI Bt EIERA .2 B (812024
F5H178) BB HI0F ©

RIRET 8 AT B X A P B BB AR I 1 T (B R
BITHARAIRMDNESH B BT TEEBA
20246 RTE AR RIEEHTRMD (T BIEE
AR ) B10% o FB 3R 1L PR FH A (E (AT I AR A A
E— RN ESRRERREAS LI0E -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

29. RESERVE

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements

therein during the year are presented in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Merger reserve
The merger reserve of the Group represents:

(iJ  the issued capital of Easou Shenzhen prior to the

completion of the reorganisation of the Group.

(i)  deemed distribution to the then equity owners of
the Group, which represents the consideration paid
to the then shareholders of Easou Shenzhen in

order to facilitate the reorganisation of the Group.
Capital reserve

Capital reserve represents the deemed contribution from
the shareholders resulted from transactions in prior

years.
Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the
articles of association of the subsidiaries established in
the PRC, each of the relevant subsidiaries is required to
appropriate 10% of its net profit after tax, as determined
under the Chinese Accounting Standards, to the statutory
surplus reserve until the reserve balance reaches 50% of
its registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions set
out in the relevant PRC regulations and in the articles
of association of the relevant subsidiaries, the statutory
surplus reserve may be used either to offset losses, or
to be converted to increase the share capital provided
that the balance after such conversion is not less than
25% of registered capital. The reserve cannot be used for
purposes other than those for which it is created and is

not distributable as cash dividends.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  30.

CASH FLOWS

(a)

(b)

Major non-cash transaction

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions

to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
RMB521,000 (2023:RMB277,000) and RMB521,000
(2023: RMB277,000), respectively in respect of lease

arrangements for office premises.

Changes in liabilities arising from financing

activities

meERERERME

(a) EFZHFRRERZ

FN - AEBEFRAMENBEZES
S FEREEERMEAEREAR
#5521,0007T (20234 = AR % 277,000
7T) B AR #521,0007T (20234 © AR
#277,0007T) °

(b) RMETFBELENEEE
Interest-
bearing
bank and
other Lease
borrowings liabilities Total
TEBRTR
Ht g HEAE #Et

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTRE AR®BTRT AR®TR

At 1 January 2023 72023F1 718 89,700 131 89,831
Changes from financing cash flows ~BMERERELE (4,800]) (165) (4,965)
New leases e - 277 277
Interest expense FEFZ 8,430 12 8,442
Interest paid classified as operating P EALEREREN

cash flows ERNFHE (8,430) (12) (8,442)
At 31 December 2023 and 72023128318 &

1 January 2024 20241818 84,900 243 85,143
Changes from financing cash flows  BI&IR&REEE) 108,150 (161) 107,989
New leases Mg - 521 521
Interest expense FEFRZ 5,136 15 5,151
Interest paid classified as operating D 1BAKEE L HEN

cash flows ENFHE (5,136) (15) (5,151)
At 31 December 2024 R2024%128318 193,050 603 193,653
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

31. COMMITMENTS 31.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did not have any

significant contractual commitments.

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32.
(a) Other transactions with related parties:

Guarantees were given by a shareholder of the Group in
favour of banks in respect of bank borrowings during the

year.

(b) The compensation of key management personnel of
the Group during the year represented the directors’
emoluments as disclosed in note 8 to the financial

statements.

The following table provides compensation of key

management personnel of the Group:

ZR
RIBEHR - AEEREEAERA KA -

BB S R 5
(a) EREEEESAVEMRS

AEEBRNFABBITERERIAR
IRZBmANER -

(b) REEEEEEASRFRNFTMAH
BHREMESHBENEETME -

TRIEHRAEE T ZEIEABHF -

2024 2023
20245 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TR AR¥TR

Salaries, bonuses and allowances e~ JEALREER 1,296 1,181
Pension scheme contributions RIREFTEIERR 290 277
Total 5T 1,586 1,458
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33. REFESWERMIA
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial ZEEM T ARNREHRENERELDT
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:
Financial assets TRIEE
As at 31 December 2024 M20245F12H31H
Financial
assets at
fair value
through profit
or loss - Financial
Mandatorily assets at
designated amortised
as such cost Total
BRAFETTA
BEemEE RE SR A
—RFIMLEE JIRNEREE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T AR®T T ARBT T
Trade receivables B 2R FIR - 224,561 224,561
Financial assets included in T ATERIFRIE
prepayments, deposits and other Re REMER
receivables HENSREE = 1,758 1,758
Financial assets at fair value through 2B ABZEH
profit or loss ERMEE 72,324 - 72,324
Restricted cash XREE S - 1,600 1,600
Pledge deposit [REREEEZN = 8,500 8,500
Cash and cash equivalents BeMREEEY - 160,846 160,846
Total 5T 72,324 397,265 469,589
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R B et

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

[Continued)]
Financial assets (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023

33. HERBINERMT A

TREEE)

7A2023%F12H31H

Financial
assets at
fair value

through profit

or loss - Financial
Mandatorily assets at
designated amortised
as such cost Total
BRATEEA
BEEemEE RS R A
—BEIMIIEE JIRNESREE et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AR¥T T ARET T
Trade receivables 2 5 WA = 161,501 161,501
Financial assets included in FTATERRIE
prepayments, deposits and other e REAMER
receivables FENEREE - 2,163 2,163
Financial assets at fair value through & 2QFE&F ABEZEH
profit or loss CREE 73,282 - 73,282
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBFEEED - 89,081 89,081
Total FEE 73,282 252,745 326,027

282
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 #{ 2202441231 H IFF/Z

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 33. ZEREIsMWEMIT A %)

[Continued)]
Financial liabilities EaAc A=
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
RBERATIRN SRS &
2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AR¥T T
Trade payables B 5 e I8 8,309 11,781
Financial liabilities included in other payable ST AE fh fE ST kI8 K
and accruals EErERNEmas 6,614 4,675
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings ETERIT R EALE K 193,050 84,900
Lease liabilities HEAE 603 243
Total “ET 208,576 101,599
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

34.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments

reasonably approximate to their fair values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of trade
receivables, financial assets included in prepayments, deposits
and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade
payables, financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals and the interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short

term maturities of these instruments.

The Group's corporate finance team headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The corporate finance team reports directly to
the chief financial officer. At each reporting date, the corporate
finance team analyses the movements in the values of financial
instruments and determines the major inputs applied in the
valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief

financial officer.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,

other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The fair values of unlisted fund investments at fair value
through profit or loss have been stated with reference
to the adjusted net asset value provided by the relevant
administrators of the fund investments. The fair value
measurement is positively correlated to the net asset value of

the underlying funds.

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED E#ERHEIZRR A R A A

34.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT RaAR B et

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

34. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 34. @@ TEANAFERAFEEHRE)
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Group

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value hierarchy of the

Group's financial instruments:
Assets measured at fair value:

As at 31 December 2024

rEE

AFEER
ARETREAARHL BT ROATERE
#

BATEIRNHEE -

M2024F12H31H

Fair value measurement using

EAT BIBETAFETE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs

RIERM S EAAEE EAFTUEHEE
KR {E LOPN: 67 BWABE
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(8—F) (8=F) (B=RE)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR¥T T AR¥T T
Unlisted fund investments ELEMESIKE = 72,324 -
As at 31 December 2023 20235F12831H
Fair value measurement using
RN THBET AR ENE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs

RIERM S ERABEE EAFTTEE

HYR{E LD 67 BWARIE

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

(5—8) (F=f8) (E5=RE)

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTT ARMT T ARMT T

Unlisted fund investments FELEMEDIRE - 73,282 -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

34.

35.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair
value as at 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil.

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial
liabilities (2023: Nil).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and
cash equivalents, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings. The main
purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for
the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade receivables, financial assets
included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, trade
payables and financial liabilities included in other payables and

accruals, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are credit risk and liquidity risk. The directors review and
agree policies for managing each of these risks and they are

summarised below.
Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers who wish
to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group's exposure to bad debts is not

significant.
Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-
end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts

presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED E#ERHEIZRR A R A A

34.

35.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 #{ 2202441231 H IFF/Z

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. ¢RIEMREEBEENREE &)
AND POLICIES (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued) BREBRERNDHE)
As at 31 December 2024 M2024512H31H

12-month

ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1218 A 75
REBR 2HESEEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total

KB F-RE  E=ER O EtEX st
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTRE ARMTRT ARETR AR®TR AR®TR

Trade receivables* B SR - - - 230,115 230,115
Financial assets included in prepayments, st ATRFIFUE - RE R

deposits and other receivables H it TR

SREE

- Normal** — B 1,758 - - - 1,758
Restricted cash RIR I &

- Not yet past due — AR 1,600 - - - 1,600
Pledged deposit EERER

- Not yet past due —HABH 8,500 - - - 8,500
Cash and cash equivalents RekHeEEY

- Not yet past due —HABH 160,846 - - - 160,846
Total @t 172,704 - - 230,115 402,819
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BT R B et

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. €RiEMEEREZREK &)

AND POLICIES (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023

RAREKFRNDRE)

7A2023%F12H31H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8 A 78 EA
FEBR L HREHEEEE
Simplified
Stage Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FER FBR F=BR St @Dz st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETRT ARETRT ARETR ARETR
Trade receivables* B S E - - - 166,059 166,059
Financial assets included in SABNFE  Bek
prepayments, deposits and other H it el IRH
receivables SREE
- Normal** —EF* 2,163 = = = 2,163
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY
- Not yet past due — AR 89,081 - - - 89,081
Total st 91,244 = = 166,059 257,303

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the

simplified approach for impairment, information based on

the provision matrix is disclosed in note 18 to the financial

statements.

ok

The credit quality of the financial assets included in

prepayments, deposits and other receivables is considered

to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is

no information indicating that the financial assets had a

significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is

considered to be “doubtful”.

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED B EHZIER AR A F]

* AR LR ELE S EN R
ME R EERE AT ER AR R
R AT 1855 5E -

> FABNHE - e REMENIIRNE
BEENEREEXEHNARY  AVEE
HET L HEERNEERR S VIR
HAMEE IS R R IET | - BRIZHE
EEEE XK [RE] -



NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note

18 to the Financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties, there is no requirement for collateral.
Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer/
counterparty, by geographical region and by industry sector.
There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the
Group as the customer bases of the Group’s trade receivables

are widely dispersed.
Liquidity risk

The Group's objectives are to maintain a prudent financial
policy, to monitor liquidity ratios against risk limits and
to maintain a contingency plan for funding to ensure that
the Group maintains sufficient cash to meet its liquidity

requirements.

The following table details the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group's financial liabilities as at 31
December, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash
flows (including interest payments computed using contractual
rates, based on rates as at 31 December] and the earliest date

that the Group could be required to repay:

35.

tREREEEERBEKR &)

RAREKFRNDRE)

BRAKEMAEE ZRUKRBELNEE
2 O Bt B L BUBR IO B T R YR 1 84 B o

HRAEEERLRT A EERINE=)
RS ABRFERR - FEEPER
TREE/HFH - BRI RITESBE
B ARAKEE S RUHENTPREZ
o MTAFHEBEEESTERMIBRN -

REBE Sk

AEEZ BERRFERENSBRER  #F
FERRBERERRDESLE  URARR
Boatdl BERAREAGRWRASIARN

TRHAVAEEEREER12A31 BARIER
BHH - DREAVABERSRE(ERER
SHRERBEN12A31 BOFEFAEHFE
M) RAEEREAERNRTHRAZS
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B A5 R Bl ot

Year ended 31 December 2024 #{ 2202441231 H IFF/Z

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. ¢RIEMREEBEENREE &)
AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) mENEE R (E)
31 December 2024 2024%F12H31H
Within
one year or In the In the third
ondemand secondyear to fifth year Total
—FRH B=F
RER EZF HEHF et

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARBTRT ARBTR AR®MTRT AR%¥TR

Interest-bearing bank and other FFERTT R A&

borrowings 196,528 - - 196,528
Lease liabilities HEBE 351 263 13 627
Trade payables B G ENFE 8,309 - - 8,309
Financial liabilities included in st AH RN FRIE K

other payables and accruals EETERANERAE 6,614 = = 6,614
Total weEt 211,802 263 13 212,078
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Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

35.

36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35.
AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

31 December 2023

tREREEEERBEKR &)

RBEET R )

2023%F12H31H

Within
one year or Inthe In the third
on demand second year to fifth year Total
—FR%K ==
REX FE_F FERF CE
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTTT ARETT ARBTT ARETET
Interest-bearing bank and other FHEIRT K HAIEFK
borrowings 86,039 - - 86,039
Lease liabilities HERE 110 103 bt 257
Trade payables 2 Z N FRIA 11,781 - - 11,781
Financial liabilities included in ~ sF AEAEMFIE K
other payables and accruals EETERANERAE 4,675 = = 4,675
Total 45 102,605 103 L4 102,752
Capital management BEXRER

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are
to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to continue
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other

stakeholders.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes

AEEERNEEZTERRARRASRES
ENEERFERLENAEE  THRFRRE
ZEARLLER - AEEBBRRIREEE L AE

R ERBA -

AEBERBEBEAN B(CERERNREYL

adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital

during the year.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no significant events after the end of the reporting

period.

36.

EHAE - BEFIGAREARE - A&E
AIREREIRN TRRZBRE - REEAR TR
REBEITHED - RFAR - AEETEERN
2B BRIEFLELRES -

mERREMN
REMREL BREEREN -
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

81755

Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12531 H IF F/Z

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

AR PT EE

COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

37. RATHEMRRE

ARERBRERRZABARRKRERAT

2024 2023
20244 20234
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR®T T
NON-CURRENT ASSET
Investment in a subsidiary NEWEE 522,744 490,728
CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments, deposits and other
receivables HAth B W 5RIE 14,385 =
Cash and cash equivalents ReRHEEED 51,322 42,122
Financial assets at fair value through profit RO EABSEN
or loss 72,324 62,578
Due from a subsidiary* FEUR — R B R AlFRIE* = 4
Due from shareholders* JiE WS A% B SR I = 8
Total current assets MBNEERE 138,031 104,712
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accruals 23 -
Due to a subsidiary FERT—K B A& R I8 41,120 45,463
Total current liabilities MENE BB 41,143 45,463
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENEEFE 96,888 59,249
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES wEERTEAE 619,632 549,977
Net assets 619,632 549,977
EQUITY
Ordinary share capital 22 10
Preferred share capital - 11
Other reserves 619,610 549,956
Total equity 619,632 549,977

*

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED E#EEHZIER G R A A

The balances were unsecured, interest-free and repayable

on demand.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2024 & £2024F 12 H31H IF F/Z

37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

37. XATMBEARREKE)

COMPANY (Continued)
A summary of the Company’s reserve is as follows: NN B FEES AT
Exchange
Share fluctuation  Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
RIPEE HERDRE 2iER @5t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
NS ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T
At 1 January 2023 20231418
Loss for the year FREE - - (15,925) (15,925)
Other comprehensive loss for the year — EREMZ EEE = = = =
Exchange differences of translation of ~ BEHBEREREEZ
financial statements e - (4,742) - (4,742)
Total comprehensive loss for the year — FRN2EEEEZE - (4,742) (15,925] (20,667)
Issue of ordinary shares (note 27(al) BATERAR (FiEE27(a)) 11,154 - - 11,154
Capital contribution from holders of BERBEBEANIE
preferred shares (note 27(b)) (FizE27(b)) 559,469 - - 559,469
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 120235128318 %
202451818 570,623 (4,742) (15,925) 549,956
Profit for the year FEREN = - 908 908
Other comprehensive loss for the year — FRE( 2R
Exchange differences of translation of ~ BEMBKEFRELZER
financial statements =% - (5,118) - (5,118)
Total comprehensive loss for the year R HEEIELE - (5,118) 908 (4,210)
Issue of ordinary shares (note 27(c)) BT LA (i EE27(c)) 80,237 - - 80,237
Share issue expense RBITHZ (6,373) - - (6,373)
At 31 December 2024 R2024F12 4318 644,487 (9,860) (15,017) 619,610

38. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for

issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2025.

38. #LAEMIEE®EK

EEEN2025F3 A28 B #E /& MK T BT

TR e
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
B E

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group 4% 8 2 TIZE M E T B 1SR Y AR £ B3R 5 2R
for the Reporting Period and last five financial years, as extracted ~ RBEEAMEMREEEEREER B EHEZHT0
from the published audited financial statements, is set out below. To

RESULTS ey

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31BILLEE

2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
20245 20234 20224 20214 20204
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT ARETE ARBTIT ARBTT ARETT

Revenue Weas 604,164 559,045 456,411 433,108 410,089

(Loss)/profit before tax BREIAT(E51R), & A (1,016) 26,085 44,745 50,475 28,948

Income tax (expense)/credit i (Fsk) % (1,033) (1,074) (297) (464) 2,357

(Loss)/profit for the year FAN(EE), & F (2,049) 25,011 4,448 50,011 31,305
Attributable to: AT ALFEL -

Owners of the company PAN/NEIE Y =N (2,085) 24,971 44,388 49,983 31,305

Non-controlling interests SRR AE A 36 40 60 28 =

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A3MHLEFE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020

20245 20234 20224 20214F 20204
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
AR®BTR ARETIT ARBTIT ARBTT AR®TT

Total assets BEME 680,849 505,431 394,313 404,947 381,525
Total liabilities BfEEE 235,105 126,097 137,644 55,032 82,121
Total equity s 4AEE 445,744 379,334 256,669 349,915 299,404
Equity attributable to: AN AT E(h R -
Owners of the Company RARIEBA 445,080 378,706 256,081 349,387 299 404
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR 664 628 588 528 -
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DEFINITIONS
E=3

“AGM"
[BRBEFAE ]

“Articles of Association” or “Articles”

[#RAEFZAT R I3k [4RR1 ]

“associates”

Rz YN

“Audit Committee”

[EZERBE)

“Beijing Yike”

[HERER

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

[EEg]

“BVI”
[(REER RS ]

“CG Code”

[EEERSTA

“China” or "PRC”"

[

annual general meeting of the Company

ARARTBTAR

amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of the
Company adopted on May 17, 2024 with effect from the Listing Date, as
amended from time to time

202455 17 BER &R0 7 = B HA A A AR A BB ET R AR & 51| 4B 4
B RN AR (EEHERT)

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB LW R T AR HRE

the audit committee of the Company

AAREZERES

Beijing Yike Culture Co., Ltd* (3t REBIX({LBREFEAF), a limited
liability company established in the PRC on July 17, 2020, a non wholly-
owned subsidiary of Easou Shenzhen and a Consolidated Affiliated Entity
ERERMEBEREEAR  —FHKR2020F7 17 EFERINER
AE - RERRINEEEMBAR ARG HEER

the board of directors of the Company

RRREFE

the British Virgin Islands
REHEARES

the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules

ETARRIBERC B R EVA ST R

People's Republic of China, but for the purpose of this annual report,
excluding Hong Kong, the Macau Special Administrative Region of the
People’s Republic of China and Taiwan

REARKAE - AAFHMN S - TREEE - PEAREXFMBERP R
RIITER R N B &
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DEFINITIONS

“Companies Act”

[REDE] ¥

“Companies Ordinance”

IPNICSEN B
“Company”
VNIV B

“connected person(s)”

[REEAL] ¥

“connected transaction(s)”

[B:ER 5 | 5

“Consolidated Affiliated Entity(ies)/
PRC Operating Entity(ies)”

“Contractual Arrangements”

[&#IZHE] ¥

the Companies Act, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised)
of the Cayman lIslands, as amended, supplemented or otherwise
modifies from time to time
FRERSRREE2E (1961 FFIFEN - Bira RIEFT) -
7]~ FFREAR M T B

AT

the Companies Ordinance, Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong, as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

EEEBIFE622Z RN aHED - ETRHERT « AFEs ARt Bk

Easou Technology Holdings Limited B RHEERER A A, an
exempted company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability on February 9, 2022, and the Shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2550)
BEERBRZERERAR - —RKR20262 AR ER SRS M H#E
HReFRAT - ﬁﬂxﬁﬁéﬂﬁﬁ?&ﬁﬁi*&i‘ﬁ(H%J‘ﬁ?ﬁ : 2550)

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB LR R T AR R

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EmRRIM T ARRE

collectively, Easou Shenzhen and its subsidiaries, namely Beijing
Yike, Easou Beijing, Guangzhou Ledian, Guangzhou Tianshitong,
Shenzhen New Drive, Shanghai Yinggao, Shenzhen Chuangtu, Shenzhen
Dahuatong, Shenzhen Eayou and Shenzhen Taite, the financial results of
which have been consolidated and accounted for as subsidiaries of our
Company by virtue of the Contractual Arrangements
Eﬁiﬁéﬂl\&ﬁ[ﬁ%@ﬁ CBERER  BRIER FJ‘I‘I@@E - B KBS

CRYEE S - EERE  RIEIE  ORYIEER  ORIIEEIRY
/JJHE’J i BRI RAE E*E?J?é%@?zﬁﬂ’ﬂ%ﬁgﬂﬁwi%AET%FF)\
AR K2 BBk

the series of contractual arrangements entered into by, among others,
WFOE and Easou Shenzhen, details of which are described in the section
headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus
H(ERER)IEBEE X RERRIIFI N —RIIE
BRAERER [ &A% | — &gt

W BRER
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DEFINITIONS
E=3

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[ R AR

“Deed of Indemnity”
[TRERE ]

“Deed of Non-competition”
B

“Director(s)”

==

“Easou Beijing”

[E#R1ER]

“Easou (BVI)”

[Easou (BVI) ]

“Easou (HK]"

[ER(EFE)]

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing Rules, and in the case
of the Company, means Mr. Wang, Growth Value, Fase Ltd and Gather
Forever, who in aggregate, control the exercise of the voting rights of
approximately 32.49% of the Shares

AEBELEMRANETFZFANEE - AARBME » HELE ~ Growth
Value - Fase LidRBEE » &R HIEHITTEAIB2.49% RN NIR T

the deed of indemnity dated May 27, 2024 and executed by our

Controlling Shareholders in favor of our Company

ERIRRIAR R Bl X e ARR20245E5 A 27 B2 Y R BERE

the deed of non-competition dated May 27, 2024 and executed by our

Controlling Shareholders in favor of our Company

ZAARER AR R Rl AR a8 AR 20244F5 A 27 B M VMR 5 4%

the director(s) of the Company

ARABES

Beijing Easou Tianxia Technology Co., Ltd.* (ZEREE X TREAR
A@]) , a limited liability company established in the PRC on July 8,
2011, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Easou Shenzhen and a Consolidated
Affiliated Entity

EREBRTRRAERRAR  —KR201F7AHEFTREKINEGRA
Al RERRINEZEMNBAREA—EHReHEBER

Easou Technology Limited ( B # £l £ & IR 22 & ) , a BVI business
company incorporated in the BVl on February 14, 2022 and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of our Company

HEBEBRAR  —RKR202F2R 4R ERBHB RS MK
NEBEBRHBEELR  AARANEEHBAF

Easou Technology (HK] Limited (E# &% (B4 ) AR A Al), a limited
liability company incorporated in Hong Kong on March 11, 2022 and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

BEMR(EE)ERRR  —RR202F3A 1M BETBEMKILNE
BRAR  BARANZENBAR
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DEFINITIONS

“Easou Shenzhen”

(BRI &

“Easou Union”

[ E#EE | 5

“ESG”

[ESG] 5

“Fase Ltd”

[Fase Ltd] 5
[l Ocean”

[Full Ocean ¥

“Gather Forever”

Shenzhen Easou Technology Co., Ltd.* (RYIEE X TEHEAK DB R A 7l
(formerly known as Shenzhen Easou Technology Development Co., Ltd.*
ORI BB ZERAR2AE)), a limited liability company established
in the PRC on April 27, 2005, which was converted into a joint stock
company in 2016 and a Consolidated Affiliated Entity

ARYNERR RO AR AR (ATE AR ERRERBRAF) -
—HKN2005F4 A27 A EFBIRIWBR AT ~ 102016545 8 — KK
NERRARA—EEEHEER

Easou Union Ltd ( B ## B & & R 2 7l ], a BVl business company
incorporated in the BVl on February 17, 2022 and a wholly-owned

HEBAARRDR » —HKR202628 17 ERBAER R A S KL
MABERRHASHELR AN ERANEZENB QR

Environmental, Social and Governance
R L2 KER

FASE LTD.,
December 24, 2021 and wholly-owned by Mr. Wang Xi, one of the

a BVI business company incorporated in the BVI on

Controlling Shareholders
FASE LTD. * —RR2021F 12824 BE R BHER R Bt S A RS
HRRHEREAR  ATEEEZERE @ AIERBER 22—

FULL OCEAN INVESTMENTS LTD.,
incorporated in the BVI on December 24, 2021 and wholly owned by Mr.
Zhao Lei

FULL OCEAN INVESTMENTS LTD. * —K2021612 24 B LB # R
RESEMKINEBERARFERENR  HEZELE2EHES

a BVI business company

BEEBREARABRAF), abBV
business company incorporated in the BVI on January 5, 2023 and
wholly-owned by CMB Wing Lung (Trustee] Ltd. (the trustee of The Hope

Gather Forever Investments Limited ( &

Trust), and is one of the Controlling Shareholders

BEIRERRAR  —HKN2028F 1 ASAERBAER RS MK
HKEAEMAEERENR  BBRRKEETEERAR (HHopelE7EHR
FENERERE  BEBRERZ—
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DEFINITIONS

“Global Offering”

“Group”, “our”, “we"” or “us”

[ RS2 3k [ 31 =

“Growth Value”

[ Growth Value | Bist

“Guangzhou Ledian”

UE ¥

“Guangzhou Tianshitong”

[N R e

the Hong Kong Public Offering and the International Offering (both as
defined in the Prospectus])

B RREREREE(ERHRLBRER)

the Company and its subsidiaries from time to time (including the
consolidated affiliated entities, the financial results of which have been
consolidated and accounted for as the subsidiaries of the Company
by virtue of the Contractual Arrangement], or, where the context so
requires in respect of the period before the Company became the holding
company of its present subsidiaries, the entities or the predecessors
of the present subsidiaries (as the case may be) which carried on the
business of the present Group at the relevant time
ARBRETKHNHEAR(ERGEMBER HWBEEREANL
HEERARAZMBARGE ARKE) - RXEME)RALRF
FRARAR R AR M B A R A R BTV HARE - RIFE A BRI &R
RASEENEENERIIRNFMHBRRNAES RIERTE)

Growth Value LTD., a BVI business company incorporated in the BVI on
December 29, 2021 and owned as to 99% and 1% by Gather Forever and
Fase Ltd, respectively, upon the establishment of The Hope Trust, and is
one of the Controlling Shareholders

Growth Value LTD. * —RA20214F12 429 B 7 5 B 4 /R R Bf & ik A S
HRBEBRABESEEAR  MHopelS A S & M Fase LtdD 7
HHII%KI% - WRERRR 2 —

Guangzhou Ledian Information Technology Co., Ltd.* (EM242H{Z &
BHEARAR]) |, a limited liability company established in the PRC on
February 24, 2011, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Easou Shenzhen and a
Consolidated Affiliated Entity

BN EEREAR AR » —KK201MF2H24BEFBKZHER
NE - REBR)INE2ENB AR R A —MEEHEES

Guangzhou Tianshitong Computer Network Technology Co., Ltd.* (FEJN
KRIF BT ERBEEHT AR A A]), a limited liability company established
in the PRC on December 21, 2004, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Guangzhou Ledian and a Consolidated Affiliated Entity

BEMRE B EREERRARAR » —FKR2004F127421 BEFBEIK
YWARAR  BREMNEHNEZEMNBARILRA—RFaMEER
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DEFINITIONS

“Hong Kong dollars” or "HK$" or "HKD"

[T

“Hong Kong”
[ &% ]

“Listing”

[

“Listing Date”
[ EREH]

“Listing Rules”

[ AR A

“Main Board”

[E1R]

“Model Code”

[ A ]

“Mr. Wang”

[ERAE]

“Nomination Committee”

[fRRZEE]

“Prospectus”

[ ER ]

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong
BT BEAEER

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
HEEBRRITTRE

the listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on
June 7, 2024
B DR 202456 7 B FEREZ P MR £ TR

June 7, 2024
20246 B 7H

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of

Hong Kong Limited, as amended or supplemented from time to time

BARABARHAERATES LMARA - RIS

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock
Exchange which is independent from and operates in parallel with the
GEM of the Stock Exchange
HERFTEENE S X H (T RERETS) - £BINEMCEMI
EE I TELE

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules
EARBIFERCIPAE LM BT AETETESF X HNRETR

Wang Xi (3£ &), the chairman of the Board, the chief executive officer
of the Company, an executive Director and one of the Controlling

Shareholders

TR BERIF  ARFEFENTE RITESREBRBRZ —

the nomination committee of the Company

AREREBERES

the prospectus of the Company dated May 30, 2024
ARRIE HAR202455 A30B M HBIRER

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED E#ERHEIZRR A R A A



DEFINITIONS

"R&D"
[ ] 18

“Registered Shareholder(s) of Easou

Shenzhen”

[ERRYIB AR ¥

“Remuneration Committee”

[FHEEE ¥

“Reporting Period”

[ ¥R HAf 15
“RMB”
[ARE] 18
"SFO"
[ 55 R AR RG] 15

“Shanghai Yinggao”

[ EEmE] Eist
“Share(s)”

[t i
“Shareholder(s)”

[ 2R | Eist

research and development

BitgE M pa

Wang PRC SPV, Mr. Wang, Mr. Zhao Lei, Mr. Lu Jin and Mr. Chen Jun,
being the registered shareholders of Easou Shenzhen
IRPBEFKRANQR EEE  BREELE  2BRERRBEE B
HERYIHELRER

the remuneration committee of the Company

AARFHEES

for the year ended December 31, 2024
BZE2024512A31HIEFE

the lawful currency of the PRC
REEEER

the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong

Kong, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to

time
BBEEBIFESNEFRFLBAEEREA - LPRER] « B AE B
25

Shanghai Yinggao Information Technology Co., Ltd.* ( £ )& & & 15 &
BB R A F), a limited liability company established in the PRC on
April 2, 2014, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Guangzhou Ledian and a
Consolidated Affiliated Entity

EEREEEMZARAR  —HR2014F4A2BEFBEKIHERA
A REMNELEN2ENBAR RS —EEKHEER

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company with a par value of
US$0.00001 each

AR B AL EI{E0.00001 £ TTH B @A

holder(s) of our Share(s)

BIpFEAA
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DEFINITIONS

“Share Option Scheme”

[ EER T2 ] 5
“Shareholder(s)”
[ %R | 5

“Shenzhen Chuangtu”

[ARYIgIE | =

“Shenzhen Dahuatong”

“Shenzhen Eayou”

“Shenzhen New Drive”

[ARYIFHED A ] ¥

the share option scheme conditionally adopted by our Company on May
17, 2024
RRBF202455 417 B A A RBE B A2 21

holder(s) of the Share(s)
ESHEST=DN

Shenzhen Chuangtu Technology Co., Ltd.* (& JII 71 & B &t £ & R A
A]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on April 7, 2005,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Easou Shenzhen and a Consolidated
Affiliated Entity

RYMAIBRIRAERAR - —RN2005F4 7B EFBEK LA BRR
A RERRNINE2ENBAR A HEeHEBER

Shenzhen Dahuatong Information Technology Co., Ltd.* CRYITHEZER
=B REAARZAF]D, a limited liability company established in the PRC on
December 18, 2000, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Easou Shenzhen and a
Consolidated Affiliated Entity
ANNTEEBESRMBRAT - —Kp20009F12 818 B FEF BKILH)
BRAR REERNINEZENBARRA —MEGaMBER

Shenzhen Eayou Network Technology Co., Ltd*(RIIT B #E484E H 1A
FR/AH]), a limited liability company established in the PRC on August 11,
2006, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Easou Shenzhen and a Consolidated
Affiliated Entity

A MEEBERNTERA

RAA - BEE 5&?HE’J£§W”

" —HKR20065F8 A1 BIEFBIKZHE
AkA—HERaHEER

Shenzhen New Drive Technology Co., Ltd *CGRINTT FE AR BRE A

7)), a limited liability company established in the PRC on June 22, 2001,

a wholly-owned subsidiary of Shanghai Yinggao and a Consolidated

Affiliated Entity

RYMFHFBARBEERAAF - —RN2001F6A22BERBEKIZNER
AAE - REBRENZENBRARIRA—MRaHEER

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED HiERHZIZERER A



DEFINITIONS

“Shenzhen Taite”

[ Z45 |

“Shenzhen Yijiujiu”

RN BRI

“Skymobi”

[ Skymobi ]
“Stock Exchange”
[ Bk 32 P
“subsidiarylies)”

Kiii=Nal

“substantial shareholder(s)”

E2I e

“The Hope Trust”

[Hopefs&E]

“United States” or “U.S.”

ES=

Shenzhen Taite Technology Co., Ltd* R I Z4&E R ER A a),
a limited liability company established in the PRC on May 17, 2004,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Shenzhen Eayou and a Consolidated
Affiliated Entity

RINTTRERHRBRAAF - —KR2004F5817TBERBEKIHERA
m - RAYIEENEENBARIRA— MRl EERE

Partnership)* (RIITTEARAE BB BEREE(BRER)), a limited
partnership established in the PRC on January 20, 2022
RYTERARBE B AR AABREE(BRAER) - —KN202261H208%#
PEKZANEREBEE

SKYMOBI LTD., a BVI business company incorporated in the BVI on
December 24, 2021 and wholly owned by Mr. Chen Jun

SKYMOBI LTD. * =M 2021F12 824 B ERB AR R B B ML H
RBERMTEBRERNR  AROELELEHRS

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
BRMERXHAERAA]

has the meaning ascribed thereto in section 15 of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong])
BB BBEDE 6225 N BHEDIE 155 T 52 AR &

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB LR R T AR R

an irrevocable reserved power trust established by Mr. Wang (as the
settlor and protector] and CMB Wing Lung (Trustee] Ltd., an independent
trustee (as the trustee), for the benefit of Mr. Wang and his family
members

HERE(ERMERT ARREA) BB
A(ERZFEANIUNERERAERARZT A
Ein

FEARREKEERAERA
ST AR E N E

52
=k
A\

the United States of America, its territories, its possessions and all areas
subject to its jurisdiction

INRARE - HE+ EBHEAEXEEENIR
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DEFINITIONS

“US dollars”, "USD" or "US$~
E

“Wang PRC SPV”

DERFBRIRE W AE]]

“WFOE”

[INEBERE]

e
[%]

> For identification purpose only

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

X XBAEER

Shenzhen Yijuhui Technology Co., Ltd.* (RIIEEEREBREE LA,
a limited liability company established in the PRC on April 24, 2022 and
wholly owned by Mr. Wang
RINERERSBEREMEAR » —FHKN2022F4A24 B EFBKIZANE
RAF - BELREZEHES

Easou Holdings (Hainan) Co., Ltd.* (B {Z=i% (8 ) AR A F]), a limited
liability company established in the PRC on May 6, 2022 and a wholly-
owned subsidiary of Easou (HK)

HEZERCEE)AERAR - —KP202F5R6BERBKINEGRA
A RER(FEBE)NEENBAR

per cent

AL

*EHES

EASOU TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED E#ERHEIZRR A R A A
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